
 

 

Am unrhyw ymholiad yn ymwneud â'r agenda hwn cysylltwch â  Emma Sullivan 
 (Rhif Ffôn: 01443 864420   Ebost: sullie@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Dyddiad: Dydd Mercher, 16 Hydref 2019 

 

 
Bydd y cyfarfod hwn yn cael ei ffilmio a’i we-ddarlledu, ac ar gael i’w weld yn fyw ac mewn ffurf archif 
drwy wefan y Cyngor, ag eithrio trafodaeth yn ymwneud ag eitemau cyfrinachol neu eithriadau.  Felly 
bydd delweddau /sain yr unigolion sy’n arsylwi neu siarad/roi tystiolaeth yng nghyfarfodydd Llawn y 

Cyngor ar gael yn gyhoeddusi bawb weld drwy’r we-ddarllediad ar wefan y Cyngor www.caerffili.gov.uk. 

 
Mae croeso i chi siarad Cymraeg yn y cyfarfod, mae angen rhybudd cyfnod lleiafswm o 3 diwrnod gwaith os 

ydych yn dymuno gwneud hynny. Bydd cyfieithu ar y pryd yn cael ei ddarparu os gofynnir amdano. 
 

Mae pob cyfarfod pwyllgor ar agor i’r Wasg a’r Cyhoedd, gofynnir i arsylwyr a chyfranogwyr  i ymddwyn 
gyda pharch ac ystyriaeth at eraill.  Nodwch bydd methu a gwneud hyn yn arwain at rywun yn gofyn i chi 

adael y cyfarfod ac efallai byddwch yn cael eich hebrwng o’r eiddo. 
 

 
Annwyl Syr/Fadam, 
 
Bydd cyfarfod y Cyngor yn cael ei gynnal yn Siambr y Cyngor - Tŷ Penallta, Tredomen, Ystrad 
Mynach ar Dydd Mercher, 23ain Hydref, 2019 am 5.30 pm i ystyried materion a gynhwysir yn yr agenda 
canlynol. 
 

Yr eiddoch yn gywir, 

 
Christina Harrhy 

PRIF WEITHREDWR DROS DRO  
 
 

A G E N D A 
Tudalennau 

  

1  I dderbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb 
  

 
2  Cyhoeddiadau’r Maer. 

1 - 4  

Pecyn Dogfennau Cyhoeddus



3  I dderbyn deisebau o dan Reol Gweithdrefn 28(3). 
  

 
4  Cyflwyno Gwobrau. 

  
 

5  Datganiadau o Ddiddordeb. 
 

Atgoffi’r Cynghorwyr a Swyddogion o'u cyfrifoldeb personol i ddatgan unrhyw fuddiannau 
personol a/neu niweidiol mewn perthynas ag unrhyw eitem o fusnes ar yr agenda hwn yn unol 
â Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 2000, Cyfansoddiad y Cyngor a'r Cod Ymddygiad ar gyfer 
Cynghorwyr a Swyddogion. 

 
Cymeradwyo a llofnodi'r cofnodion canlynol:- 

 
6  Cyngor a gynhaliwyd ar 4ydd Mehefin 2019. 

5 - 14  
 

7  Cyngor Arbennig a gynhaliwyd ar 30ain Gorffennaf 2019. 
15 - 20  

 
8  I dderbyn ac i ateb cwestiynau a dderbyniwyd o dan Reol Gweithdrefn 10(2).   

 
1. I Arweinydd y Cyngor oddi wrth y Cynghorydd Graham Simmonds. 

 
I ofyn i Arweinydd y Cyngor. A yw'ch gweinyddiaeth yn cadw at egwyddorion Nolan, sef 
didwylledd a thryloywder? 

 
9  Hysbysiad o Gynnig - Gwahardd Anifeiliaid fel Gwobrau ar Dir Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili. 

21 - 28  
 

10  Hysbysiad o Gynnig - Ymgyrch #IPledge2Talk 
29 - 32  

 
I dderbyn ac ystyried yr adroddiadau canlynol o gyfarfod Cabinet a gynhaliwyd ar 16eg Hydref 2019. 
 
 
11  Adroddiad Perfformiad Blynyddol 2018/19. 

33 - 108  
 

Derbyn ac ystyried yr adroddiadau canlynol:- 
 
12  Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru – Adroddiad Blynyddol a Llythyr Blynyddol 

2018/19. 
109 - 120  

 
13  Cynnig ar gyfer Cynllun Datblygu Strategol ar gyfer Prifddinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd. 

121 - 166  
 

14  Cynllun Datblygu Lleol Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili hyd at 2021 - Adroddiad Monitro Blynyddol 
2019 (Gan gynnwys y 5ed Adroddiad Blynyddol Ardoll Seilwaith Cymunedol)). 

167 - 188  
 

15  Cynnig i Ddiddymu Panel Cynghori Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol. 
189 - 192  

 
 



Cylchrediad: 
Pob Aelod a Swyddog Priodol 
 
SUT FYDDWN YN DEFNYDDIO EICH GWYBODAETH 

 
Bydd yr unigolion hynny sy’n mynychu cyfarfodydd pwyllgor i siarad/roi tystiolaeth yn cael eu henwi yng nghofnodion y cyfarfod 
hynny, weithiau bydd hyn yn cynnwys eu man gweithio neu fusnes a’r barnau a fynegir. Bydd cofnodion o’r cyfarfod gan gynnwys 
manylion y siaradwyr ar gael i’r cyhoedd ar wefan y Cyngor ar www.caerffili.gov.uk. ac eithrio am drafodaethau sy’n ymwneud ag 
eitemau cyfrinachol neu eithriedig.  
 
Mae gennych nifer o hawliau mewn perthynas â’r wybodaeth, gan gynnwys yr hawl i gael mynediad at wybodaeth sydd gennym 
amdanoch a’r hawl i gwyno os ydych yn anhapus gyda’r modd y mae eich gwybodaeth yn cael ei brosesu. 
 
Am wybodaeth bellach ar sut rydym yn prosesu eich gwybodaeth a’ch hawliau, ewch i’r Hysbysiad Preifatrwydd Cyfarfodydd 
Pwyllgor Llawn ar ein gwefan 
http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/FOI/PrivacyNotices/CommitteeMeetingsPrivacyNotice.aspx  neu cysylltwch â 
Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol drwy e-bostio griffd2@caerffili.gov.uk  neu ffoniwch  01443 863028. 
 

http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/
mailto:griffd2@caerffili.gov.uk


Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

 

CIVIC DIARY ENGAGEMENTS 

5th June – 22nd October 2019 

June 

5th Young Enterprise Wales National Final 

6th 50th Anniversary Dinner, Norgine Ltd 

7th 50th Anniversary Celebration, Norgine Ltd 

8th Charity Concert with Risca Town Centre Brass Band 

9th Newport’s Civic Service 

11th Adult Learning Awards Ceremony 

12th Golden Wedding Presentation  

12th Home-Start Caerphilly AMG 

14th Phillipstown Carnival – Judge Queen and Court 

21st Presentation of Awards for SpEd Storybook Competition 

21st Helping Hands 25th Anniversary Concert 

23rd Armed Forces Day Service 

26th Opening of new shop at Min y Mynydd, Rhymney 

26th Production of High School Musical, St Martin’s School 

29th Caerphilly’s Civic Service 

30th Start Charity Race for Breast Care Unit Ysbyty Ystrad Fawr 

 

July  

3rd Citizenship Ceremony 

4th Royal visit to Winding House, New Tredegar 

6th Machen Agricultural Show 

7th Powys’ Civic Service 

9th Passing Out Parade for Fire Cadets, Caerphilly Fire Station 

Page 1

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 2



9th Presentation evening for Fire Cadets, Aberbargoed Fire Station 

11th  Visit to Mayor’s Parlour by Islwyn School’s Young Enterprise Team 

11th Art, Design Technology Exhibition by pupils, Bedwas High School 

13th Concert with Rhymney Silurian Choir 

14th Merthyr Tydfil’s Civic Service 

24th The Camelot Project Performance, Idris Davies School 

25th Diamond Wedding Presentation  

25th  Pride Cymru Event, Penallta House  

26th Summer Bible Club Party, Tabernacle Church, Newbridge 

27th Opening of Butcher & Ball Café, Caerphilly 

30th  Special Council 

 

August 

4th Izzyfest , Crosskeys 

5th Opening of new wing at Llechwen Hall 

6th PTE Community Council Summer Playscheme, Cwm Ifor Primary School 

6th PTE Community Council Summer Playscheme, Hendre Junior School 

16th Golden Wedding Presentation  

17th Phillipstown Carnival 

20th  BEM Presentation, Mr Leon Gardiner 

24th Pride Carnival Parade, Cardiff 

25th Open Day, Caerphilly Fire Station 

 

September 

 

3rd Merchant Navy Day Flag Raising 

3rd  Guest speaker for Caerphilly Pensioners 

12th Live Vacancy Event, Sue Noakes Leisure Centre 

13th Youth Theatre Production of Brainstorm, BMI 

22nd Swansea’s Civic Service 

Page 2



23rd Opening of CanDo’s Garden, Crosskeys College 

25th National Fitness Day Event, Risca Leisure Centre 

25th Citizenship Ceremony 

26th Diamond Wedding Presentation  

26th Annual Concert, Mynyddislwyn Male Choir 

27th BTM Communtiy Council Macmillan Coffee Morning 

27th 104th Birthday Presentation  

 

October 

3rd Diamond Wedding Presentation  

3rd Special Council 

4th Golden Wedding Presentation  

5th Opening of Skate Park & Outdoor Gym, Penyrheol 

7th 100th Birthday Presentation  

10th Voluntary Sector Awards Evening 

12th  Aber Valley Arts Festival  

13th Neath Port Talbot’s Civic Service 

14th Universal Colliery Disaster Remembrance Service 

14th Healthy Schools Awards Event 

14th Young Promoters Event, Upper Rhymney Primary School 

16th Blackwood Town Council’s Civic Awards Evening 

19th Summer Reading Scheme Awards Presentation 

21st 100th Birthday Presentation  

22nd Young Promoters Event, Cwm Ifor Primary School 

Page 3



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 4



 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Y CYNGOR  
 

COFNODION Y CYFARFOD A GYNHALIWYD YN NHŶ PENALLTA,  
YSTRAD MYNACH DDYDD MAWRTH, 4 MEHEFIN 2019 AM 5.30PM 

 
 

  

YN BRESENNOL:  
 

Y Cynghorydd J. Simmonds – Maer 
Y Cynghorydd C. Andrews – Dirprwy Faer 

 
Cynghorwyr: 

 
  Mrs E. Aldworth, P.J. Bevan, C. Bezzina, L. Binding, A. Collis, C. Cuss, M. Davies, D.T. 

Davies, K. Dawson, C. Elsbury, K. Etheridge, M. Evans, A. Farina-Childs, Mrs C. Forehead, 
Ms E. Forehead, J.E. Fussell, N. George, C. Gordon, R.W. Gough, D.T. Hardacre, L. Harding, 
D. Harse, D. Havard, A. Hussey, V. James, M. James, L. Jeremiah, Mrs B. Jones, S. Kent, G. 
Kirby, Mrs A. Leonard, Ms P. Leonard, C.P. Mann, B. Miles, S. Morgan, Mrs G. Oliver, B. 
Owen, T. Parry, Mrs L. Phipps, D.V. Poole, D.W.R. Preece, Mrs D. Price, J. Pritchard, J. 
Ridgewell, R. Saralis, Mrs M.E. Sargent, G. Simmonds, S. Skivens, Mrs E. Stenner, J. Taylor, 
C. Thomas, A. Whitcombe, R. Whiting, L.G. Whittle, T. Williams, B. Zaplatynski. 

 
 
 

Ynghyd â:- 
 

C. Harrhy (Prif Weithredwr Dros Dro), M.S. Williams (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Dros Dro 
– Cymunedau), R. Edmunds (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol – Addysg a Gwasanaethau 
Corfforaethol), L. Donovan (Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Pobl), R. Tranter (Pennaeth 
Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Swyddog Monitro), L. Lucas (Pennaeth Gwasanaethau 
Cwsmeriaid a Digidol) ac E. Sullivan (Uwch Swyddog Gwasanaethau'r Pwyllgorau). 
 
 
CROESO – Y CYNGHORYDD DIANNE PRICE 
 
Ar ran y Cyngor, croesawodd y Maer y Cynghorydd Dianne Price yn ôl i'w chyfarfod cyntaf ers 
ei salwch diweddar, a dymunodd wellhad parhaus a llawn iddi. Diolchodd y Cynghorydd Price 
i'r Aelodau am eu holl gefnogaeth a'u dymuniadau da; diolchodd hefyd i'r Cyngor am gefnogi 
ei chais am estyniad i'r rheol chwe mis a nododd yn arbennig ei gwerthfawrogiad am ei 
cherdyn gan Aelodau Plaid Cymru a'r llythyr gan y Prif Weithredwr Dros Dro. 

 
TREFNIADAU PLEIDLEISIO, FFILMIO A GWEDDARLLEDU 

 
Atgoffodd y Prif Weithredwr Dros Dro y rhai a oedd yn bresennol fod y cyfarfod yn cael ei 
ffilmio ac y byddai ar gael i'r cyhoedd yn fyw ac mewn archif drwy wefan y Cyngor. Dywedodd 
y byddai penderfyniadau'n cael eu gwneud drwy'r system bleidleisio electronig.  
 
 

Page 5

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 6



 
 

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 
 

Cafwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan y Cynghorwyr M. Adams, A. Angel, S. Cook, D. 
Cushion, W. David, N. Dix, A. Gair, J. Gale, A. Higgs, G. Johnston, P. Marsden, G. Oliver, B. 
Owen, J. Roberts, J. Scriven ac W. Williams a D. Street (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol – 
Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Thai) 
 

2. CYHOEDDIADAU'R MAER 
 

Amlinellodd y Maer pa ddigwyddiadau yr oedd ef a'r Dirprwy Faer wedi ymgymryd â nhw ers 
iddo gael ei ethol yng Nghyfarfod Blynyddol y Cyngor, a chyfeiriodd yr Aelodau at y rhestr o 
ddigwyddiadau a oedd wedi'i chynnwys o dan Eitem Rhif 2 yn y pecyn agenda. Eglurodd ei 
fwriad i gynnwys rhestr o'r fath ar gyfer yr holl gyfarfodydd arfaethedig, ac roedd yn gobeithio 
y byddai Cynghorwyr yn eu gweld yn ddefnyddiol. 

 
3. DERBYN DEISEBAU O DAN REOL GWEITHDREFN 28(3) 
 

Cyflwynodd y Cynghorydd G. Kirby ddeiseb ar ran y Cynghorydd M. Adams yn galw am 
adolygiad o'r llinellau melyn dwbl ar Heol Penmaen, Pontllan-fraith. 

 
4.  CYFLWYNO DYFARNIADAU  
 
 Dyfarniadau Llywodraethu IASME a Hanfodion Seiber a Mwy 
 

Cyhoeddodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Wasanaethau Corfforaethol fod Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol 
Caerffili wedi llwyddo i gyflawni'r ardystiad Hanfodion Seiber a Mwy a Dyfarniad Aur ar gyfer 
safon Llywodraethu IASME sy'n ymwneud â Llywodraethu a GDPR. 
 
Cynghorwyd y Cyngor fod cyrraedd y safon hon yn ymdrech tîm gwirioneddol gan bob 
gwasanaeth o dan arweiniad y Gwasanaethau Cwsmeriaid a Digidol. Estynnodd yr Aelod 
Cabinet groeso i Liz Lucas, Joanne Jones, Wesley Colyer, Carl Evans, Bev Griffiths, Neil 
Rich, Wayne Turner, Rachel Hawker a Helen Hotchkiss a gofynnodd iddynt ddod ymlaen er 
mwyn i'r Cyngor gydnabod eu dyfarniadau. 
 
Gwobrau Rhagoriaeth Adeiladu Rhanbarthol LABC 
 
Cyhoeddodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros yr Amgylchedd a Diogelu'r Cyhoedd fod prosiect gan Dîm 
Rheoli Adeiladu'r Cyngor, drwy eu perthynas waith ragorol â thrigolion a chwmnïau adeiladu, 
wedi cael eu cydnabod gan adrannau Rheoli Adeiladu Awdurdodau Lleol (‘LABC’) drwy eu 
Gwobrau Rhagoriaeth Adeiladu Rhanbarthol. Estynnodd yr Aelod Cabinet groeso i Jason 
Lear (Tîm Rheoli Adeiladu), Gary Cosgrove (M & J Cosgrove), Jatinder Khehra (Redwood 
Court), Steve Collins (Steve Collins Builders and Shop Fitters), Jamie Morris, Adam Morris a 
Tom Morris (Morris Properties) a gofynnodd iddynt ddod ymlaen fel y gallai'r Cyngor 
gydnabod eu dyfarniadau. 
 
Staff Trecelyn 
 
Croesawodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Wasanaethau'r Gymdogaeth gydweithwyr o Ganolfan 
Hamdden Trecelyn, a achubodd fywyd rhywun drwy feddwl yn gyflym ac oherwydd bod 
diffibriliwr ar gael. Ar ôl iddynt glywed bod dyn a oedd yn loncian ger y ganolfan hamdden 
wedi dioddef ataliad y galon, bu Georgia a Jamie yn rhoi triniaeth achub bywyd iddo nes i'r 
gwasanaethau brys gyrraedd. Diolchodd yr Aelod Cabinet i bawb a oedd yn rhan o'r 
digwyddiad hefyd, gan gynnwys aelodau o'r cyhoedd a oedd gyntaf i gyrraedd y dyn, 
parafeddygon a swyddogion yr heddlu a fu yno, a chadarnhaodd fod y dyn wedi cael ei 
ryddhau o'r ysbyty erbyn hyn a'i fod yn gwella. Gofynnodd yr Aelod Cabinet i Georgia Haines 
a Jamie Evans ddod ymlaen fel y gallai'r Cyngor gydnabod eu hymdrechion sylweddol. 
 

Page 6



 
 

 
5.  DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANT 
 

Cafwyd datganiadau o fuddiant gan y Cynghorydd John Taylor, Mrs C. Harrhy (Prif 
Weithredwr Dros Dro) a Mr M.S. Williams (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Dros Dro – 
Cymunedau) yn eitem 12 ar yr Agenda – Trefniadau Contract ar gyfer y Prif Weithredwr Dros 
Dro. Mae'r manylion wedi'u cofnodi gyda'r eitem berthnasol. 

 
6.  CYNGOR – 16 Ebrill 2019 

PENDERFYNWYD cymeradwyo cofnodion cyfarfod y Cyngor a gynhaliwyd ar 16 Ebrill 
2019 fel cofnod cywir a'u llofnodi gan y Maer. 

 
 

7.  CYFARFOD BLYNYDDOL Y CYNGOR – 9 MAI 2019 
 

PENDERFYNWYD cymeradwyo cofnodion Cyfarfod Blynyddol y Cyngor a gynhaliwyd 
ar 9 Mai 2019 fel cofnod cywir a'u llofnodi gan y Maer. 
 

  
8.  DERBYN AC ATEB CWESTIYNAU A DDERBYNIWYD O DAN REOL GWEITHDREFN 10(2) 
 
 At Arweinydd y Cyngor gan y Cynghorydd Adrian Hussey: 
 
 A all yr Arweinydd gynnig y sefyllfa ddiweddaraf o ran cyflwyno cynllun datblygu strategol a 

sut y gall hyn a'r Cynllun Datblygu Lleol ‘cyffyrddiad ysgafn’ newydd cysylltiedig helpu i wella 
ein perfformiad gwerth ychwanegol gros?  

 
 Ymateb gan yr Arweinydd 
 Yn dilyn gwaith helaeth gan Grŵp Cynllunio Strategol De-ddwyrain Cymru a Chabinet 

Prifddinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd, cyrhaeddwyd cytundeb mewn egwyddor i fwrw ymlaen â 
Chynllun Datblygu Strategol ar gyfer Prifddinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd yn nigwyddiad Briffio 
Rhanbarthol y Cabinet a gynhaliwyd ar 29 Ebrill 2019. 

 
 Bydd adroddiad, a fydd wedyn yn cael ei anfon at bob un o'r 10 Cyngor i gael caniatâd i fwrw 

ymlaen yn ffurfiol â'r Cynllun Datblygu Strategol, yn cael ei ystyried gan Gabinet Prifddinas-
Ranbarth Caerdydd ar 10 Mehefin 2019. Os bydd Cabinet Prifddinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd yn 
cytuno ar yr adroddiad, bwriedir i bob un o'r 10 Awdurdod Cynllunio Lleol gyflwyno'r adroddiad 
i'w Cynghorau perthnasol, gan ofyn am gytundeb i gychwyn y Cynllun Datblygu Strategol ar ôl 
hynny. 

 
 Os bydd pob un o'r 10 awdurdod yn cytuno i fwrw ymlaen, yna bydd mynegiant o ddiddordeb i 

ddechrau gweithio ar y Cynllun Datblygu Strategol ar gyfer Prifddinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd yn 
cael ei gyflwyno i Lywodraeth Cymru. Dyma'r cam cyntaf yn y broses o ddechrau paratoi'r 
Cynllun Datblygu Strategol. 

 
 Mae'r Cynllun Datblygu Strategol yn ddogfen polisi defnydd tir statudol a fydd, pan gaiff ei 

mabwysiadu, yn darparu'r fframwaith polisi strategol ar gyfer cyflawni amcanion Cytundeb 
Dinesig Prifddinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd. Un o gonglfeini dyheadau'r Cytundeb Dinesig yw 
gwireddu twf economaidd sylweddol, drwy adeiladu ar fanteision a chyfleoedd cystadleuol, a 
thargedu sectorau cyflogaeth strategol. Bydd y Cynllun Datblygu Strategol yn darparu'r 
mynegiant gofodol o ddefnydd tir ar Gynllun Economaidd a Diwydiannol y rhanbarth i 
gyflawni'r uchelgais twf rhanbarthol a fydd yn arwain at gynnydd cyffredinol mewn gwerth 
ychwanegol gros. 

 
 Bydd Cynlluniau Datblygu Lleol a Chynlluniau Datblygu Lleol Llai, sef y term am Gynllun 

Datblygu Lleol sy'n cael ei baratoi pan fydd Cynllun Datblygu Strategol a fabwysiadwyd yn ei 

Page 7



 
 

le, yn darparu'r mynegiant lleol ar bolisi defnydd tir ar gyfer cyflawni strategaeth y Cynllun 
Datblygu Strategol ar lefel awdurdod lleol. 

 
 Bydd y Cynllun Datblygu Strategol a'r Cynllun Datblygu Lleol/Cynllun Datblygu Lleol Llai gyda'i 

gilydd yn darparu sylfaen polisi defnydd tir statudol ar gyfer cyflawni amcanion twf 
economaidd y Cytundeb Dinesig a fydd yn gwireddu'r cynnydd o 5% yn y gwerth ychwanegol 
gros cyffredinol sy'n ofynnol yn ôl y Cytundeb Dinesig. 

 
 Mae arwydd hefyd fod cystadleurwydd economaidd Caerffili ar gynnydd. Mae rhifyn 2019 o 

Fynegai Cystadleurwydd y Deyrnas Unedig (UKCI) yn darparu dull o gymharu ac archwilio 
cystadleurwydd newidiol Caerffili o gymharu ag Ardaloedd Awdurdodau Lleol eraill Cymru. 
Dangosodd y Mynegai mai Blaenau Gwent yw'r ardal leiaf cystadleuol yn y Deyrnas Unedig o 
hyd (safle 379). Ar nodyn cadarnhaol, mae Caerffili wedi codi o safle 376 yn 2015 i safle 369 
yn 2019, gan leihau nifer yr ardaloedd o Gymru sydd ymhlith y 10 ardal leiaf cystadleuol yn y 
Deyrnas Unedig. 

 
 
9.  DERBYN AC ATEB CWESTIYNAU A DDERBYNIWYD O DAN REOL GWEITHDREFN 10(4) 
 
 At yr Aelod Cabinet dros yr Amgylchedd a Diogelu'r Cyhoedd gan y Cynghorydd Carl 

Thomas: 
 
 A all yr Aelod Cabinet roi'r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf i mi am sefyllfa ddiweddaraf Llywodraeth 

Cymru ynghylch prisio sy'n ymwneud ag ymgynghoriadau ansawdd aer Hafodyrynys? 
 
 Ymateb gan yr Aelod Cabinet 
 Bydd yr Aelodau'n ymwybodol bod Llywodraeth Cymru wedi cyhoeddi Cyfarwyddyd Ansawdd 

Aer sy'n ei gwneud yn ofynnol i'r Cyngor gynnal astudiaeth ddichonoldeb i benderfynu ar y 
dewis a ffefrir. Bydd hyn yn sicrhau cydymffurfedd â Chyfarwyddeb Ansawdd Aer yr 
Amgylchedd o ran gwerth terfyn y nitrogen deuocsid yn Hafodyrynys yn yr ‘amser byrraf 
posib’. 

 
 Nododd y Cynllun Terfynol drafft y byddai dymchwel yr eiddo ar ochr ddeheuol yr A472 yn 

sicrhau cydymffurfedd yn yr amser byrraf posib erbyn 2023. Fodd bynnag, mae gwaith modelu 
o ran y dewis ‘Gwneud y Lleiafswm’ yn rhagfynegi y byddai modd cydymffurfio o ran ansawdd 
aer erbyn 2025. Yn ei gyfarfod ar 27 Mawrth 2019, mynegodd y Cabinet bryderon cryf am y 
posibilrwydd y gallai preswylwyr gael eu gwthio i galedi ariannol drwy unrhyw broses prynu 
gorfodol a phenderfynodd gynnal ymgynghoriad cyhoeddus ar y dewis ‘Gwneud y Lleiafswm’; 
mae'r ymgynghoriad hwnnw'n cau yr wythnos nesaf. 

 
 Mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi cadarnhau ers hynny y bydd yn sicrhau bod cyllid digonol ar 

gael i brynu a dymchwel yr eiddo, pe bai angen gwneud hynny, gan gynnwys y posibilrwydd o 
ddefnyddio gwerth eiddo tebyg newydd yn hytrach na gwerth y tŷ sy'n cael ei ddymchwel ar y 
farchnad. Byddai hyn yn mynd i'r afael â'r pryder a fynegwyd yn flaenorol gan y Cabinet na 
ddylai preswylwyr gael eu rhoi mewn caledi ariannol. 

 
 Mae hyn yn newid cadarnhaol mewn amgylchiadau ac mae Swyddogion wrthi'n datblygu dull 

prisio i'w gynnwys mewn adroddiad i'r Pwyllgor Craffu yr Amgylchedd a Chynaliadwyedd ar 25 
Mehefin er mwyn cael penderfyniad. 

 
 At y Dirprwy Arweinydd a'r Aelod Cabinet dros yr Economi, Isadeiledd, Cynaliadwyedd 

a Llesiant a Hyrwyddwr Llesiant Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol gan y Cynghorydd Andrew 
Whitcombe: 

 
 A all y Dirprwy Arweinydd a'r Aelod Cabinet rannu â mi pa gynnydd y mae'r Cyngor yn ei 

wneud tuag at fod yn Gyngor a Bwrdeistref Sirol ‘wyrddach’? 
 

Page 8



 
 

 Ymateb gan y Dirprwy Arweinydd a'r Aelod Cabinet  
 Mae gan Gyngor Caerffili hanes cadarnhaol iawn o gyflwyno a gweithredu mesurau i leihau'r 

defnydd o ynni ac mae eisoes wedi cyflwyno Strategaeth Lleihau Carbon sy'n canolbwyntio ar 
leihau allyriadau carbon. 

 
 Mae'r Cyngor wedi buddsoddi mewn ynni Ffotofoltäig (PV) ar 64 o gynlluniau yn ein hysgolion. 

Ar hyn o bryd rydym yn cyflwyno rhaglen i drosi holl oleuadau stryd y fwrdeistref sirol i LED. 
Mae lleihau'r defnydd o ynni yn un o amcanion allweddol y Cyngor. Bellach, mae llawer o stoc 
tai'r Cyngor wedi cael deunydd inswleiddio i'w waliau allanol, boeleri cyddwyso mwy effeithlon, 
deunydd inswleiddio atig a gwydr dwbl. 

 
 Gwnaed cynnydd o ran lleihau'r defnydd o drydan mewn llawer o safleoedd sy'n eiddo i'r 

Cyngor. Er enghraifft, mae gan Dŷ Penallta 108 o baneli ffotofoltäig ar ei do. Ynghyd â 
newidiadau i'r rheolaethau gwresogi ac oeri a'r goleuadau sy'n cael eu disodli gan LED, mae 
Tŷ Penallta yn dod yn fwy cynaliadwy ac yn rhatach i'w redeg. 

 
 Wrth edrych i'r dyfodol, mae'r Cyngor yn datblygu Cynllun Ynni i barhau â gwaith da'r 

Strategaeth Lleihau Carbon bresennol. Os bydd y Cyngor yn cymeradwyo'r Hysbysiad o 
Gynnig Newid yn yr Hinsawdd heno, byddwn yn ymrwymo i wneud Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol 
Caerffili yn awdurdod lleol di-garbon net erbyn 2030. Mae'r cynnig hwn eisoes wedi'i lofnodi 
gan yr holl Gabinet ac Arweinwyr pob grŵp gwleidyddol. Mae nifer o brosiectau y gall y 
Cyngor eu hymgorffori yn y Cynllun Ynni hwn sy'n datblygu er mwyn cyrraedd y targed ac 
mae'r cyfleoedd hyn wedi'u hamlinellu mewn adroddiad y bwriedir ei gyflwyno i'r Pwyllgor 
Craffu Adfywio a Thai ar 11 Mehefin. 

 
 Mae'r meysydd cyfle y mae'r Cyngor am eu hystyried yn cynnwys defnyddio asedau tir ar 

gyfer ffermydd solar, tyrbinau gwynt neu blannu coed a defnyddio gwres o dreulydd anerobig 
lleol i leihau ein defnydd o garbon. 

 
 Yn ddiweddar, cymeradwyodd yr Awdurdod Strategaeth Cerbydau Trydan sydd â'r nod o 

gyflwyno isadeiledd cerbydau trydan ar draws y fwrdeistref sirol. Rydym hefyd yn arwain ar 
astudiaeth ddichonoldeb i bennu'r safleoedd mwyaf addas ar gyfer gosod pwyntiau gwefru 
cerbydau trydan ym mhum awdurdod lleol Gwent. Bydd yr astudiaeth hon yn sail i gais am 
arian gan y Swyddfa Cerbydau Allyriadau Isel. Mae gwaith dichonoldeb yn cael ei gyflawni i 
osod pwyntiau gwefru ar Gampws Tredomen ar gyfer cerbydau fflyd ac ymwelwyr. Mae hyn 
yn adeiladu ar y newyddion diweddar y bydd y cwmni Stagecoach yn cyflwyno un o 
fuddsoddiadau unigol mwyaf Ewrop mewn bysiau trydan yma yng Nghaerffili, ar ôl sicrhau 
£2.9 miliwn mewn arian grant gan Lywodraeth y Deyrnas Unedig. Daw hyn ar ben y 
buddsoddiad o £740+ miliwn ym Metro'r Cymoedd. Bydd hyn yn ysgogi newid yn agwedd pobl 
tuag at deithio.  

 
 Mae'r Cyngor yn datblygu cynllun gweithio hyblyg a fydd yn lleihau'r angen i staff deithio'n 

ddiangen ac a allai leihau'r angen am ofod swyddfa, gan arwain unwaith yn rhagor at leihau'r 
defnydd o ynni. 

 
 Mae llawer o gyfleoedd yn bodoli i ddefnyddio tai fel ffordd o greu awdurdod gwyrddach. 

Byddwn yn parhau i weithio gyda'n Landlordiaid Cymdeithasol Cofrestredig gweithredol i 
ddarparu cynlluniau tai arloesol, fel cynllun Pentref Siartwyr y cwmni Pobl ym Mhontllan-fraith. 
Byddwn yn parhau i ymdrechu gyda'n stoc tai Cyngor ein hunain i leihau tlodi tanwydd, gwella 
inswleiddio ac ymchwilio i ffyrdd o gynhyrchu ynni glân. Ar ôl cwblhau gwaith Safon Ansawdd 
Tai Cymru yn 2020, bydd adnoddau'n cael eu targedu ar yr agenda ynni. Yn ddiweddar, mae'r 
Cyngor wedi dechrau deialog gyda Gwasanaethau Ynni Llywodraeth Cymru i archwilio sut y 
gallai'r awdurdod weithredu fel awdurdod peilot ar unrhyw fentrau newydd.  

 
 Rydym yn brandio ein hunain fel Cyngor “Gwyrdd”, ond nawr mae angen i ni gyflymu'r broses 

o leihau ein hôl troed carbon ymhellach. Bydd hyn yn ein galluogi i ymateb i ddatganiad o 
fwriad diweddar Llywodraeth Cymru sy'n cyfeirio at ddatgarboneiddio, o'r enw ‘Ffyniant i 

Page 9



 
 

Bawb: Cymru Carbon Isel’, a hefyd i ddylanwadu ar y gwaith sy'n cael ei wneud gan 
Brifddinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd. Y ffordd orau o gyflawni hyn yw datblygu strategaeth ynni 
drosfwaol sy'n adlewyrchu'r uchelgais hwn ac sy'n amlinellu trywydd ar gyfer dangos sut y 
gallwn gyflawni o ran bod yn awdurdod lleol carbon niwtral net erbyn 2030. 

 
 
10.  HYSBYSIAD O GYNNIG – NEWID YN YR HINSAWDD 
 
 Rhoddwyd ystyriaeth i'r hysbysiad o gynnig a dderbyniwyd gan y Cynghorydd S. Morgan ac a 

gefnogwyd gan y Cynghorwyr D.V. Poole, B. Jones, C. Cuss, C. Gordon, L. Phipps, N. 
George, P. Marsden, E. Stenner, C. Mann a K. Etheridge. Nodwyd bod y cynnig wedi'i 
ystyried gan Bwyllgor Craffu yr Amgylchedd a Chynaliadwyedd yn ei gyfarfod ar 14 Mai 2019 
a'i fod wedi cael ei gefnogi gan ei Aelodau. 

 
 Gofynnodd y Cynghorydd Morgan, yn ei hysbysiad o gynnig, i'r Cyngor:- 
 
 (i)  Ddatgan Argyfwng Hinsawdd; 

(ii)  Ymrwymo i sicrhau bod Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili yn awdurdod lleol di-garbon 
net erbyn 2030; 

(iii)  Datblygu cynllun ynni clir, o fewn 12 mis, ar gyfer gweithio tuag at fod yn Gyngor di-
garbon net; 

(iv)  Gofyn i Lywodraeth Cymru a Llywodraeth y Deyrnas Unedig alw ar Arweinwyr y byd i 
gydnabod y dystiolaeth wyddonol aruthrol bod Newid yn yr Hinsawdd wedi cael ei 
achosi gan weithgarwch dynol; 

(v)  Galw ar Lywodraethau Cymru a'r Deyrnas Unedig i ddarparu'r cymorth a'r adnoddau 
angenrheidiol i'w gwneud yn bosibl lleihau carbon yn effeithiol a symud at ddyfodol 
sy'n llai dwys o ran adnoddau; 

(vi)  Galw ar Lywodraeth Cymru i fesur cynnydd y wlad mewn ffordd sy'n cefnogi ac yn 
adlewyrchu datgarboneiddio a meddylfryd uchelgeisiol a blaengar Deddf Llesiant 
Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol, yn hytrach na dim ond mesur y defnydd o adnoddau a 
diwylliant prynu; 

(vii)  Gweithio gyda'r Bwrdd Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus a phartneriaid Cytundeb Dinesig 
Prifddinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd i ddatblygu cyfleoedd i sicrhau arbedion carbon ac i 
fanteisio ar fuddion ehangach economi werdd; 

(viii)  Cydweithio ag arbenigwyr o'r sector preifat, yr ail sector a'r trydydd sector i ddatblygu 
atebion arloesol i fod yn ddi-garbon net. 

 
Roedd yr Aelodau'n cefnogi'r targedau uchelgeisiol a bennwyd yn yr hysbysiad o gynnig, ac 
roedden nhw'n gytûn, gan mai Newid yn yr Hinsawdd oedd yn peri'r bygythiad mwyaf i 
genedlaethau'r dyfodol, bod yn rhaid iddo fod yn flaenoriaeth. Cyfeiriodd un Aelod at y 
defnydd o baneli ffotofoltäig a'r angen i ddatblygu'r dechnoleg hon ymhellach. Fodd bynnag, 
mynegwyd pryderon hefyd o ran yr angen i wella'r isadeiledd a'r costau cysylltiedig y byddai 
eu hangen i symud y prosiectau amrywiol yn eu blaen. Gofynnodd yr Aelod am ragor o 
wybodaeth am gerbydau trydan a thargedau i leihau allyriadau, a chytunwyd y byddai'r 
wybodaeth yn cael ei rhannu ar ôl y cyfarfod. 
 
Gofynnwyd am eglurhad o ran cynnyrch domestig gros fel y nodir ym mhwynt 6 y cynnig a 
holwyd a oedd hwn yn ddangosydd cywir o ran effaith y newid yn yr hinsawdd. Dywedodd yr 
Aelod Cabinet fod cynnyrch domestig gros fel dangosydd ar gyfer y newid yn yr hinsawdd yn 
fesurydd rhy gul gan fod ei feini prawf yn canolbwyntio ar gynhyrchiant ac allbwn ac nad oedd 
yn ystyried sut y cyflawnwyd y gwaith cynhyrchu na lles y cyhoedd. Nid yw cynnyrch domestig 
gros yn ystyried effaith gwastraff plastig ar yr amgylchedd, dim ond bod cynyddu'r gwaith o 
gynhyrchu plastig yn arwain at gynnydd o ran cynnyrch domestig gros. Dywedodd fod 
Mesurydd Cyfoeth yn rhoi darlun mwy cyflawn gan nad oedd ei ffocws yn un ariannol yn 
bennaf ond ei fod yn fwy cyfannol.  
 

Page 10



 
 

Cyfeiriodd yr Aelodau at y gwaith sy'n cael ei wneud gan blant mewn ysgolion lleol o ran y 
newid yn yr hinsawdd a bod y plant yn benderfynol na ddylai gweithredoedd cenedlaethau 
blaenorol ddifetha'u hamgylchedd yn y dyfodol. 
 
Mynegodd Aelod bryder nad oedd dadansoddiad o gostau o ran bod yn garbon niwtral wedi'i 
ystyried. Cyfeiriwyd at blannu coed ac ar ba rannau o dir y gellid eu cynnwys, cyfyngiadau 
cyllidebol, diffyg seilwaith neu fuddsoddiad angenrheidiol i alluogi cartrefi i weithredu ar ynni 
adnewyddadwy ac yn y blaen. Cwestiynodd yr Aelod yr angen i ddatgan Argyfwng Hinsawdd 
pan na ellir gweithredu newid go iawn, a gofynnodd a fyddai'n well i'r Cyngor fuddsoddi mewn 
meysydd eraill fel cyrhaeddiad addysgol. 
 
Anghytunodd yr Aelodau â'r cynnig i ‘wneud dim’ gan gydnabod y byddai costau'n gysylltiedig 
â'r cynnig, ond y byddai'n fwy costus i genedlaethau'r dyfodol beidio â gwneud dim. 
Pwysleisiwyd pwysigrwydd archwilio pob dull posibl, gan gynnwys gweithio'n wahanol er 
mwyn diogelu dyfodol ein plant. Yna, cyfeiriwyd at yr angen i osgoi cynhyrchu carbon yn y 
tarddle a chymryd safbwynt cyfrifol wrth leihau allyriadau. 
 
Cytunwyd y byddai rhagor o wybodaeth ac ymatebion i gwestiynau a godwyd gan yr Aelodau 
yn ystod y ddadl yn cael eu dosbarthu'n annibynnol i'r rhai dan sylw ar ôl y cyfarfod. 
 
Cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd bod yr hysbysiad o gynnig yn cael ei gefnogi a thrwy'r system bleidleisio 
electronig a nodai fod 54 o blaid, 1 yn erbyn ac 1 yn ymatal, cytunwyd ar hyn gan y mwyafrif a 
oedd yn bresennol. 
 
  PENDERFYNWYD bod y Cyngor yn:- 
 

 (i)  Datgan Argyfwng Hinsawdd; 
 

(ii)  Ymrwymo i wneud Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili yn awdurdod lleol di-garbon net 
erbyn 2030; 

 
(iii)  Datblygu cynllun ynni clir, o fewn 12 mis, ar gyfer gweithio tuag at fod yn Gyngor di-

garbon net; 
 
(iv)  Gofyn i Lywodraeth Cymru a Llywodraeth y Deyrnas Unedig alw ar Arweinwyr y byd i 

gydnabod y dystiolaeth wyddonol aruthrol bod Newid yn yr Hinsawdd wedi cael ei 
achosi gan weithgarwch dynol; 

 
(v)  Galw ar Lywodraethau Cymru a'r Deyrnas Unedig i ddarparu'r cymorth a'r adnoddau 

angenrheidiol i'w gwneud yn bosibl lleihau carbon yn effeithiol a symud at ddyfodol 
sy'n llai dwys o ran adnoddau; 

 
(vi)  Galw ar Lywodraeth Cymru i fesur cynnydd y wlad mewn ffordd sy'n cefnogi ac yn 

adlewyrchu datgarboneiddio a meddylfryd uchelgeisiol a blaengar Deddf Llesiant 
Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol, yn hytrach na dim ond mesur y defnydd o adnoddau a 
diwylliant prynu; 

 
(vii)  Gweithio gyda'r Bwrdd Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus a phartneriaid Cytundeb Dinesig 

Prifddinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd i ddatblygu cyfleoedd i sicrhau arbedion carbon ac i 
fanteisio ar fuddion ehangach economi werdd; 

 
(viii)  Cydweithio ag arbenigwyr o'r sector preifat, yr ail sector a'r trydydd sector i ddatblygu 

atebion arloesol i fod yn ddi-garbon net. 
 

 
 
 

Page 11



 
 

11.  YMATEB I ADOLYGIAD ETHOLIADOL CAERFFILI 2019 
 
 Rhoddwyd ystyriaeth i'r adroddiad a oedd yn manylu ar ganlyniad Gweithgor yr Adolygiad 

Etholiadol a'r ymateb arfaethedig i adolygiad Comisiwn Ffiniau a Democratiaeth Leol Cymru o 
drefniadau etholiadol. 

 
 Cyfeiriodd Aelodau'r Gweithgor at yr heriau a wynebir wrth lunio'r cynigion i'w rhoi gerbron y 

Cyngor, ac roedden nhw'n cydnabod nad oedd yr ymateb a roddwyd yn berffaith ond ei fod yn 
cyflwyno'r ffordd orau ymlaen o dan yr amgylchiadau. Cwestiynwyd amseriad a pherthnasedd 
yr adolygiad o gofio'r gofynion a'r cyfrifoldebau cynyddol sy'n cael eu rhoi ar Aelodau 
Etholedig. Trafodwyd yr effaith y byddai lleihau nifer y Cynghorwyr yn ei chael ar 
gynrychiolaeth ddemocrataidd a chytunodd yr Aelodau, er nad oedd y cynigion oedd ger eu 
bron yn ddelfrydol o bell ffordd, eu bod yn well na bod y Comisiwn yn gwneud y 
penderfyniadau hynny. 

 
 Ar ôl ystyried yr adroddiad yn llawn, cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd bod yr argymhelliad ynddo yn cael ei 

gefnogi a thrwy'r system bleidleisio electronig a nodai fod 47 o blaid, 2 yn erbyn a 5 yn ymatal, 
cytunwyd ar hyn gan y mwyafrif a oedd yn bresennol. 

 
 PENDERFYNWYD anfon y dystiolaeth yn Atodiad 1 i adroddiad y Swyddog i'r 

Comisiwn fel ymateb swyddogol y Cyngor i'r broses ymgynghori ar yr adolygiad o'r 
trefniadau etholiadol yn y fwrdeistref sirol. 

 
  
12.  TREFNIADAU CONTRACT Y PRIF WEITHREDWR DROS DRO 
 
 Datganodd y Cynghorydd J. Taylor fuddiant parhaus gan ei fod yn Aelod presennol o'r 

Pwyllgor Ymchwilio a Disgyblu ac, fel yr oedd wedi gwneud o'r blaen, gadawodd y Siambr cyn 
i'r mater gael ei drafod. 

 
 Datganodd Mrs C. Harrhy a Mr M.S. Williams fuddiannau gan fod yr adroddiad yn effeithio'n 

uniongyrchol ar eu swyddi dros dro presennol, a gadawodd y ddau y Siambr cyn i'r mater gael 
ei drafod. 

 
 Rhoddwyd ystyriaeth i'r adroddiad a oedd yn ceisio cymeradwyaeth i ymestyn contract y Prif 

Weithredwr Dros Dro presennol tan 31 Mawrth 2020. Dywedwyd wrth yr Aelodau fod gofyniad 
statudol i gael Pennaeth Gwasanaeth Cyflogedig ac y byddai'r ymestyniad arfaethedig yn 
sicrhau bod y Cyngor yn cydymffurfio â hyn. Byddai'r ymestyniad hefyd yn cynnig parhad i'r 
sefydliad. Nodwyd y byddai modd adolygu'r trefniadau contract dros dro yn gyflym ac y gellid 
ei derfynu ar unrhyw adeg yn ystod y cyfnod ymestyn pe bai amgylchiadau'n newid. 

 
 Cadarnhaodd Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Pobl fod yr adroddiad gan yr Unigolyn Annibynnol 

Dynodedig wedi'i gyflwyno a bod cyfarfod o'r Pwyllgor Ymchwilio a Disgyblu yn cael ei drefnu i 
ystyried yr adroddiad, yn unol â'r broses statudol y cytunwyd arni. 

 
 Gofynnwyd am eglurhad o baragraff 5.10 yn yr adroddiad ynghylch hysbysu Llywodraeth 

Cymru ac a gafwyd unrhyw ymateb a pham nad oedd swydd y Cyfarwyddwr Cymunedau Dros 
Dro wedi'i chynnwys yn yr adroddiad. Cadarnhaodd y Swyddog fod Llywodraeth Cymru wedi 
cael ei hysbysu yn ôl y gofyn, ond nad oedd wedi cael cais nac y byddai disgwyl iddi gynnig 
unrhyw sylw ar yr ymestyniad arfaethedig. Ni chafodd y swydd Cyfarwyddwr Cymunedau Dros 
Dro ei chynnwys gan fod y Cyngor wedi penderfynu'n flaenorol y byddai'r mater yn cael ei 
ddatrys drwy ddirprwyo pwerau i'r Prif Weithredwr Dros Dro drwy ymgynghori â'r Arweinydd a 
dau Ddirprwy Arweinydd. 

 
 Ar ôl ystyried yr adroddiad yn llawn, cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd bod yr argymhelliad ynddo yn cael ei 

gefnogi a thrwy'r system bleidleisio electronig a nodai fod 15 yn erbyn, cytunwyd ar hyn gan y 
mwyafrif a oedd yn bresennol. 

Page 12



 
 

 
 PENDERFYNWYD ymestyn contract y Prif Weithredwr Dros Dro presennol tan 31 

Mawrth 2020. 
 

 
Daeth y cyfarfod i ben am 18:45. 
 
 
Wedi'u cymeradwyo fel cofnodion cywir, ac yn amodol ar unrhyw ddiwygiadau neu gywiriadau i'w 
cytuno a'u cofnodi yng nghofnodion y cyfarfod sydd i'w gynnal ar 23 Hydref 2019, fe'u llofnodwyd gan 
y Maer. 

 
_______________________ 

      MAER 
 
 

Page 13



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 14



 

 
 
 
 

 

CYFARFOD CYNGOR ARBENNIG  
 

COFNODION O'R CYFARFOD A GYNHALIWYD YN NHŶ PENALLTA, YSTRAD 
MYNACH AR DDYDD MAWRTH, 30 GORFFENNAF 2019 AM 5.00 PM 

 

  

YN BRESENNOL:  
 

Y Cynghorydd J. Simmonds - Maer 
Y Cynghorydd C. Andrews - Dirprwy Faer 

 
Cynghorwyr: 

 
  M. Adams, Mrs E. Aldworth, A. Angel, P.J. Bevan, C. Bezzina, L. Binding, A. Collis, S. 

Cook, C. Cuss, W. David, D.T. Davies, K. Dawson, N. Dix, C. Elsbury, K. Etheridge, M. 
Evans, A. Farina-Childs, Mrs C. Forehead, Ms E. Forehead, A. Gair, N. George, C. 
Gordon, R.W. Gough, D.T. Hardacre, L. Harding, D. Harse, D. Havard, A. Higgs, A. 
Hussey,  M. James, V. James, L. Jeremiah, G. Johnston, Mrs B. Jones, S. Kent, G. Kirby, 
Mrs A. Leonard, Ms P. Leonard, C.P. Mann, Mrs P. Marsden, S. Morgan, Mrs G. Oliver, B. 
Owen, T. Parry, D.V. Poole, D.W.R. Preece, J. Pritchard, J. Ridgewell, J.E. Roberts, Mrs 
M.E. Sargent, G. Simmonds, S. Skivens, Mss E. Stenner, A. Whitcombe, R. Whiting, L G. 
Whittle, T. Williams a B. Zaplatynski.  

 
Ynghyd â: 

 
C. Harrhy (Prif Weithredwr Dros Dro), D. Street (Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau 
Cymdeithasol a Thai), S. Harris (Pennaeth Gwella Busnes (Dros Dro) a Swyddog Adran 
151 (Dros Dro)), L. Lane (Dirprwy Swyddog Monitro a Phennaeth Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd), A. Southcombe (Rheolwr Cyllid - Cyllid Corfforaethol) ac A. Dredge 
(Swyddog Gwasanaethau Pwyllgor).  
 
B. Morris (Grant Thornton – Archwilydd Allanol). 
 

 
1. TREFNIADAU FFILMIO GWE-DDARLLEDU A PHLEIDLEISIO 
 

Atgoffodd y Prif Weithredwr Dros Dro y rheini oedd yn bresennol fod y cyfarfod yn cael ei 
ffilmio a byddai'n cael ei ddarparu ar gyfer y cyhoedd yn fyw a'i archifo drwy wefan y 
Cyngor.  Dywedodd y byddai penderfyniadau yn cael eu gwneud drwy'r system bleidleisio 
electronig.   
 
 

2. MUNUD O DAWELWCH  
 

Gyda thristwch mawr, cyhoeddodd y Maer y newyddion am farwolaeth Neil Powell, gyrrwr 
cyflenwi'r Cyngor ac yn gydweithiwr hirsefydlog yn yr Uned Argraffu. Cyhoeddodd y 
Cynghorydd Mann hefyd farwolaeth y Cyngynghorydd Sirol Dave Smith.  Safodd yr 
Aelodau a'r Swyddogion am funud o dawelwch fel arwydd o barch.   

  
 

Page 15

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 7



 
2. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 
 

Derbyniwyd ymddiheuriadau dros absenoldeb oddi wrth y Cynghorwyr D. Cushing, M. 
Davies, J.E. Fussell, Ms J. Gale, B. Miles, Mrs L. Phipps, Mrs D. Price, R. Saralis, J. 
Scriven, J. Taylor,  
C. Thomas, W. Williams ac M. S. Williams (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Dros Dro ar gyfer 
Cymunedau) ac R. Tranter (Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Swyddog Monitro). 

 
 
3. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANT 
 

 Datganodd y Cynghorwyr M. Adams, A. Angel, T. Davies, N. George, C. Gordon, J. 
Simmonds a C. Harrhy (Prif Weithredwr Dros Dro) fuddiannau mewn perthynas ag Eitem 
4 ar yr Agenda - Datganiad yr Arweinydd ar ddechrau'r cyfarfod.  Mae'r manylion wedi eu 
cofnodi gyda'r eitem briodol. 
 
 

4. DATGANIAD YR ARWEINYDD 
 

Datganodd y Cynghorwyr M. Adams, A. Angel, T. Davies, N. George, C. Gordon a J. 
Simmonds fuddiannau personol a rhagfarnllyd mewn perthynas â'r eitem hon gan eu bod 
yn  Aelodau cyfredol o'r Pwyllgor Ymchwilio a Disgyblu.  Datganodd C. Harrhy (Prif 
Weithredwr Dros Dro) fuddiant personol a rhagfarnllyd oherwydd ei rôl bresennol fel y Prif 
Weithredwr Dros Dro.  Gan fod y buddiannau'n bersonol ac yn rhagfarnllyd, gadawsant yr 
ystafell pan gyflwynodd yr Arweinydd ei ddatganiad. 
 
Dywedwyd wrth yr aelodau bod y Person Annibynnol Dynodedig wedi cyflwyno ei 
hadroddiad terfynol mewn perthynas â'r ymchwiliad parhaus mewn perthynas â'r Prif 
Swyddog Gweithredol parhaol.  Mynegodd yr Arweinydd bwysigrwydd caniatáu dilyn y 
broses briodol a dod â materion i ben, ac ar hyn o bryd, rhagwelir y bydd hyn yn cael ei 
gyflawni erbyn diwedd mis Medi 2019.  Yn ei gyfarfod ar 13 Rhagfyr 2018, cymeradwyodd 
y Cyngor ddarpariaethau ariannol ychwanegol ar gyfer costau cyfreithiol sy'n gysylltiedig 
â'r broses ymchwilio a hefyd ar gyfer cyflog y Prif Swyddog Gweithredol parhaol hyd at 31 
Gorffennaf 2019.  Ychwanegodd fod digon o arian ar gael o ddarpariaethau ariannol a 
gymeradwywyd yn flaenorol i gwrdd â'r costau pellach a ragwelir mewn perthynas â 
ffioedd cyfreithiol a'r Person Annibynnol Dynodedig, i ddod â'r broses ymchwilio i ben. 
Fodd bynnag, bydd angen sefydlu darpariaeth ariannol newydd o £31k i ariannu costau 
cyflog y Prif Swyddog Gweithredol parhaol hyd at ddiwedd mis Medi 2019. 

 
Bydd y ddarpariaeth ariannol ychwanegol yn cael ei hariannu o Gronfeydd Wrth Gefn y 
Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol ac felly gellir ei chytuno o dan bwerau dirprwyedig yn unol â 
Strategaeth Ariannol a Strategaeth Wrth Gefn y Cyngor gan y Pennaeth Cyllid 
Corfforaethol a Chyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Thai.  
Adroddir am y gofyn ychwanegol hwn ar gronfeydd wrth gefn drwy fonitro cyllideb i'r 
Pwyllgor Craffu Polisi ac Adnoddau nesaf.  Wrth gloi, dywedodd yr Arweinydd, os na fydd 
y broses ddisgyblu yn dod i ben erbyn diwedd mis Medi, y bydd diweddariad pellach yn 
cael ei ddarparu i'r Cyngor. 
 
Trafododd yr aelodau y datganiad a mynegi eu pryderon ynghylch y ddarpariaeth ariannol 
o £31k yr ymdrinnir â hi o dan bwerau dirprwyedig ac roeddent yn teimlo y dylai'r ffigur 
hwn fod wedi dod gerbron y Cyngor Llawn er mwyn cynnal pleidlais ddemocrataidd.  
Cyfeiriodd Aelod at y swm o £242K yr oedd y Cyngor wedi'i gymeradwyo ar 18 Tachwedd 
2018 i dalu'r ffioedd parhaus sy'n gysylltiedig â'r broses ddisgyblu.  Dywedodd 
swyddogion mai'r ffigur y gofynnwyd amdano oedd yr amcangyfrif gorau bryd hynny ac ar 
ôl derbyn adroddiadau pellach, mae pethau wedi symud yn eu blaen.  Roedd yr aelodau'n 
cwestiynu a oedd iawndal yn cael ei geisio am y broses ddisgyblu a or-redodd yn 

Page 16



afresymol ac, fel pwynt o drefn, y gellid cynnal pleidlais wedi'i chofnodi ar yr eitem hon.  
Atgoffwyd yr aelodau bod Datganiad yr Arweinydd er gwybodaeth yn unig ac yn ymwneud 
yn benodol â'r ddarpariaeth ariannol o £31K; mae'r Cyngor wedi bod yn agored ac yn 
dryloyw ac mae angen y ddarpariaeth ariannol hon er mwyn dod â'r broses ddisgyblu i 
ben.   
 

 ADRODDIAD Y SWYDDOGION 
 
 Rhoddwyd ystyriaeth i'r adroddiadau canlynol. 
 
 
5. DATGANIADAU ARIANNOL AR GYFER 2018/19 
 
 Gofynnodd yr adroddiad am gymeradwyaeth o’r Datganiadau Ariannol 2018/19 

archwiliedig, er mwyn iddynt gael eu llofnodi gan Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru yn unol â 
gofynion statudol.  Mae'r Datganiadau Ariannol yn gymhleth iawn ac mae'r gofynion 
fformatio a datgelu yn cael eu pennu gan amrywiol safonau cyfrifyddu a gofynion 
deddfwriaethol.  Hysbyswyd yr Aelodau na all y Cyngor newid unrhyw beth yn realistig yn 
y Datganiadau Ariannol, gan y byddai angen cymeradwyaeth yr Archwilydd allanol, Grant 
Thornton, ar gyfer unrhyw newidiadau.   
 
Yn ei gyfarfod ar 23 Gorffennaf 2019, cyflwynwyd Adroddiadau Archwiliad yr Archwilydd 
Allanol o Ddatganiadau Ariannol i'r Pwyllgor Archwilio a oedd yn seiliedig ar y gwaith 
archwilio a oedd wedi'i gwblhau bryd hynny.  Nododd adroddiad yr Archwilydd (ynghlwm, 
fel Atodiad 1) mai bwriad yr Archwilydd Cyffredinol oedd cyhoeddi adroddiad archwilio 
diamod ar Ddatganiadau Ariannol 2018/19 yn seiliedig ar y gwaith archwilio a gwblhawyd 
ar 23 Gorffennaf 2019.  Ar ôl ystyried Adroddiad yr Archwilydd, cymeradwyodd y Pwyllgor 
Archwilio yn unfrydol argymhelliad i'r Cyngor y dylid cymeradwyo'r Datganiadau Ariannol, 
yn amodol ar unrhyw newidiadau a allai fod yn ofynnol o ganlyniad i waith archwilio 
parhaus.   
 
Dywedwyd wrth yr aelodau bod yr Archwilydd allanol wedi bod yn cwblhau profion 
archwilio terfynol mewn nifer o feysydd yn ystod yr wythnos ddiwethaf.  Roedd copïau o'u 
hadroddiad wedi'u diweddaru ar gael i'r holl Aelodau, gan ddangos newidiadau wedi'u 
tracio o'r ddogfen a gylchredwyd yn wreiddiol gydag agenda'r Cyngor.  Roedd copïau 
caled o newidiadau i dudalennau perthnasol yn y Datganiadau Ariannol hefyd ar gael i'r 
Aelodau gyda'r newidiadau wedi'u hamlygu mewn melyn.    
 
Yn ei gyfarfod ar 12 Mehefin 2019, cyflwynwyd adroddiad i'r Cabinet ar yr Alldro Dros Dro 
ar gyfer 2018/19.  Roedd yr adroddiad yn cynnwys manylion symudiadau ar falans y 
Gronfa Gyffredinol rhwng 1 Ebrill 2018 a 31 Mawrth 2019 ynghyd ag ymrwymiadau y 
cytunwyd arnynt ar gyfer 2019/20.  Atgoffwyd yr aelodau mai balans y Gronfa Gyffredinol 
a ragwelwyd fel yr adroddwyd i'r Cyngor ar 21 Chwefror 2019 oedd £11.660 miliwn, gyda'r 
cynnydd o £2.380 miliwn dros y lefel a ragwelwyd yn flaenorol yn cael ei drosglwyddo i 
Gronfeydd Cyfalaf Wrth Gefn.  Gofynnwyd i'r aelodau nodi y bydd adroddiad yn cael ei 
baratoi yn ystod yr hydref mewn perthynas â chronfeydd cyfalaf heb eu dyrannu a 
chynigion ar gyfer buddsoddiadau mewn nifer o brosiectau strategol allweddol. 
 
Argymhellodd y Prif Weithredwr Dros Dro seibiant byr i roi cyfle i'r Aelodau ystyried y 
ddogfennaeth ychwanegol a chefnogwyd hyn gan y mwyafrif a oedd yn bresennol. 
 
Yn dilyn y seibiant, cyfeiriodd yr Archwilydd allanol yr Aelodau at ei adroddiad wedi'i 
ddiweddaru a chyfeiriodd yn benodol at y diwygiadau ar dudalen 4.  Mae hyn yn nodi 
statws cyfredol yr archwiliadau sydd wedi'u cwblhau a'r rhai sy'n ddyledus ar 30 
Gorffennaf 2019.  Wedyn, cyfeiriwyd at Atodiad 3 sy'n crynhoi'r camddatganiadau i'w 
cywiro gan reolwyr.  Mewn perthynas â gwariant incwm y Cyfrif Refeniw Tai a restrwyd, 
eglurwyd mai'r rheswm dros y cywiriad yw bod addasiad â llaw yn cael ei wneud i wyneb y  

Page 17



Cyfrifon Incwm a Gwariant Cynhwysfawr i adlewyrchu'r rhaniad incwm a gwariant a 
ddatgelir yn y Cyfrif Refeniw Tai.  Nid yw hyn yn cael unrhyw effaith ar Wariant Net na 
balansau arian parod y Cyfrif Refeniw Tai. 
 
 Trafododd yr aelodau yr adroddiad a'r diweddariad yn fanwl a cheisio eglurhad mewn 
nifer o feysydd.  Holodd Aelod am yr ymrwymiadau Cyfalaf ar gyfer materion sy'n codi yn 
Arddangosyn 7 a dywedwyd wrtho y bydd adolygiad o ymrwymiadau Cyfalaf yn cael ei 
gynnal yn flynyddol.  Mae mwy o fanylion am yr ymrwymiadau cyfredol wedi'u nodi ar 
dudalen 118 yn y pecyn agenda.   
 
Cyfeiriodd Aelod at baragraff 5.8 yn adroddiad y Swyddog a'r arbedion disgwyliedig o 
£44m y bydd eu hangen dros y cyfnod o bedair blynedd 2020/21 i 2023/24.  Cyfeiriodd 
hefyd at y gwaith sylweddol sydd i'w wneud a'r costau cysylltiedig y cyfeirir atynt ar 
dudalennau 32 a 33 yn Atodiad 2.  Dywedodd swyddogion fod ystod o ragdybiaethau'n 
gysylltiedig â'r arbedion, er enghraifft, mae ansicrwydd mewn perthynas â chyllid 
Llywodraeth Cymru.  Roedd cyfarfod y Cyngor a gynhaliwyd ym mis Chwefror am y 
Cynllun Ariannol Tymor Canolig yn nodi cynllun 5 mlynedd.  Yn ogystal, mae gwaith yn 
mynd rhagddo gyda Rheolwyr i ystyried arbedion posibl wrth symud ymlaen a chynhelir 
ymgynghoriad 8 wythnos ar ddiwedd 2019 i ystyried cynigion.  Bydd y Cabinet hefyd yn 
gweithio'n agos gydag undebau llafur i ddiogelu swyddi.  Yna gofynnodd yr Aelod wedyn 
am gyngor o ran symud cynnig mewn perthynas ag amrywiol adrannau yn y Datganiadau 
Ariannol.  Dywedodd y Prif Weithredwr Dros Dro a’r Dirprwy Swyddog Monitro fod yn rhaid 
i gynnig fod yn berthnasol ac yn benodol a bod yr adroddiad hwn yn ‘Ddatganiad o 
Ffeithiau’ ac, o’r herwydd hynny, ni dderbyniwyd y cynnig.    
 
Gofynnwyd am eglurhad mewn perthynas â Dyfarniad McCloud/Sergeant ar gyfanswm 
rhwymedigaethau pensiwn y Cyngor.  Dywedodd yr Archwilydd allanol fod yna lawer o 
ansicrwydd o ran trefniadau yn y dyfodol.  Mae'r Cynllun Pensiwn Llywodraeth Leol wedi 
newid o'r cyflog terfynol i enillion cyfartalog gyrfa.  Gall gwahaniaethu ar sail oedran hefyd 
effeithio ar Gynghorau o ran cynyddu eu rhwymedigaethau pensiwn yn yr ystyr y gellir 
lledaenu hyn dros nifer o flynyddoedd.   
 
Cyfeiriodd Aelod at y canfyddiadau sy'n ymwneud ag awdurdodi Cyfnodolion yn Atodiad 4 
a gofynnodd a oes risgiau'n gysylltiedig.  Esboniwyd nad yw pob Cyfnodolyn wedi'i 
awdurdodi o fewn yr awdurdod.  Codwyd y pwnc hwn mewn blynyddoedd blaenorol ac 
mae'r rheolwyr wedi adolygu'r broses ac wedi gostwng y trothwy awdurdodi i £100 mil fel 
yr adroddwyd i'r Pwyllgor Archwilio.  Yn ôl yr Archwilydd allanol, cynhaliwyd ail adolygiad 
pan symudwyd arian o un cyfrif i’r llall er mwyn sicrhau ni ddigwyddodd unrhyw dwyll na 
wallau.       
 
Diolchodd yr Archwilwyr allanol i'r Swyddog Dros Dro Adran 151 a'r holl staff yn y tîm am 
eu cefnogaeth a'u cymorth yn ystod y broses hon.  Ychwanegodd yr Arweinydd ei fod yn 
cymeradwyo'r adroddiad yn llawn ac yn teimlo bod hyn yn pwysleisio pa mor dda y mae'r 
Cyngor yn cael ei redeg yn ariannol. 
 
Gofynnwyd i'r aelodau ystyried argymhelliad ychwanegol i'r rhai a nodir ym mharagraff 3, 
yn adroddiad y Swyddog oherwydd, yn amodol ar unrhyw newidiadau pellach i'r Cyfrifon 
Ariannol, y dylid dirprwyo eu cymeradwyaeth i'r Swyddog Dros Dro Adran 151.   
 
Yn dilyn ystyriaeth a thrafodaeth, cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd, yn amodol ar yr argymhelliad 
ychwanegol, y dylid cymeradwyo'r argymhellion a gynhwysir yn adroddiad y Swyddog.  
Trwy gyfrwng electronig ac wrth bleidleisio ar floc, roedd 43 o blaid, 13 yn erbyn ac 1 yn 
ymatal.  
 
 PENDERFYNWYD:  

 
(i) cymeradwyo'r Datganiadau Ariannol 2018/19; 

Page 18



 
(ii) cymeradwyo argymhelliad y Cabinet o gadw balans y Gronfa Gyffredinol yn 

£11.660 miliwn, fel y cytunwyd yn flaenorol gan y Cyngor ar 21 Chwefror 2019; 
 
(iii) cymeradwyo argymhelliad y Cabinet o drosglwyddo'r cynnydd yng ngweddill y 

Gronfa Gyffredinol o £2.380 miliwn dros y lefel a ragwelwyd yn flaenorol i 
Gronfeydd Cyfalaf Wrth Gefn, nes y bydd adroddiad yn cael ei gyflwyno yn ystod 
yr hydref mewn perthynas â chronfeydd cyfalaf heb eu dyrannu a chynigion ar 
gyfer buddsoddiadau mewn nifer o brosiectau strategol allweddol; 

 
(iv) dirprwyo’u cymeradwyaeth i’r Swyddog Adran 151 (Dros Dro) yn amodol ar unrhyw 

newidiadau pellach i'r Cyfrifon Ariannol.   
 

 
 Terfynwyd y cyfarfod am 6.30pm. 
 
 Wedi'i gymeradwyo fel cofnod cywir ac yn amodol ar unrhyw newidiadau neu gywiriadau a 

gytunir arnynt ac a gofnodir yng nghofnodion y cyfarfod a gynhelir ar 23 Hydref 2019 ac 
fe'u llofnodwyd gan y Maer. 

 
 

_______________________ 
      MAER 
 

Page 19



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 20



 
 
 

 

 
COUNCIL – 23RD OCTOBER 2019  

 
SUBJECT: NOTICE OF MOTION – BAN ON ANIMALS AS PRIZES ON 

CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH LAND 
 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 
SERVICES 

 

 
1.1 The attached report, which was considered by the Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny 

Committee on 17th September 2019 detailed a Notion of Motion, received from Councillor 
J. Pritchard and supported by Councillors Mrs E.M. Aldworth, W. David, P. Bevan, L. 
Whittle, G. Kirby, S. Morgan, A. Hussey, Mrs B. Jones, Mrs T. Parry, R. Gough, A. Farina-
Childs, C. Cuss, G. Johnston, B. Owen, K. Etheridge, C. Mann, Mrs D. Cushing, A. 
Whitcombe, Mrs D. Price, Mrs A. Gair, Mrs C. Andrews, Mrs P. Marsden, Mrs A. Leonard, 
A. Collis, A. Angel, Mrs P. Leonard, L. Jeremiah, W. Williams, A. Higgs, S. Morgan, S. 
Cook, J. Simmonds, J. Taylor, T.J. Williams, D.W.R. Preece and Mrs Eluned Stenner.  The 
Scrutiny Committee were asked to consider the Notice of Motion as set out in paragraph 
5.1 of the report and make an appropriate recommendation to Council, in accordance with 
Rule 11(3) of the Council’s Constitution. 
 

1.2 Members considered the following Notice of Motion: 
 

 Ban outright the giving of live animals as prizes, in any form, on Caerphilly County 
Borough Council land. 

 

 Write to the Welsh Government, urging an outright ban on the giving of live animals as 
prizes on both public and private land in Wales. 

 
1.3 The Committee heard evidence from Mr C. O’Brien of the RSPCA that supported the 

Notice of Motion.  Committee members were advised of the impact upon animal welfare 
and it was noted how Goldfish are easily stressed and very often suffer from shock, oxygen 
starvation or die from changes in water temperature, with many dying before their new 
owners get them home.  The Committee were advised that people that are acquiring a new 
pet should only do so after careful planning and consideration and anyone given Goldfish 
as prizes normally do not have an aquarium set up.  The RSPCA believe that a Scottish-
like outright ban on animals as prizes by Welsh Government is the most effective means to 
prevent animals being given as prizes.  

 
1.4 During the course of the ensuring debate, Members offered their support for the Motion and 

were keen that a ban is applicable to all parts of the county borough, it was felt that by 
supporting a ban on county borough land that this would highlight the issue and might 
encourage private landowners to follow suit.  The Committee sought further information on 
whether Licensing could also be used to prevent the offering of animals as prizes on 
applications for events on private land.  

 
1.5 Following consideration and discussion the Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny 

Committee unanimously endorsed the Notice of Motion and recommended its acceptance 
to Council.   

 
1.6 Council is now asked to consider the attached Notice of Motion. 

Page 21

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 9



 
  

Author: Catherine Forbes-Thompson, Scrutiny Manager – forbecl@caerphilly.gov.uk 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix Report to Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny Committee Report 17th September 

2019 – Agenda Item 7 
 

Page 22



 
 
 

ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 
17TH SEPTEMBER 2019 

 

SUBJECT: NOTICE OF MOTION – BAN ON ANIMALS AS PRIZES ON 
CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH LAND 

 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 

SERVICES 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 The Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny Committee is asked to consider the Notice 

of Motion as set out in paragraph 5.1 of the report and make an appropriate 
recommendation to Council, in  accordance with Rule 11(3) of the Council Procedure 
Rules which are set out in Part 4 of the Council’s Constitution. 

 
 

2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 A Notice of Motion has been received from Councillor J. Pritchard and is supported by 

Councillors J. Simmonds, Mrs E.M. Aldworth, W. David, P. Bevan, L. Whittle, G. Kirby, 
S. Morgan, A. Hussey, Mrs B. Jones, Mrs T. Parry, R. Gough, A. Farina-Childs, C. Cuss, 
G. Johnston, B. Owen, K. Etheridge, C. Mann, Mrs D. Cushion, A. Whitcombe, Mrs D. 
Price, Mrs A. Gair, Mrs C. Andrews, Mrs P. Marsden, Mrs A. Leonard, A. Collis, A. 
Angel, Mrs P. Leonard, L Jeremiah, W. Williams, A. Higgs, S. Morgan, A. Hussey, Mrs 
B. Jones, S. Cook, J. Simmonds, J. Taylor, T.J. Williams, D.W.R. Preece and Mrs 
Eluned Stenner. 

 
 
2.2 The Notice of Motion meets the criteria set out in the Council’s Constitution and in 

accordance with the Council’s Rules of Procedure in now referred to Scrutiny for 
consideration. 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 The Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny Committee are asked to consider the 

Notice of Motion outlined in paragraph 5.1 and make an appropriate recommendation to 
Council. 

 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 In accordance with the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Council’s Constitution. 

APPENDIX 

Page 23



5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 Councillor J. Pritchard requests in his Notice of Motion that Council: - 
 

(i) ban outright the giving of live animals as prizes, in any form, on Caerphilly 
County Borough Council land; 

 
(ii) write to the Welsh Government, urging an outright ban on the giving of live 

animals as prizes on both public and private land in Wales 
 
 
5.2 The following information from the RSPCA supports the Notice of Motion: - 
 
 Animal ownership is a big responsibility, one that should be planned and well thought 

out. Animals often do not have their welfare needs met both prior to, during and after 
being given as a prize. 

  
●  Since 2014, there have been 24 cases reported to the RSPCA of live animals being 

given as prizes in Wales. Of these 60% were goldfish being given at fairgrounds; 
however other animals including dogs, ducklings and horses were also reported during 
this period. 

 
●  Under the Animal Welfare Act 2006, it is an offence to give an animal as a prize to 

anyone under the age of 16, except within the family context. RSPCA Cymru believes 
that this does not go far enough, and would like to see legislation introduced similar to 
that within the Animal Health and Welfare (Scotland) Act 2006, which states that it is an 
offence to give an animal as a prize, regardless of age, except within the family context. 

 
●  Caerphilly County Borough Council has the opportunity to ban the giving of live animals 

as prizes on Council owned land, ensuring the welfare of these animals is not 
compromised, as well as raising public awareness of the issue and leading the way on 
ending this outdated practice. 

  
Animals as Prizes and the impact on their welfare 

  
RSPCA Cymru is firmly opposed to the giving of live animals as prizes. Animal 
ownership is a big responsibility that needs to be planned and well-thought out, in order 
to help provide the best quality of life for that animal - not a spur of the moment event 
resulting from a game. 

  
While a range of animals are given as prizes each year in Wales and the rest of the UK, 
goldfish are the animal most commonly associated with pets as prizes. Goldfish are 
easily stressed and very often fish that are won as prizes suffer miserably from shock, 
oxygen starvation or die from changes in water temperature and many will die before 
their new owners can get them home. 

  
People who are given goldfish as a prize do not normally have an aquarium set up so 
may keep them in unsuitable environments (such as fish bowls) and some fish may 
even get illegally dumped in local waterways. Fish bowls do not allow for appropriate 
oxygenation of the water and keeping fish in a small volume of water will also lead to 
high levels of ammonia, which can cause disease. Bowls provide limited or no 
opportunities for enrichment, shelter, company or a stable temperature, all of which are 
important factors in providing fish with a suitable living environment. 

  

Page 24



Acquiring an animal to be kept as a pet should be the result of careful planning and prior 
consideration. The prospective owner should have a clear understanding of the 
responsibilities involved and carefully consider whether they have, and will continue to 
have, the facilities, time, financial means and level of interest necessary to ensure a 
satisfactory standard of care for their animal prior to acquiring it. 

  
The need for a voluntary ban 

  
Ultimately, RSPCA Cymru believes that the introduction of a Scottish-like outright ban 
on animals as prizes on both public and private land by the Welsh Government is the 
most effective means to prevent animals being given thoughtlessly as prizes and 
therefore ensuring the welfare of these animals. 

  
However, in implementing a ban on Council-owned land, Caerphilly County Borough 
Council could deliver a powerful message to the local community, Welsh Government 
and their counterparts in England and other parts of the world, where a ban on the 
giving of animals as prizes has not yet been sanctioned. 

  
The Local Authority, as such, not only has the opportunity to ban the giving of live 
animals as prizes on their land, but also - in the process - to raise wider public 
awareness as to the impact that this practice has on the welfare of the animals. 

 
 

6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 As a notice of motion is a procedural matter and must be dealt with in accordance with 
Council’s Constitution, no assumptions have been made.  

 
7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1      The procedural rules regarding a Notice of Motion are contained within Council’s 

Constitution as adopted in May 2002.  The Council’s Constitution sets out the framework 
for the decision making roles and responsibilities which will impact on future 
generations. 

 
 
8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 The Notice of Motion is consistent with the five ways of working as defined within the act 

as it complies with the rules and regulations of the Council’s Constitution which sets out 
a clear framework for how the Council operates in particular decision making 
responsibilities which will consider the positive and negative impacts on future 
generations, long term resilience, economic, environmental and social capital. 

 
 
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  There are no specific equalities implications that directly affect the Council arising from 

the report. 
 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 

Page 25



11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no personnel implications associated with this report.  
 
 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 There has been no consultation undertaken. 
 
 
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 Local Government Act 1972 
 
 
 
Author:   Emma Sullivan (Senior Committee Services Officer) 
 
 
Appendices:  Appendix 1 Copy of Notice of Motion. 

Page 26



NOTICE OF MOTION 

BAN ON ANIMALS AS PRIZES ON CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH LAND 

 

To consider the undersigned Notice of Motion standing in the name of County Borough 

Councillor J. Pritchard and supported by the Councillors listed below. 

We the undersigned elected members call on the Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny 

Committee to support the Notice of Motion and make a recommendation to Council. 

We are concerned about the number of cases reported to the RSPCA each year, regarding 

pets given as prizes via fairgrounds, social media and other channels in Wales.  

We are concerned for the welfare of those animals that are being given as prizes. 

We are concerned that many cases of pets being given as prizes may go unreported each 

year in Wales. 

We therefore call on this Council to support a move to ban the giving of live animals as 

prizes, in any form, on Caerphilly County Borough Council land. 

We ask that the Council: - 

(i) ban outright the giving of live animals as prizes, in any form, on Caerphilly 

County Borough Council land; 

(ii) write to Welsh Government urging an outright ban on giving of live animals as 

prizes on both public and private land in Wales. 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

Councillor J. Pritchard  

Supported via email:  

Councillors J. Simmonds, Mrs E.M. Aldworth, W. David, P. Bevan, L. Whittle, G. Kirby, S. 

Morgan, A. Hussey, Mrs B. Jones, Mrs T. Parry, R. Gough, A. Farina-Childs, C. Cuss, G. 

Johnston, B. Owen, K. Etheridge, C. Mann, Mrs D. Cushion, A. Whitcombe, Mrs D. Price, 

Mrs A. Gair, Mrs C. Andrews, Mrs P. Marsden, Mrs A. Leonard, A. Collis, A. Angel, Mrs P. 

Leonard, L Jeremiah, W. Williams, A. Higgs, S. Morgan, A. Hussey, Mrs B. Jones, S. Cook, 

J. Simmonds, J. Taylor, T.J. Williams, D.W.R. Preece and Mrs Eluned Stenner. 

     

APPENDIX 1

Page 27



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 28



 
 

  
 

 

 
 COUNCIL – 23RD OCTOBER 2019  

 

SUBJECT: NOTICE OF MOTION – #IPLEDGE2TALK CAMPAIGN 
 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND HOUSING 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 Council is asked to consider the Notice of Motion as set out in Paragraph 6 of the report, and 

make an appropriate recommendation.  In accordance with Rule 11 (3) of the Constitution, the 
Mayor has agreed to allow the motion to be dealt with at Council, without being first discussed 
at an overview and scrutiny committee.  

 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 A Notice of Motion has been received from Councillor B. Jones, S. Morgan, C. Gordon, C. 

Cuss, Mrs E. Stenner, Mrs L. Phipps, N. George and Mrs P. Marsden. 
 
 2.2 The Notice of Motion meets the criteria set out in the Council’s Constitution and in accordance 

with the Council’s Rules of Procedure is now referred to Council for consideration. 
 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 Council is asked to consider the Notice of Motion outlined in paragraph 6.1 below. 
 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATION 
 
4.1 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution. 
 
 
5. LINKS TO STRATEGY 
 
5.1 The procedural rules regarding a Notice of Motion are contained within Council’s Constitution 

as adopted in May 2002.  The Council’s Constitution sets out the framework for the decision 
making roles and responsibilities which will impact on future generations. 

 
 
6. REPORT 
 
6.1 Councillor B. Jones requests in her Notice of Motion that Council:-  
 

1. Support the #IPledge2Talk suicide prevention campaign and will work to support 

positive mental health in the Caerphilly communities, in local schools, neighbourhoods 
and workplaces. 

 

Page 29

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 10



2. Makes mental wellbeing a priority across all local authority’s areas of responsibility. 
 
3. Appoints Councillor C. Gordon (Cabinet Member for Corporate Services) as this 

Council’s ‘Mental Health Champion’ 
  
 
6.2 The following information is provided by the Member in support of her notice of motion.   
 
 Reasons for the Motion 
 

In Wales more than 300 people die each year by suicide.  In 2017, 278 of the 360 lives lost 
were male.  We all have our part to play in reaching out and offering support to those in need 
by providing an opportunity to talk.  Many people feel unable to talk about mental health due 
to the stigma that surrounds admitting there’s a problem, we need to overcome this and we 
can all play a part in helping others feel comfortable enough to seek help. 
 
The #IPledge2Talk Campaign was recently launched at the Senedd in collaboration with Mind 
Cymru, as a Local Authority, we acknowledge our crucial role in promoting awareness of the 
mental health and wellbeing. 

 
Encouraging mental well-being should be a priority across all local authority’s areas of 
responsibility, including housing, community safety and planning. 
 
As a Council we can champion mental health on an individual and strategic basis by 
appointing an elected member as a ‘Mental Health Champion’. 

 
 
7. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
7.1 The Notice of Motion is consistent with the five ways of working as defined within the act as it 

complies with the rules and regulations of the Council’s Constitution which sets out a clear 
framework for how the Council operates in particular decision making responsibilities which 
will consider the positive and negative impacts on future generations, long term resilience, 
economic, environmental and social capital. 

 
 
8. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There are no specific equalities implications that directly affect the Council arising from the 

report. 
 
 
9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
 
10. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There are no personnel implications associated with this report. 
 
 
11. CONSULTATIONS 
 
11.1 There has been no consultation undertaken. 
 
 
 
Author: Emma Sullivan, Senior Committee Services Officer 

Page 30



NOTICE OF MOTION 

#IPLEDGE2TALK SUICIDE PREVENTION CAMPAIGN 

 

To consider the undersigned Notice of Motion standing in the name of County Borough 

Councillor B. Jones and supported by Councillor S. Morgan, Councillor C. Cuss, Councillor 

E. Stenner, Councillor N. George, Councillor P. Marsden, Councillor L. Phipps and 

Councillor C. Gordon. 

 

The #IPledge2Talk Campaign was recently launched at the Senedd in collaboration with 

Mind Cymru, as a Local Authority, we acknowledge our crucial role in promoting awareness 

of the mental health and wellbeing. 

Encouraging mental well-being should be a priority across all local authority’s areas of 

responsibility, including housing, community safety and planning. 

The authority will champion mental health on an individual and strategic basis and will 

appoint an elected member as its ‘Mental Health Champion’ within the Council. 

 

This notice of motion therefore asks Council to: 

1. Support the #IPledge2Talk suicide prevention campaign and will work to support 

positive mental health in the Caerphilly communities, in local schools, 

neighbourhoods and workplaces. 

2. Make mental wellbeing a priority across all local authority’s areas of responsibility. 

3. Appoint Councillor C. Gordon (Cabinet Member for Corporate Services) as this 

Council’s ‘Mental Health Champion’. 

 

       

Councillor Barbara Jones    Councillor Sean Morgan  

  

 

     

Councillor Carl Cuss     Councillor Colin Gordon 

Page 31



     

Councillor Eluned Stenner    Councillor Lisa Phipps 

 

 

 

   

Councillor Philippa Marsden    Councillor Nigel George 

 

Page 32



 
 

COUNCIL – 23RD OCTOBER 2019  
 

SUBJECT: ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018/19  
 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 
SERVICES 

 

 
1.1 The attached report is due to be considered by Cabinet on 16th October 2019. The 

recommendations of Cabinet will be reported verbally to Council on 23rd October 2019. 
 
1.2 Members will be asked to consider the recommendations of Cabinet. 
 
 
Author:  R. Barrett, Committee Services Officer, Ext. 4245 

 
Appendix: Report to Cabinet on 16th October 2019 
 
 

Page 33

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 11



 
 
 

CABINET – 16TH OCTOBER 2019  
 

SUBJECT:      ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018/19  
 
REPORT BY:  CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION & CORPORATE      

SERVICES  
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
   
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to Cabinet the Authority’s annual                

self-assessment of its performance, the Annual Performance Report for 2018/19, and 
to seek the views and approval of Cabinet prior to its presentation to Council on 23rd 
October and subsequent publication on the internet by 31st October 2019.  

 
 

2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The Annual Performance Report is a statutory requirement under the Local 

Government (Wales) Measure 2009, it forms an important part of the Council’s 
performance framework. The Council is required to assess its own performance and 
provide the public with a balanced picture of that performance.   

 
2.2 The Council must also report progress on the six Well-being Objectives it set for itself 

within the Corporate Plan 2018-2023. The annual report represents the first year’s 
progress on the five-year plan.  

 
2.3 The Wales Audit Office is required to check whether an authority has complied with the 

statutory duty and to issue a ‘certificate of compliance’ in response. The Annual 
Performance Report demonstrates to the Wales Audit Office how we have met our 
duty.     

 

 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 It is recommended that Cabinet comment on and approve the Annual Performance 

Report 2018/19 as set out in Appendix 1. 

 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 The Council is under a statutory duty to publish its Annual Performance Report by 

the 31st  October each year.  
   
 

APPENDIX

Page 34



5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 Cabinet endorsed the Council’s Corporate Plan (2018-2023) in April 2018, the Plan 

was reviewed a year later in June 2019 to ensure its continued relevance.  There are 
six long term Well-being Objectives within the Plan that Cabinet have set for the life 
of the administration.   

 
5.2 Each of the six Well-being Objectives has a series of outcomes which set out what 

the Council hopes to achieve on behalf of  citizens. This Annual Performance Report 
is the first year report against those six  objectives within the five-year Corporate 
Plan.   

 
5.3  Well-being Objective 1 – Improve education opportunities for all 
 

We have made good progress towards meeting this objective with a number 
of actions being completed.  There are other areas where substantial 
preparatory work has been undertaken involving key stakeholders to ensure 
collaborative models are developed.  It is still early days and much or our 
evidence is qualitative so we need to do more work to evidence impact on 
quality of life beyond exam results and specific indicators.  

 
5.4 Well-being Objective 2 – Enabling employment 
 

Despite the difficult economic conditions we have been able to make good progress on 
this objective.  Much of the delivery for employment support is funded by Welsh 
Government or the EU.  The current grants have either been at a standstill or have 
faced a reduction for the last few years. This is increasing the pressure on budgets as 
many are staff related costs and these have been increasing due to incremental pay 
rises, all of which has to be met by a standstill or reduced grant.  

 
 Although the objective is over 4-5 years, the benefits for upskilling and enabling people 
 into sustainable and well-paid jobs has a clear link to improving quality of life and lifting 
 people out of poverty.  There are some very positive results to report on this year. 

 
5.5 Well-being Objective 3 – Address the availability, condition and 
 sustainability of homes throughout the county borough and provide 
 advice, assistance or support to help improve people’s well-being 
 
 At the end of the first year of this five-year objective, we think we have made 
 partial progress against our outcomes.  We know from monitoring services 
 that we continue to make a positive impact on the people who access 
 housing related services. 
 

To achieve our outcomes, we continue to work proactively with local housing 
associations and other third sector partners to deliver services that make a real 
difference to people’s lives.  

 
5.6 Well-being Objective 4 – Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable 
 transport system that increases opportunity, promotes prosperity and 
 minimizes the adverse impacts on the Environment 
 

Evidence to date shows that during 2018/19, generally good progress has been 
made against several of the key outcomes. However, these are longer term 
programmes that will not show any radical or immediate changes within our 
communities at this early stage of planned works.  This means that we may not 

Page 35



have seen many significant changes to date as the development of strategies and 
proposals have been the priority during these initial phases. 

 
5.7  Well-being Objective 5 – Creating a county borough that supports a healthy 

lifestyle 
 

 This objective is judged to be progressing well. While it is difficult to demonstrate 
 impacts on outcomes on a year-by-year basis, we are able to demonstrate good  
 levels of service user and community participation across a broad range of 
 interventions and initiatives. 
 
 The adoption of the Caerphilly Sport and Active Recreation Strategy (2019-29) in 
 November 2018 is a significant milestone. It sets out the future purpose and 
 direction for the provision of sport and active recreation in Caerphilly County 
 Borough; it establishes the key principles and vision which will inform future 
 decisions and actions over the next 10 years.  

 
5.8 Well-being Objective 6 - Support citizens to remain independent and improve 

their Well-being 
 
 This objective is judged to be progressing well. In many areas, the outcomes have 

already been completed and are now considered the core business of the Social 
Services Directorate. In the remaining areas performance against the outcomes is on 
track to deliver this objective and most importantly, there are no emerging risks to 
report. 
 

5.9  Conclusion    
 
 At the end of 2018/19 we can demonstrate that we have made progress against 
 each objective.  We are able to identify what has gone well, what we have 
 learnt and where we need to improve.  
   

Following a review of the objectives and outcomes within the Corporate Plan    
(2018-2023) earlier this year, we concluded that the six objectives remain relevant. 

 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 Unless a specific objective is judged as delivered in its entirety, or and assessment of 
data and public consultation responses change direction significantly, it is assumed 
these Well-being Objectives will continue during the course of the remaining four 
years of the Corporate Plan.       

6.2 The resources to deliver  Well-being Objectives are assessed within the context of 
the current Medium Term Financial Plan. Resources will be assessed annually but 
may reduce as a consequence of changes in the Medium Term Financial Plan.  

 
7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1       Corporate Plan 2018-2023.   

 
The current Corporate Plan 2018-2023 can be found on the internet. See link below: 

Corporate Plan 2018-2023 Reviewed and updated for 2019/20 (PDF)  

8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 

Page 36

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Council-and-democracy/Corporate_Plan_2018-2023.aspx


 
8.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires a public body to set 

Well-being Objectives in order to maximise contribution to the social, economic, 
environmental and cultural well-being of an area.  The Corporate Plan 2018-2023 is 
the vehicle which sets out our Well-being Objectives and how they contribute towards 
the national goals.   

 

8.2  The Council is required to use the sustainable development principle in setting its 

well-being objectives and in delivering them. The Corporate Plan shows how the 
principle has been used in selecting the objectives. They have been chosen to 
consider the prevention of issues that may detrimentally affect well-being, each are 
considering the long-term factors that may improve of reduce well-being, the 
community view was used in setting the issues that local residents felt were 
important, the Corporate Plan considers how we act in collaboration with other 
bodies and how we integrate our activity across the authority and with partners. The 
detailed represented in the Annual Performance Report shows how we have 
continued to use the sustainable development principle in delivering our objectives. 

 
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  No specific Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken on this report; 

however the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 cites fairness and 
accessibility as part of the definition of what ‘improvement’ means.  Page 57 of the 
Performance Report provides an update on equalities work for the year 2018/19.  
Delivery of the Well-being Objectives maximises our contribution to all the national 
well-being goals including ‘A More Equal Wales’. 

    
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 Each Well-being Objective has a section identifying the resources needed to support 

delivery of the objective.  
 
10.2 The resources to deliver the Well-being Objectives are assessed within the context of 

the current Medium Term Financial Plan.  

 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no personnel implications arising from this report. 

 
 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 This report has been sent to the Consultees listed below and all comments received 

are reflected in this report. 
 
 
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 Local Government Measure 2009. 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



Author: Ros Roberts, Business Improvement Manager roberr@caerphilly.gov.uk 
 
Consultees: Cllr Barbara Jones, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance, 

Performance and Governance 
 Christina Harrhy, Interim Chief Executive  
 Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director for Education & Corporate Services  
 Mark S Williams, Interim Corporate Director, Communities  
 Dave Street, Corporate Director, Social Services 
 Steve Harris, Interim Head of Business Improvement and Section 151 

Officer  
 Rob Tranter, Head of Legal Services 
 Keri Cole, Chief Education Officer  
 Sarah Mutch, Early Years Manager   
 Paul Warren, Strategic lead for School Improvement  
 Rhian Kyte, Head of Regeneration and Planning  
 Tina McMahon, Community Regeneration Manager  
 Shaun Couzens, Chief Housing Officer   
 Mark Jennings, Housing Strategy Officer   
 Marcus Lloyd, Head of Infrastructure 
 Rob Hartshorn, Head of Public Protection, Communities and Leisure 

Services  
 Gareth Jenkins, Assistant Director, Childrens Services  
 Jo Williams, Assistant Director, Adult Services     
 Kathryn Peters, Corporate Policy Manager  
 Anwen Cullinane, Senior Policy Officer Equalities and Welsh Language 
 
 
Background:       Corporate Plan 2018-2023 Reviewed and updated for 2019/20  
 
Appendices:         Appendix A - Annual Performance Report 2018/19 
 

Page 38

mailto:roberr@caerphilly.gov.uk


Appendix A 

 
 Page 39



 Page 40



 

 

 
 
 

Contents 
  

 Section 1 A reflection on 2018/19 from the Interim Leader of           2 
                          the Council & the Interim Chief Executive                                       

  
Section 2 Introduction to our Well-being Objectives 2018/2019         5 

Section 3  Progress on our Well-being Objectives   6 
   2018/19 

Section 4  Performance comparisons 2018/19  47 

Section 5  Managing your money 2018/19 49     

Section 6  How we are working towards improved equalities  53 

  & the well-being of our future generations     

Section 7  What our regulators told us 61 

Section 8  How to contact us and how you can be involved     63 

 
 
 

1 Page 41



 

Reflections on the year 
2018/19  
 
From the Interim Leader of the  
Council, Cllr. Barbara Jones and 
Interim Chief Executive, 
Christina Harrhy 
 

It is with a great sense of pride that we provide 
this summary highlighting the many and varied 
achievements delivered by this council over the 
past 12 months. 
 

We both agree that 2018/19 was once again a 
challenging year due to the ongoing financial 
pressures facing us, but this has done nothing to 
dampen the drive, enthusiasm and commitment 
of our staff and elected members who have a 
shared ambition to improve the lives of everyone 
within our community. 
 
Over the last year we have also started our 
journey of transformation and the council has 
developed a blueprint which clearly sets out our 
direction of travel over the next few years. 

 

This strategy is called ‘#Team Caerphilly – Better 
Together’ and this reflects the team ethos that 
we are developing within the council and across 
the county borough as a whole.    

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Below we have outlined a few of the key 
developments during 2018/19 to provide a 
flavour of just some of the excellent work that is 
being delivered by #TeamCaerphilly! 
 

 Caerphilly county borough council continues 
to play a leading role in shaping and delivering 
the aspirations of the Cardiff Capital Region 
City Deal partnership. The ambitious City Deal 
programme will deliver a far-reaching package 
of benefits to the region totalling £1.2 billion 
in investment. Jobs, regeneration and 
improvements to the transport network are 
key objectives of the partnership over the 
coming years.  

 

 Cabinet gave the green light for £110 million 
of investment as part of Welsh Government’s 
21st Century Education and Schools 
programme in April 2018. 

 

 Cabinet Members agreed to allocate £530,000 
of savings to providing apprenticeship 
opportunities - creating 23 apprenticeships 
across a range of services.   

 

2 
Page 42



 

 

 We approved plans to tackle period poverty in 
schools, with a task and finish group 
established to explore the options of 
introducing free female sanitary products into 
secondary schools for those in year 7 to 11. 

 

 September saw the vision for the future of 
housing in the county borough agreed. This 
included a five year asset management strategy 
which outlines the overall approach that will be 
taken to ensure the councils housing portfolio 
continues to provide affordable, quality homes 
that meet customers’ needs into the future.  

 

 Ambitious objectives were announced to 
develop new council housing in the county 
borough, for the first time since 2003. 

 

 July saw public consultation on the council’s 
draft Sport and Active Recreation Strategy 
begin. The strategy set out a 10 year blueprint 
to get more people more active more often. 
The strategy was formally adopted in 
November 2018. 

 

 A number of sites in the Caerphilly county 
borough were awarded with the prestigious 
Green Flag Award in recognition of their 
excellent facilities and commitment to 
delivering great quality green space: 

 Morgan Jones Park 

 Ystrad Mynach Park 

 Brithdir Cemetery 

 Waunfawr Park 

 Parc Cwm Darran 

 Cwmcarn Forest 
 

 In April we welcomed over 100 guests to a 
special event to celebrate 100 years of the 
Royal Air Force. Hosted in Penallta House the 
event saw the Lord Lieutenant of Gwent 
Brigadier Robert Aitken, Air Commodore Adrian 
Williams, local school pupils, members of the 
public and RAF representatives join together to 
celebrate the milestone birthday.  
 
 

 

 The Childcare Offer for Wales was made 
available across the whole of the county 
borough saving working families up to £4,725 
in childcare costs.  

 

 In July we welcomed the start of works at Ty Du 
in Nelson.  The completed site will provide 200 
new homes and more than 6000 sq m of 
employment space. 
 

 Our 4 star rated campsite at Cwmcarn Forest 
introduced 5 luxury glamping pods. The site is 
also received another new addition when 
Caerphilly Adventures moved in to the site, 
offering rock climbing, abseiling, gorge walking, 
archery, mountain biking and surfing.   
 

 Crowds descended on Bargoed to celebrate our 
annual Armed Forces Day in June.  The event 
saw residents, business owners, invited guests 
and school pupils turn out to show their 
support.    

 

 Our IT department were presented with two 
Gold Performance Awards in recognition of the 
management of its address and street 
information databases. 

 

 In June full council voted unanimously to 
support the national campaign Lucy’s Law, 
which aims to ban and outlaw third party 
puppy farming.  

 

 A £4 million project to transform the 
Monmouthshire and Brecon canal into an 
adventure hub was given the green light for EU 
funding.   

 
 
 

3 
Page 43



 

 
 

 

 ‘Lifetime loans’ were launched in July to help 
eligible, vulnerable homeowners in the county 
borough make their homes safe and secure. 

 

 The council’s Asbestos Training Team won the 
2018 UK Asbestos Training Association 
(UKATA) Workforce Development Award in 
July. 

 

 Transcend Packaging moved its main 
production base into the Caerphilly county 
borough in 2018.  The packaging company has 
secured a major contract with McDonalds to 
supply biodegradable paper straws instead of 
traditional plastic products. 

 

 August saw us join a number of other councils 
in launching the ‘Proud Councils’ network, 
which highlights the partnership work that 
councils across the region do to advance 
equality within South Wales and to celebrate 
the diversity across our communities. The 
launch was held as part of Pride Cymru’s Big 
Weekend in Cardiff.  

 

 Islwyn High School was awarded the title of 
Best Educational Building in Wales. The school 
was constructed by Willmott Dixon 
Construction Ltd and designed by a 
collaboration between our ‘in-house’ Building 
Consultancy Department and AHR Architects 
Ltd. 
 
 
 

As stated, this really is just a snapshot of what 
has been delivered by the authority over the 
past year. We feel privileged to be able to lead 
this organisation and work alongside dedicated 
colleagues within the Corporate Management 
Team and Cabinet to improve the lives of our 
residents. 
 
We know that further tough times lie ahead, 
but we are confident that by adopting our 
#TeamCaerphilly approach we can meet these 
challenges and continue to deliver excellent 
services in a bold and ambitious way. 
 

 
 
 

 

 

4 

Page 44



 

 

Introduction to our  

Well-being Objectives 2018/19 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In 2018 we published our Corporate Plan for 
2018-2023 with new longer-term Well-being 
Objectives, further details of which can be found 
on the Council’s website; 
 
www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Council-
and-democracy/Corporate_Plan_2018-
2023.aspx 

 
The next few pages will tell you how we have 
performed against our intended outcomes under 
the following headings:  
 

 How have we performed overall in 
2018/19? 

 What went well? 

 What have we learnt and where do we 
need to improve? 

 What impact are we making? 

 What is our future focus?  
 
We must use the sustainable development 
principle in everything that we do. Known as the 
five ways of working, we must consider the long 
term, understand causes to prevent problems 
occurring, collaborate and integrate with our 
partners and, importantly, involve our 
communities.  How these principles were used to 
set each Well-being Objective can be found in 
Councils Corporate Plan 2018-2023 and relevant 
scrutiny reports for 2018/19.  

  

             

              

   
 
Logo – provided by Future Generations comission 

 

 
Our 6 Well-being Objectives 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

WBO 1  Improve education 
opportunities for all 

WBO 2   Enabling employment 

WBO 3   Address the 
availability, condition 
and sustainability of 
homes throughout the 
county borough and 
provide advice, 
assistance or support 
to help improve 
people’s well-being 

WBO 4  Promote a modern, 
integrated and 
sustainable transport 
system that increases 
opportunity, 
promotes prosperity 
and minimizes the 
adverse impacts on 
the environment 

WBO 5  Creating a county borough 
that supports a healthy 
lifestyle 

WBO 6  Support citizens to remain 
independent and improve 
their well-being 

Involve 

Integration 

Long-term 

Collaborate 

Prevent 

5 

For more detailed information on each              
Well-being Objective please click on the 
links above, which will take you the 
relevant Well-being Objective end of year 
Scrutiny reports. Page 45

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Council-and-democracy/Corporate_Plan_2018-2023.aspx
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Council-and-democracy/Corporate_Plan_2018-2023.aspx
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Council-and-democracy/Corporate_Plan_2018-2023.aspx


 
 

 

hief Executive 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Our Well-being Statement  
 
Over the past few years we have focused on 
improving young people’s outcomes and            
non-vocational qualifications to provide 
more opportunities for further education or 
employment. This is still a priority, however 
we need to take a more holistic view of 
education through understanding issues in 
children’s early years, for example how 
issues like poverty can affect attainment.  
Much has been done to develop a multi-
agency approach and learn from relevant 
research, such as work on ‘Adverse 
Childhood Experiences’ (ACES).  
 

We have also looked at how we can help 
those who are more vulnerable and unable 
to access a traditional pathway, as well as 
provide learning for young people and 
support for adults, to improve skills and 
provide more opportunities to enable 
employment. This objective is about 
preventing longer term issues for future 
generations that are associated with low 

skills and underachievement.  

 

 
 What are our outcomes? 
 

1. Aim to reduce the impact of poverty 
within early years.  

2. Raise standards of attainment.  
3. Reduce the impact of poverty on 

attainment for both vocational and non-
vocational qualifications to provide 
equality of opportunity. 

4. Help those who are not able to follow a 
traditional attainment path. 

5. Support learning that enables young and 
adult employment opportunities 
including a focus on ‘future skills’ 

6. Improve ‘digital skills’ for all ages.  
7. Improve the learning environment. 
8. Safeguard all children and young people 

in order to create a climate for learning, 
particularly for those most vulnerable. 

 

Well-being Objective 1 
Improve education opportunities for all 

6 

Page 46



 

 

 

How have we performed overall 
in 2018/19? 

 
We have made good progress 
towards meeting our well-being 
objective with a number of actions 
being completed.  There are a 
number of areas where substantial 
preparatory work has been 
undertaken involving key 
stakeholders to ensure collaborative 
models are developed.  It is still early 
days and much or our evidence is 
qualitative so we need to do more 
work to evidence impact on quality of 
life beyond national exam results and 
specific indicators.  

  
Our actions would not be as effective or be 
achievable if delivered by single teams and 
without a culture of collaboration and 
partnership working across the service and its 
partners.  This has been a focus over previous 
years to ensure that a wide range of 
contributions and perspectives shape strategy 
and implementation.  

 
 This has led to a co-production approach to 
the development of several pilots to ensure 
we all make the best use of our resources, an 
example of which is in the Flying Start Journey 
Map:  

 

 

‘My Journey Map’ was designed by the Parent 
Network and has an accompanying booklet to help 
parents chart children’s milestones in their 
development. This is being shared and distributed 
across relevant Health Service areas 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
We launched our ‘Shared Ambitions’ Strategy this year 
establishing a vision for improving Education across 
Caerphilly county borough.  
 

“Working together to deliver the best 
outcomes for our children” 
 
This strategy will help to deliver the Well-being 
Objective, improving outcomes and life chances for 

our learners. 
 
The Shared Ambitions Strategy will help to deliver 
outcomes 2, 3,6,7,8 and can be found at Shared 
Ambitions 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7  
Page 47

https://democracy.caerphilly.gov.uk/documents/s27984/Education%20Attainment%20Strategy%20and%20Action%20Plan.pdf?LLL=0
https://democracy.caerphilly.gov.uk/documents/s27984/Education%20Attainment%20Strategy%20and%20Action%20Plan.pdf?LLL=0


 
 

 8

  1 

 

  What went well? 
 

There has been significant work to support 
well- being of children and young people in 
schools including changing attitudes and 
knowledge of the impact of the home 
environment on children’s well-being.      
Well-being can mean different things to 
different people and could be physical, mental 
or emotional.  Improving the well-being of our 
children and young people, staff and school 
leaders is part of helping everyone achieve 
the best outcomes possible.  
  
The psychology of well-being is complex and 
impacts on many aspects of young people’s 
lives. This means our programmes to help 
young people can also be complex. These 
programmes are often referred to as 
‘attachment aware or relationship aware’, 
these are about the psychology and 
understanding of how young people develop 
relationships and how this can impact on their 
well-being.  

 
When adults who work with children or young 
people train to become ‘relationship aware’ 
they are in a better position to help them.  An 
example of this is a working partnership 
between Educational Psychology and our 
Health Colleagues on a system called WARRN 
(Wales Applied Risk Research Network).  
 
When a young person is at risk from a health 
point of view, for example, if they have 
suffered trauma from self-harm, they could 
return to school, where the school may be 
unaware of the event or be uncertain how to 
support the person who has experienced the 
trauma. We have explored how we can 
improve this process to make better 
connections between the various agencies 
mindful of the young person’s needs so they 
can continue at school with the relevant 
support, and this is progressing well.  
 
 

 
As well as how to create trauma informed 
schools, the majority of Caerphilly county 
borough Schools have received ‘Adverse 
Childhood Experience awareness training.  
 
We have secured capital funding for 
development of Welsh medium school places 
which will help to meet the growing demand for 
Welsh medium education.  We have also secured 
capital funding for both English and Welsh 
medium childcare provision across the county 
borough. The model to develop childcare 
provision in purpose built environments on 
school sites will support transition for young 
children as well as give parents improved well-
being with the security of knowing their child’s 
needs can be met without transport or disruptive 
transition between locations for education and 
childcare. 
 
In addition capital grant funding was also 
secured for the development for a community 
hub for athletics and sporting provision at Rhiw 
Sir Dafydd Primary School site.  
 
Over recent years we have successfully delivered 
the 21st century schools Band A programme 
which was £56.5 million on seven significant 
state of the art school builds.  The successful 
management of the project expanded the 
number of schemes delivered. 
 
Families First is an early intervention/prevention 
programme which supports families with a 
variety of needs. Each Local Authority shapes the 
Programme based on local need and is one of 
our steps to tackling poverty.  
   
18 projects delivered comprehensive family and 
young people support to non-Flying Start 
families. Following support, 94% of individuals 
report improved family relationships; 98% of 
participant parents reported improved ability to 
support their child’s learning and development 
needs and 99% of individuals report an 
improvement in family resilience.  

 

Page 48



 

 

 

Despite an increase in 2017/18, trends over 
time indicate that work to reduce the 
number of young people not in education, 
employment training (NEET) is working as we 
reduce from 2.5% to 2.2% which was 40 out 
of 1853 year 11 pupils.  

Other employment support such as our 
Inspire 2 Work is making very good 
progress. 
 
To improve digital competency in schools 
the Education Achievement Service (EAS) 
recruited six Caerphilly Learning Network 
schools to lead on the development of 
Information Communications Technology 
(ICT) and digital competence across the 
region.  

Estyn Inspections indicate good provision for ICT across 
Caerphilly schools and we have recently re-established 
the ICT Digital Skills Team consisting of ourselves, EAS 
and schools representation.   
 
This is a developing area and we need to implement a 
single plan to ensure that delivery of service by all 
partners is comprehensive and avoids duplication. 
 
Attainment at Foundation Phase remains above the 
Wales average, the slight decline in 2018 is less than 
the Wales rate. Since 2016, attainment at Key Stage 2 
has been above the Wales average.   
 
Attainment at Key Stage 3 is still below the Wales 
average, although the rate of improvement is above 
the Wales rate.  The attainment detail below with 
more narrative can be found in our Shared Ambition 
Strategy which can be found at www.caerphilly.gov.uk 
 

 
 

What have we learnt and where do we need to 
improve? 
 
Attainment at Key Stage 4 shows a faster rate of 
decline than that across Wales. Performance is still 
below the Wales average, with the gap widening. 
We need to improve our performance at Key Stage 
4 and place a further emphasis on the performance 
of boys and pupils identified as receiving free school 
meals across all phases of education.  
 
In terms of school support we want to reduce the 
number of secondary schools requiring the highest 
levels of support (classed as amber and red) and  
 

9 
Page 49

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/


 
 

 

reduce the number of secondary schools 
in Estyn Statutory Categories and in ‘Estyn 
Review’ following statutory inspection.  
 
We will be improving our data collection, 
tracking and monitoring for vulnerable pupils, 
so we can make more effective use of the data 
to improve their performance and ensure 
higher quality educational experiences. 

 

What impact are we making?  
 
Our data shows there is an increase in demand 
from parents across the county borough for 
Welsh medium schools. When we looked at the 
impact of increasing places in Welsh medium 
schools we identified that the impact would be 
an increase in the need for child care too.  
 
So we jointly pooled our resources within 
departments, schools and the third sector to 
bid for money to increase both Welsh medium 
school places and Welsh Medium child care 
provision.  
 
As a result we have been successful in getting 
funding to provide additional childcare across 
the county borough by 2021 totalling 
£5.1million investment. We have also secured 
funding totalling £5,458,495 for infrastructure 
so we can increase places in Welsh medium 
schools through a range of building options.   
 
We secured £850,000 to further expand places 
in childcare in our Welsh medium school 
settings. This significant Welsh Government 
investment over the coming years will increase 
places and accessibility and provide purpose 
built structures to meet the needs of all 
children and young people. This will contribute 
towards the national well-being goal of a 
‘Wales of thriving Welsh language’.  
 
Our Families First programme showed 3,874 
of 4,317 (90%) participants reported 
improved emotional and mental well-being 
over the two year period. 97% of children 
improved their speech, language and 

communication skills and 96% of families felt they 
could contribute to changes in their lifestyles and 
behaviours. 

 
The Welsh Government free child care offer saw 
funded placements increase from 550 placements 
(April to August 2018) to 1190 funded placements 
(September 2018 to March 2019) reducing the cost 
of childcare to eligible working families. The majority 
of applications are from parents earning less than 
£26,000 per year, helping families’ access 
employment and tackling poverty.  
 
Attendance at both primary and secondary schools 
improved in the Local Authority rankings. Secondary 
attendance improved from 21st in 2016-7 to 18th in 
2017-18. Primary attendance improved from 17th in 
2016-17 to 14th in 2017-18.   
 
Primary results remain stable over the past 4 years and 
Secondary has increased slightly overall since 2015 but 
this is still just below the All Wales average, so we 
know there is more to do.   
 

 
 
We have contributed to the implementation of an 
initiative called SPACE (Single Point of Access for 
Children’s Emotional Well-being) for multi-agency 
discussion on mental health referrals for children and 
young people. This model will have a single referral so 
that families only have to tell their story once and this 
will identify the most suitable service.  This aims to 
reduce duplication and prevent numbers of families 
sitting on multiple waiting lists. 

 
 
 
 

10

  1 

Page 50



 

 

 

What is our future focus?  
 
 Review the quality of provision for 

vulnerable groups and tracking of 
outcomes to ensure high quality 
education experiences. 

 Improve attainment at Key Stage 4, 
attendance and exclusions across 
Caerphilly schools through delivering 
our Shared Ambitions Strategy  

 Delivering Band B of the 21st Century 
Schools programme following the 
success of our Band A 21st Century 
Schools programme 

 Undertake a review of Post 16 and 
Single Sex provision across Caerphilly 
county borough and further improve 
our surplus places position 

 Prepare the organisation and our 
schools to ensure the requirements of 
the new Additional Learning Needs 
(ALN) Act can be met so that all children 
with additional needs can be 
appropriately supported.  

 Engage stakeholders in shaping future 
delivery. 

 
 

 

  
 
 
 

 
 

We have assessed our objective based on the Future 
Generation Commissioner’s ‘Journey Checker’.  The 
Journey Checker is a way of assessing how well we 
are developing and delivering our objective within 
the sustainable development duty.  At this time we 
believe we are being more adventurous in delivering 
this objective and are moving closer to ‘owning our 
ambition’, which means we are stepping out of a 
‘business as usual’ mind set and acting to change 
how things are currently done.  

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

CASE STUDY 
We are one of the first Authorities to pilot a new programme called ‘Roots of Empathy’.  This is an 
exciting and practical way of promoting emotional well-being for younger children. 
 
To give a simplified explanation, a practitioner (maybe a teacher) will bring their baby to the class 
room for young children to observe, and learn through observing interaction with the baby, asking 
what makes the baby smile. What makes the baby sad?  Can the children recognise emotions and the 
reasons for them?  The purpose is to help young children grow empathy and understanding of 
behaviour through observing behaviours in others. This could help them in their relationships with 
their classmates or in their home environment. 
 
Word of mouth feedback is very positive, however as practitioner training is extensive we are 
carrying out a detailed evaluation and will be able to tell you more about the results of this next 
year.    

11   1 Page 51



 

 

 

TIVE 2 
Improve outcomes for all learners, particularly those that 
are vulnerable to achievement 

  

 

Our Well-being Statement  
 
This objective is about enabling people to be 
ready for jobs to help prevent longer term 
problems that are associated with low skills 
and lack of employability. We want to 
contribute towards overall issues that affect 
employment within the local economy. 
 
For those further from the job market we offer 
many related support programmes to help get 
in a position to be work ready. Low level 
mental health need, low motivation, lack of 
confidence and other factors play a part in 
getting a person to a position where they are 
ready to train, or write a CV, or attend an 
interview.  We have to recognise that we 
cannot, as a Local Authority, solve 
unemployment issues as national economic 
growth is one of the key determinants in the 
availability of jobs, though we continue to do 
deliver as much support as we are able.   
 
Employment is still seen as one of the main 
routes out of poverty so it is important that we 
look at ways we can equip people for 
‘sustainable’ and ‘well paid’ employment. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
Education is a key factor in this and we have 
outcomes to improve our standards of 
attainment within our Education Objective 
(WBO1).  

 

What are our outcomes? 
 

1. Aim to reduce the impact of poverty by 
supporting people into better 
employment prospects.  

2. Meet the targets of the European Social 
Fund programmes of getting people 
skilled and into work. 

3. The Council will use the value of its third 
party spend to bring greater social and 
economic regeneration to the 
communities we serve. 

4. Use investment in the housing stock to 
increase the number of skilled, qualified 
workers and tackle worklessness by 
providing apprenticeship, training and 
work placements with our in-house 
workforce and building contractors.  

5. Ensuring local delivery of work 
programmes aligns and maximises 
opportunities from the Cardiff Capital 
Region City Deal. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Well-being Objective 2 
Enabling employment 

12   1 

Page 52



 

 

 

How have we performed overall in 
2018/19? 
 
Despite the difficult economic conditions we have 
been able to make good progress on this 
objective.  Much of the delivery for employment 
support is funded by Welsh Government or the 
EU.  The current grants have either been at a 
standstill or have faced a reduction for the last 
few years. This is increasing the pressure on 
budgets as many are staff related costs and these 
have been increasing due to incremental pay 
rises, all of which has to be met by a standstill or 
reduced grant.  
 
Although the objective is over 4-5 years, the 
benefits for upskilling and enabling people into 
sustainable and well-paid jobs has a clear link to 
improving quality of life and lifting people out of 
poverty.  There are some very positive results to 
report on this year. 

 

What went well? 
 
Our ambitious Programme for Procurement 
endorsed by Cabinet (May 2018), gives greater 
opportunity for more ethical procurement of the 
local supply chains.  Examples are; 3 suppliers 
working on our Housing and WHQS programme 
retained 17 jobs, created 41 new full time 
employments opportunities within 3 businesses 
and 9 apprenticeships were secured.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

All three contractors also purchased 100% of 
their materials with Caerphilly based suppliers; 
further supporting the local economy. A 
number of local community initiatives were 
supported including the sponsorship of local 
rugby and sports teams, donations to CCBC 
Armed Forces day and the Christmas Food 
Bank appeal. This would not be achieved 
without an innovative approach to 
Procurement and local Small Medium 
Enterprises (SME’s) 

 
We have supported a good number of people 
into employment. The Communities for Work 
(CfW) programme continue to be a huge success 
with a range of support offered to tackle specific 
barriers. Working alongside Communities for 
Work is the new Welsh Government funded 
Communities for Work Plus programme, which 
started in April 2018. One of the benefits of the 
plus programme is the ability to support anyone 
regardless of eligibility, this means employment 
support is available to all residents of the county 
borough. 
 
One particular area to note is our growing joint 
planning with the early years programme, Flying 
Start.  This is building links with parents who are 
currently economically inactive.  Positive links 
with local Job Centres, including regular daily 
and weekly attendance at Job Centres by 
Employment Mentors, has ensured that they 
remain our primary source of referrals into the 
employment programmes.  
 
 
 
 

13 Page 53



 

 

 

We have co-located all our staff to deliver 
different employment and community 
empowerment work in joint locations within 
communities, and this provides more informal 
opportunities for engagement, such as walking 
groups and coffee mornings, amongst those 
who may be less likely to engage with more 
traditional employment outreach activities.   
 
The Bridges into Work 2, Inspire 2 Work (I2W) 
and Working Skills for Adults 2 partnership 
working is extremely successful especially at 
networking events and employability 
events.  Outreach meetings in libraries are 
working well and making access to support 
easier for participants living around the county 
borough.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Cardiff Capital Region City Deal (CCR) 
unveiled its five-year business plan for South-
East Wales last year with the overarching 
economic objective to create 25,000 new jobs 
and leverage £4billion in private sector 
investment. One of our aims is to ensure the 
skills programmes we deliver locally supports 
and benefits from the Cardiff City Region City 
Deal.  To date, the CCR Graduate Scheme is the 
only scheme that has been piloted as part of the 
skills programme, although more are being 
developed.  While there is no specific fund set 
aside for skills as part of the City Deal (there was 
a cost estimate made for an earlier version of 
the Skills for the Future programme that has 
 

evolved significantly), there will be initiatives 
that will deliver outputs from the original 
business case, such as apprenticeship starts, 
upskilling etc.   
 
These will focus more on the approach and 
prioritisation outlined in the CCR Industrial and 
Economic Growth Plan.   
https://www.cardiffcapitalregion.wales/wp-
content/uploads/2019/02/ccr-industrial-and-
economic-growth-plan-english.pdf 
 
The Nurture Equip and Thrive (NET) project 
has started very well and has developed 
excellent links with the Housing Team.  NET 
provides advice and guidance to those people 
in employment who are suffering in-work 
poverty due to under employment in order to 
obtain additional hours or a second income 

  
One of the main Wales Housing Quality 
Standards (WHQS) programme contractors has 
employed two members of staff that were 
previously unemployed for over 26 weeks, 
employed 3 apprentices and provided 4 work 
experience placements during 2018/19. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

What is Communities for Work?  
It is a programme that gives intensive 
mentoring support for those who have been 
unemployed for 12 months or more within the 
most deprived areas (formerly known as 
Communities First areas) in Caerphilly.   It is 
funded by the EU European Social fund.   
 
What is Communities for Work Plus? 
It is a new Welsh Government funded 
employability support aiming to “fill the gaps” 
with mentoring-based help for people who do 
not meet the formal criteria to access other 
programmes. 
 

14 
Page 54

https://www.cardiffcapitalregion.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/ccr-industrial-and-economic-growth-plan-english.pdf
https://www.cardiffcapitalregion.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/ccr-industrial-and-economic-growth-plan-english.pdf
https://www.cardiffcapitalregion.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/ccr-industrial-and-economic-growth-plan-english.pdf


 

 

 

We are working closely with CADW to develop 
their 5-year masterplan for investment in 
Caerphilly Castle, to develop the visitor 
economy further for the benefit of the town and 
the region.  Regular meetings are now 
scheduled between the two organisations to 
ensure we work together towards achieving the 
goals set out in our plans for that area.    
 
Caerphilly has been identified by Welsh 
Government’s Valleys Task Force as a Strategic 
Hub and the Council is working collaboratively 
with the Valleys Task Force to drive forward 
economic growth in the town 
 

What have we learnt and where do we 
need to improve? 
 
Engagements for Priority 1 (adults 25+) within 
the Communities for Work (CfW) and 
Communities for Work Plus (CfW+) programme 
remain under target.  This has been a problem 
since the start of the programme as participants 
within this priority group (especially those 
within the “Economically Inactive” category) 
have proved particularly difficult to engage and 
often have the most complex barriers to work.   
 
It has become apparent that this is a problem 
across a range of employment programmes and 
across Wales in general. However staff are 
always considering new and innovative ways to 
address this issue and we are planning a greater 
and more effective use of social media to 
promote the projects, the opportunities 
available and some of our various successes 
 
Within the Bridges into Work 2, Inspire 2 Work 
and Working Skills for Adults 2 programmes, 
referrals are slow at the moment, but that 
seems to be across the board as partners are 
reporting similar issues.  For example, the 
waiting lists for additional support in mental 
health are incredibly long, support in this area is 
limited across the county borough. This is a 
challenge when looking at how the employment 
support programmes could work better.  
 
 
 

Transport also remains a significant barrier for 
participants, with a lack of transport to 
accommodate early starts and shift patterns 
often resulting in participants being unable to 
take up opportunities.   
 
Delivery of our Well-being Objective number 4 
(Improving Transport) will have an impact on 
enabling employment as it aims to provide a 
more integrated and effective transport 
network and address transport challenges.  

 
Our Employment Mentors work hard to build 
relationships with employers across the county 
borough, resulting in a range of opportunities 
including placements and paid employment, it 
has been recognised that this process has taken 
place on an ad hoc basis so far, with links being 
made as and when a participant has required a 
relevant opportunity; a more joined-up 
approach is required.  So we have recruited a 
new Business Liaison Officer with the aim that 
this role will be able to implement a more 
joined-up approach and provide a more 
consistent offer to employers, with the aim of 
truly linking the needs of unemployed 
participants to labour market demand across 
the county borough. 
 

What impact are we making?  
 
Our Programme for Procurement is already 
impacting the way in which we do business. It 
enables opportunities for local jobs directly and 
through our wider supply chains.  It supports 
wider environmental issues such as the 
reduction of plastics through our supply chain 
and carbon reduction in the use of 

environmentally friendly products.  
 
Recent figures gathered through the Welsh 
Government Community Benefit Measuring Tool 
show that, in the case of the WHQS contractor’s 
for every £1 spent by the council £2 was 
reinvested in the Welsh economy.  This 
‘multiplier effect’ comes as a result of 
contractors employing people from Wales who 
then reinvest the money back into our 
communities. 

15 

Page 55



 

 

 

The amount of people we are helping to get 
into the job market or providing opportunities 
to enable people to gain qualifications to 
improve their job potential and well-being is 
shown below:  
 
Communities for Work - 246 people have 
been supported into employment across 
both programmes. Below is the breakdown 
of the main work programmes for 2018/19 
 

 

 

What is our future focus?  
 
We are working with partners Mott 
McDonald/The Urbanists who have 
developed a place-making plan which aims to 
have a dramatic effect on Caerphilly town 
centre. This will improve the town’s overall 
visitor offer and help Caerphilly Castle 
become a Tier One Visitor attraction. We will 
help the town centre diversify so it no longer 
just focuses on retail. In an environment 
where retail is under pressure across the UK, 
diversifying the town’s offer will allow the 
town to become more resilient to this 
change. 
 
Implementing some of the main projects 
within the place-making plan will encourage 
more activity in the visitor economy, bring 
more dwellings to the town centre and 
provide more opportunities for non-retail 
businesses to prosper. For example:  
• A new landmark public transport 

interchange at the site of the current 
bus/rail station 

• A quality hotel development at Park Lane, 
Caerphilly 

•  CADW implementing their 5-year 
masterplan to turn the castle into a Tier 
One destination 

• A new mixed use development at 
Pentrebane Street, Caerphilly 

• Developing our residual land at Caerphilly 
Business Park 

• Identifying opportunities for expansion at 
Castle Court Shopping Centre 

• Developing a restaurant quarter around 
the Twyn area of the town 

 
This will bring benefits to the wider community; 
provide local job opportunities; allow local 
businesses to benefit from new local supply 
chains; and bring construction opportunities 
when these projects are developed. 
Understanding the issues of planning at a town 
and county borough level will help to stimulate 
business growth, and ensure we are joining up 
with relevant programmes like the Cardiff 
Capital Region City Deal.   
 

16 
Page 56



 

 

 

If you need help or support for getting 
back to work – click here  

 
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Services/Jobs-
and-training/Help-to-get-back-to-
work/Community-Regeneration-Employment-
Support     

Or you can call 01685 844353 

 
 
 

A new programme of external works is about 
to take place in Lansbury Park housing estate, 
Caerphilly.  We will work closely with the 
contractors to create training and placement 
opportunities. Work is underway to schedule 
an ‘Induction to Construction’ event which is 
designed specifically to raise awareness of the 
many employment opportunities on offer 
within construction and engage people who 
may not have thought of a career in that 
sector.  
 
We will continue to work through our action 
plan and address the challenges that we have 
identified. 
 
We have assessed our objective based on the 
Future Generation Commissioner’s ‘Journey 
Checker’.  The Journey Checker is a way of 
assessing how well we are developing and 
delivering our objective within the sustainable 
development duty.  At this time we believe we 
are owning our ambition in delivering this 
objective, which means we are stepping out of 
a ‘business as usual’ mind set and acting to 
change how things are currently done. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
CASE STUDY 
Reducing the impact of poverty has 
always been a collaborative effort, for 
example, employment staff from 
Communities for Work and 
Communities for Work Plus are working 
more effectively in partnership with the 
programme for young children (O-4 
years of age) called ‘Flying Start’, to 
build links and involve parents who are 
currently not in employment or 
unemployed.  As a result of work led by 
the teams and mentors, a group of 
parents from Graig- y-Rhacca who 
attended a ‘train the trainer’ training 
course have developed their own 
session/course based on their own real 
life experiences.   They are planning to 
deliver this to other parents who have 
completed the Flying Start ‘STEPS’ 
course, to motivate them towards 
employment. 
 

 

17 Page 57

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Services/Jobs-and-training/Help-to-get-back-to-work/Community-Regeneration-Employment-Support
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Services/Jobs-and-training/Help-to-get-back-to-work/Community-Regeneration-Employment-Support
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Services/Jobs-and-training/Help-to-get-back-to-work/Community-Regeneration-Employment-Support
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Services/Jobs-and-training/Help-to-get-back-to-work/Community-Regeneration-Employment-Support
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Services/Jobs-and-training/Help-to-get-back-to-work/Community-Regeneration-Employment-Support


 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

     Our Well-being Statement      
                                

Research has consistently demonstrated a 
strong link between housing, health and well-
being.  The issues we are trying to address are 
complex and multifaceted and cannot be 
addressed through one single action. There are 
over 79,157 dwellings in the county borough, of 
those 10,717 are Local Authority housing, 4,000 
are Social Landlord, 54,711 are owner-occupied 
and 9,730 privately rented*. The type of housing 
in these sectors varies widely. There are 
currently over 4,500 households waiting on the 
common housing register and demand is far 
outstripping supply.  The most recent 
assessment of the housing market showed a 
requirement for affordable homes with the 
largest requirement being for single person 
accommodation.  
 
Studies have shown that the number of 
incidents of poor mental health is higher for 
social housing tenants than it is for 
homeowners. Social Landlords in the county 
borough have noted an increasing number of 
new tenants with mental health conditions who 
require support, in order to sustain their 
tenancies. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Despite the additional services that have 
been put in place the number of people 
requiring assistance with homelessness or 
known to be rough sleeping has still 
increased. Relieving this issue will reduce 
costs to the Council, the Criminal Justice 
system and the Health Service. 
 
 
 
In response to changes in legislation the 
council has increased services to address 
homelessness.  Despite the additional 
services that have been put in place the 
number of people requiring assistance with 
homelessness has still increased. Relieving 
this issue will not only greatly assist those 
affected but will also reduce costs to the 
Council, the Criminal Justice System and the 
Health Service. 
 
Many households in the county borough are 
on low incomes and struggling to 
adequately heat their homes leading to fuel 
poverty, which makes people more 
susceptible to poor health and reduced 
well-being. By providing advice and making 
homes more energy efficient, including the 
development of new energy efficient 
homes, we can help reduce the overall level 
of fuel poverty.  Social landlords support the 
health and well-being of people in their own 
homes via the delivery of adaptations, to 
promote independent living. 
 
*Latest Dwelling stock estimates by tenure 
March 2019 Stats Wales.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Well-being Objective 3 
Address the availability, condition and sustainability 
of homes throughout the county borough and 
provide advice, assistance or support to help 
improve people’s well-being 

 

18 Page 58



 

 

 

What are our outcomes? 
 
1a. All council housing is improved to meet the 

Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS) by 
2020.  

1b. Implement an Asset Management Strategy 
to maintain the condition of the housing 
stock following WHQS attainment.  

2.  Increase the provision of new, affordable, 
social housing that meets the ‘Lifetime 
Homes’ principles and identified needs, 
whilst supporting the governments’ 
innovative housing programme. 

3.   Deliver adaptations to support the health 
and well-being of people in their homes and 
maximise the delivery and appropriate use 
of accessible homes. 

4.  Increase the supply of housing by supporting 
opportunities to bring long-term, empty 
homes in the private sector back into use.  

5. Tackle the determinants of poor health and 
well-being by improving housing conditions 
in the private sector. 

6.  Prevent homelessness and tackle rough 
sleeping. 

7.  Sustaining tenancies by providing a range of 
housing related services. 

8.  Help reduce fuel poverty by making homes 
more energy efficient and providing people 
with advice on how best to heat their 
homes. 

 

How have we performed overall in 
2018/19? 
 
At the end of the first year of this five-year 
objective, we think we have made partial progress 
against the overall objective.  We know from 
monitoring services that what we have delivered 
throughout the year that we continue to make a 
positive impact on the people who access these 
services. For example the income maximisation 
work being undertaken by Tenancy Support 
Officers has helped to increase household income 
and sustain people’s tenancies, older and 
vulnerable tenants have been provided with 
housing support services within their homes, 
homelessness prevention activities have impacted 
positively on reducing rough sleeping,  
 

Energy efficiency works to the housing stock 
have contributed towards addressing fuel 
poverty and reducing carbon emissions. 
Adaptations have also helped disabled people 
to maintain independence in their homes.  
 
To achieve our outcomes, we continue to 
work proactively with our housing association 
and other third sector partners to deliver 
services that make a real difference to 
people’s lives, e.g. providing new affordable 
housing to meet identified housing needs and 
advice and assistance to help people manage 
their finances.      
 
Ongoing budget pressures facing Local 
Government and the requirement to satisfy 
the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan 
priorities may impact on our ability to 
improve on current levels and standards of 
service delivery in some areas and to identify 
additional resources to invest in new services 
to meet the changing needs and aspirations 
of our service users. 

 

What went well? 
 
Good progress has been made against each of 
the eight outcomes which underpin this 
objective.   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

18 

19 Page 59



 

 

 

Some examples of achievements to date include: 

 The WHQS investment programme is on track 
to be completed by the target date of 
December 2020.  

 We know from tenant surveys that customer 
satisfaction is reasonably high.  

  

 
 
We also know from research carried out by 
Carmarthenshire Council and Swansea University 
that the improvements made to tenants’ homes 
as part of the WHQS programme have a positive 
impact on health and well-being.   
 

We have spent approximately £2m providing 
a range of adaptations to enable disabled 
people to live independently in their own 
homes, including funding services provided by 
Care & Repair our third sector partners. 

 

We have assisted council housing tenants to 
sustain their tenancies, developed training 
for key staff and reviewed our housing 
management procedures. We have provided 
support and assistance to tenants to 
mitigate the impact of welfare reform, which 
involved making 2035 home visits.  
 

This support is important because changes by 
the UK Government to simplify the Welfare 
Benefits System and to make sure people are 
better off in work than on benefits have, in 
some instances, had a negative impact on 
household income, affecting tenancy 
sustainability with the potential to increase in 
homelessness, which ultimately can impact on 
service delivery.  
 

This year our housing association partners 
accessed £9m of Welsh Government funding 
to build new affordable homes in the county  
borough to address housing needs identified  

by the Council.  In addition, the housing 
associations have accessed a different Welsh 
Government funding stream to build 57 highly 
insulated homes in two locations and the 
Council has purchased 5 long-term, empty 
properties that will be fully refurbished and 
added to our stock. 
 

We have provided financial assistance to 
landlords to support bringing long‐term 
empty homes and buildings in the private 
sector back into beneficial residential use.   
Through our direct action we have 
returned 36 long‐term empty homes in the 
private sector back into beneficial use. 
 

We have undertaken a number of projects 
to prevent homelessness and tackle rough 
sleeping including working with other local 
authorities to produce a Regional 
Homelessness Strategy and worked in 
partnership with Cornerstone, our third 
sector partner, to provide the Church’s Night 
Shelter Project to provide relief for street 
homeless. 
 

 
 

We have developed a referral process, in 
association with Citizens’ Advice, for Council 
tenants threatened with homelessness, 
where a Debt Relief Order or Bankruptcy 
Order could be considered to prevent the 
homelessness situation.  To date 38 tenants 
have been referred. 
 

We have tackled fuel poverty through a range of 
methods including applying for Welsh 
Government funding to carry out energy 
efficiency improvements, providing energy 
efficiency advice and referring people to the NEST 
energy efficiency improvement scheme.  
 

20 Page 60



 

 

 

 
 

We currently use a range of methods to 
communicate the results of the actions undertaken 
and these include press releases through the 
Council’s Communications Team or through a 
partners’ team, through social media, the Council’s 
website and via a regular tenants’ newsletter. 
 

What have we learnt and where do we 
need to improve? 
 
We have noted a number of challenges throughout 
the year that have impacted on the following 
outcomes/actions: 
 

The percentage of tenants, who are satisfied with 
the external works carried out under the WHQS 
investment programme, albeit reasonably high, is 
lower than those satisfied with internal works.   
 
As a result we are looking to improve the level of 
communication provided to tenants and improve 
feedback with the aim of increasing satisfaction. 
 
Our housing association partners were 
unsuccessful in their application for Welsh 
Government funding under year 2 of the 
Innovative Housing Programme.  The respective 
developments will still go ahead, however, with a 
lesser energy efficiency standard applied.   

 

To fully utilise the Welsh Government Affordable 
Housing Grant, which will increase the number of 
new Council homes, we have restructured and 
created a post that will lead on this process. As we 
were unable to fully use the grant in 2018/19 due 
the approval process and resources available to 
deliver the new build project, Welsh Government  

have agreed to carry over the 2018/19 funding 
into 2019/20 with some caveats in relation to 
the timescales for drawing down the money.  
 

We returned 36 empty properties in the private 
rented sector into use and this is positive, 
however this is not as many as we had planned 
and we hope to improve the numbers in the 
coming years.   
 

The Shared Housing Pilot Project for single 
people under 35 was terminated due to issues 
with occupancy agreements and the cost 
implications under the Housing Benefit ‘exempt 
status’ categorisation.  Other options will now 
be considered to address the housing needs of 
this group. 
 
 
 

21 

Page 61



 

 

 

Despite the additional support provided to our 
tenants who have been impacted by Universal 
Credit, rent arrears have increased. This will 
continue to be monitored and assessed to 
determine the underlying causes and what 
additional interventions and support could be 
provided. 
 

What impact are we making?  
 
It is difficult at this early stage of the objective to 
be make predictions about the likely outcome of 
this objective at year five, however our evidence 
shows should progress be maintained over the 
course of the next four years, we will see definite 
improvements to social and some private housing 
that would improve people’s well-being.  
 
 

 

What is our future focus?  
 
We will continue to meet the Welsh 
Government deadline and have all WHQS 
work completed by 2020.  
WHQS Improvement Scheme 
 
Caerphilly Homes are in the process of drafting a 
Development Strategy which aims to set out a 
clear framework to increase the number of 
affordable homes (including those for social rent) 
available within the county borough.  
 
 

The strategy will set out an ambitious 
programme to develop homes that focus on 
meeting housing demand, are ‘Future Ready’ 
and energy efficient. The strategy will also 
propose that the Council’s in-house workforce 
should be involved in delivering aspects of 
some new developments as a means of using 
and enhancing existing skills and retaining 
jobs. 
 
In 2018, we accessed Welsh Government 
funding specifically designated to assist local 
authorities to increase housing supply.  This 
funding was used to purchase 5 ex-council 
properties from the Private Sector, which will 
be refurbished by our in-house team and 
returned to our social rented stock to address 
housing needs.  During 2019 we plan to 
undertake the purchase of more ex-council 
properties and convert the surplus communal 
areas of two sheltered housing schemes into 
flats, before the funding opportunity ends.   
 
We are also exploring opportunities with our 
housing partners to build new council homes 
on sites we own in the county borough via 
this funding stream.  
 
Two of our housing association partners are 
currently on-site in the county borough 
developing highly efficient and low 
environmental impact homes using Passive 
House technologies. Linc Cymru is 
redeveloping the former Magistrate’s Court in 
Caerphilly, having accessed Welsh 
Government Innovative Housing Funding and 
United Welsh are redeveloping the site of the 
former Cwm Ifor Primary School.  The housing 
associations plan to undertake an evaluation 
into the success of their schemes by 2021/22.   
 

This information will be used by the Council 
and its partners to assess the use of Passive 
House technologies on future developments.  
 

 

22 Page 62

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Services/Housing/Repairs,-adaptations-and-improvements/WHQS-improvement-scheme


 

 

 

 
 
Passivhaus (or Passive House) is an advanced low 
energy construction standard for buildings. By 
using high performance insulation and effectively 
eliminates heat loss to create a building with very 
low environmental impact.  
 
We have assessed our objective based on the 
Future Generation Commissioner’s ‘Journey 
Checker’.  The Journey Checker is a way of 
assessing how well we are developing and 
delivering our objective within the sustainable 
development duty.  At this time we believe we 
are being more adventurous in delivering this 
objective and are moving closer to owning our 
ambition, which means we are stepping out of a 
‘business as usual mind set and acting to change 
how things are currently done. 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

CASE STUDY  
In 2018 tenants in Claude Road, 
Caerphilly received internal 
improvements to their homes as part of 
the Council’s Welsh Housing Quality 
Standard (WHQS) programme.  
 
Improvements carried out to one 
tenant’s home included a new kitchen, 
bathroom and electrical rewire.  
Following an assessment with an 
Occupational Therapist from the 
Council’s WHQS team the tenant’s bath 
was replaced with a walk-in shower to 
make it easier for them to access.  As 
the tenant had a hearing impairment, an 
under pillow vibration pad was also 
fitted as part of WHQS improvements 
which links to the smoke detector to 
alert them in case of a fire during the 
night. 
 
The tenant said “The team who worked 
in my home were very considerate, 
making sure they cleaned up at the end 
of every day and checking that I was OK 
during the work.  Even when we had bad 
snow and the team couldn’t work, they 
still came to make sure that my heating 
and cooker was working.  My new 
kitchen and bathroom are fabulous; I 
never thought they could improve them 
so much. “If I’d paid for the work myself 
I wouldn’t have got better.” 
 
 

 
 

 

23 

Page 63

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwi3m7u8wZbkAhWbQRUIHWsACQUQjRx6BAgBEAQ&url=http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa%3Di%26rct%3Dj%26q%3D%26esrc%3Ds%26source%3Dimages%26cd%3D%26ved%3D2ahUKEwi3m7u8wZbkAhWbQRUIHWsACQUQjRx6BAgBEAQ%26url%3Dhttp://www.johngilbert.co.uk/?p%3D15986%26psig%3DAOvVaw1fXL7Mtg2hcrsofikNXUYX%26ust%3D1566564420723971&psig=AOvVaw1fXL7Mtg2hcrsofikNXUYX&ust=1566564420723971


 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 Team

 

CASE STUDY  
Family J consists of a married couple plus 4 children who had been on the common housing 
register since 2016.  One child (aged 9) has quadriplegic cerebral palsy and is a wheelchair user. 
The family lived in a 2 storey, 4 bedroom property and were physically carrying their child up 
down stairs, which was deemed a risk to both the parents and the child.  The property was 
assessed by an occupational therapist (OT) and technical officers as not being suitable for 
adaptation. 
 
The family ideally required a level access 4/5 bedroom bungalow or a 2 storey property with either 
ground floor bedroom/bathroom/WC accommodation or the provision of a through floor lift to 
access a first floor bedroom. The property needed ease of access and circulation space for use of a 
wheelchair and a wet room facility. The family wished to remain close to the children’s school. 
They were assessed by the Housing Occupational Therapist (OT) as requiring a highly accessible 
property and it was identified that there was no suitable accommodation currently in the stock 
profile. 
 
In 2017 we worked together with First Choice Housing Association (FCHA) to resolve this family’s 
housing difficulties.  The Housing OT considered several available privately owned properties.  In 
January 2018, we viewed a suitable property that with adaptions would meet the family’s long-
term needs.  It was also in the school catchment area and the family’s first preferred rehousing 
area.  FCHA purchased the property using grant funding.  We worked with FCHA to ensure that the 
property met the child’s needs by providing ramped access, provision of an en-suite bathroom to 
the ground floor bedroom and a ceiling tack host. Following completion of refurbishments and 
adaptations the family moved into the property in December 2018.  The family has described the 
move to be ‘life changing’ for them all. 
 

 

24 

Page 64



 

 

 

    
 
 
 
 

 
 
Our Well-being Statement 
 
Through public consultations, partnership and 
collaborative working arrangements our 
evidence shows that the current infrastructure 
is not coping well as there is too much traffic 
congestion, traffic which is not able to readily 
cross valleys; trains and buses can be expensive 
or don’t necessarily run at suitable times or 
locations to get to work. Existing trains are tired 
and there is a high dependency on car 
usage.  We need to continue to develop our 
transport infrastructure as over 24% of 
Caerphilly’s population don’t have access to a 
car. 

 
This means that good quality transport 
networks are crucial for the safeguarding and 
well-being of our environment and the people 
it serves, to enable and enhance access to 
education, jobs, leisure and other quality of life 
opportunities.  It is also important that we 
conserve the use of resources and consider the 
impact of carbon emissions on our planet. In 
addition congestion affects the health of our 
communities.  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Connectivity throughout our county borough 
and our bordering areas is vital for, bringing 
work into our localities (attracting businesses 
and sustaining or improving our economy and 
minimising commuting), for our citizens to be 
able to access work for accessing wider 
facilities and opportunities that offer prosperity 
for our future generations. 

 
Evidence shows that, investment is urgently 
needed to secure our future and ensure that 
our people and communities prosper, stay 
healthy, become more cohesive, have equal 
access to opportunities and that we all 
minimise our global impact.  The Welsh 
Government (WG), Department for Transport 
(DfT) and Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 
(CCRCD) working groups, along with a 
consortium of Local Authorities recognise this 
and will, over the next couple of years, address 
some of the findings through a series of large 
investment programmes and by implementing 
as a contribution the proposed suite of 
outcomes we want to happen for this objective. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
        
 
 
 

25 

Well-being Objective 4 

Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable transport system 

that increases opportunity, promotes prosperity and minimizes 

the adverse impacts on the Environment 
 

Page 65



  

 

 

What are our outcomes? 
 
This objective has 6 medium to long-term 
outcomes:   

1. Work with the delivery of the South 
Wales Metro, aiming for the Core 
Valley Lines Electrification programme 
as part of the delivery of the wider 
South Wales Metro scheme. 

2. Develop the CCBC Regeneration 
Strategy and Delivery Plan with 
connectivity at its heart, promoting 
accessibility, the Metro and digital and 
broadband improvements  

3. Promote the reinstatement of 
passenger services to the Nelson to 
Ystrad rail line under the Metro 
programme. 

4. Promote the reinstatement of the 
Caerphilly to Newport rail route link as 
part of the Metro programme. 

5. Promote a sustainable bus network that 
supports accessibility and connectivity 
both locally and regionally through a 
road network that encourages efficient 
bus operation. 

6. Maximise transport connectivity within 
and between modes by integrating the 
delivery of the CCBC Active Travel Plan 
with the Metro to improve bus, rail, 
walking and cycling provision to increase 
accessibility and add value to the Metro 
proposals. 

 

How have we performed overall in 
2018/19? 

 
Evidence to date shows that during 2018/19, 
generally good progress has been made 
against several of the key outcomes. 
However, these are longer term programmes 
that will not show any radical or immediate 
changes within our communities at this early 
stage of planned works.  This means that you 
may not have seen many significant changes 
to date as the development of strategies and 
proposals have been the priorities during 
these initial phases. 

 

What went well? 

 
The transport passenger business ‘Keolis Amey’ was 
awarded the Grant Agreement to become the new 
operator and development partner within Transport 
for Wales (TfW). They have taken over operational 
control of rail services (since October 2018) and 
commenced detailed design for the Core Valley 
Lines Transformation Programme.  The Rhymney 
line is part of the South Wales Metro Project (2019 
to 2024). 

 
A £30m jointly funded investment package for 
Metro plus schemes has been agreed with Welsh 
Government beginning 2019/20. The key project for 
the Council within this programme is, The Caerphilly 
Interchange. This will be a transport hub, located at 
the top of Caerphilly town to provide access to; bus; 
coach; rail and other transport links to other areas 
or regions.  This is part of the wider Cardiff Capital 
Region City Deal aim to improve connectivity. Initial 
feasibility work has already started on the 
Caerphilly Interchange.  

 
‘A Foundation for Success’, the Council’s 
overarching Regeneration Strategy for the 5-year 
period 2018-2023, was adopted by Council in July 
2018.  In addition, a draft Economic Development 
Strategy - ‘Delivering Prosperity’ has been produced 
along with a ‘Caerphilly Masterplan’ (approved by 
Council in July 2018) and the ‘Ystrad Mynach 
Masterplan’ (approved by Council in April 2019).  

 
Further Masterplan’s for Greater Blackwood, Heads 
of the Valley and Newbridge to Risca corridor are 
planned and/or being progressed. 
 

Discussions in relation to Nelson to Ystrad Mynach 
rail passenger services have started, but are at a 
relatively early stage. This line is still currently used 
as a freight line, transporting coal from the 
opencast mine in Merthyr Tydfil. 

 

Work has commenced on protecting a route between 
Caerphilly to Newport, to potentially allow the 
reinstatement of a public transport rail line.  The 
previous rail line was removed some time ago, this 
would require a significant investment, so would not 

26 

Page 66



 

 

 

be considered until towards the end of the 
15-year Metro programme.  
Other alternatives may need to be 
considered to achieve an improved transport 
link. 
 

Details of Transport for Wales (TfW's) 
proposed Station Investment Programme for 
the Core Valley Lines are still being worked 
on.  Initial contact has been made with TfW 
to inform them of CCBC's rail and Metro plus 
priorities. 
 

Improvements to bus stops in the Caerphilly 
basin have been substantially delivered and 
will be completed in 2019/20.  Design of the 
proposals for the 200 Mid Valley area bus 
stops has begun with delivery expected in 
2019/20 to 2020/21, subject to securing 
Welsh Government Local Transport Fund 
(LTF) funding.  So far, £144k of LTF funding 
from WG has been allocated for the Mid- 
Valleys. 
 

Delivery of new ticket machine infrastructure 
based on GPS technology for the smaller bus 
operators was implemented throughout 
Wales during the first half of 2018.  This will 
provide a wider platform for real time 
vehicle tracking and integrated ticket 
solutions (including contactless transactions) 
in the future.  The Council manages the 
system on behalf of 16 of the 22 Welsh 
Councils.  

 

Transport for Wales (TfW) are 
developing proposals for a four trains 
per hour service on the Ebbw Valley Rail 
line, which would require significant 
improvements to Crumlin and 
Newbridge stations, with a view to 
delivery by 2024.  Details are awaited 
and discussion with TfW has started. 

 

We completed delivery of the Nelson to 
Ystrad Mynach - active travel route, and 
have identified development 
opportunities for other active and local 
travel routes.   

The Pwll-y-Pant highway improvement scheme 
(roundabout) is now completed and significant 
improvement in traffic flows through this busy 
junction have been recorded, with a significant 
number of compliments received on the success of 
the scheme. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The Transport for Wales franchise commits to 
providing four trains per hour for the Rhymney line 
between Rhymney and Cardiff, 6 trains per hour 
between Caerphilly and Cardiff, brand new tri-mode 
trains (battery, electric, diesel) which will 
exclusively run emission free (battery or electric 
only) from Cardiff to Rhymney; with improved 
Sunday timetables, new digital ticketing platforms 
and discounted travel for younger people.  The new 
trains will be operational by December 2023.  

 
Stagecoach the bus operators have been awarded 
an ‘Ultra Low Emission Bus’ (ULEB) grant from the 
Department for Transport (DfT) to purchase a fleet 
of 16 fully electric buses and the associated 
charging infrastructure to operate the network of 
local routes in the Caerphilly Basin.  These should 
be fully operational by April 2020.   

 

27 
Page 67



  

 

 

Feasibility work on an Integrated Transport 
Hub at Caerphilly, as part of a wider 
regeneration scheme for the town, is 
currently being taken forward to stimulate 
and facilitate new business, retail, leisure and 
tourist opportunities. 
 

What have we learnt and where do 
we need to improve? 
 
Due to the number of organisations involved 
in the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal, 
governance arrangements are somewhat 
complex and it has taken time to progress 
delegation to the Regional Transport 
Authority, affecting delivery of the Strategic 
Development Plan. 

 
Progress with formalising the working 
relationship with Welsh Government (WG) 
and Transport for Wales (TfW), particularly 
for the development, prioritisation and 
delivery of Metro plus schemes, has been 
slow.   
 
However, it is anticipated that the Welsh 
Government’s White Paper on ‘Improving 
Public Transport’ and consideration of an all 
Wales Joint Transport Authority, will provide 
the forum to clarify and agree this and to 
secure a sustained form of multi-year 
funding to support it.   There are some 
challenging timescale requirements to spend 
the WG element of funding by the year end 
and the possibility of similar difficulties in 
future years. 
 
The Council like other public bodies is under 
extreme financial pressure, particularly with 
regards to revenue funding, and this has led 
to cuts in the budget for subsidised bus 
services and the introduction of bus station 
departure charges, which may well result in 
a contraction of the bus network, which may 
contribute to isolation in some communities.  

 
 
 

What impact are we making? 
 
The collaborative/partnership working and 
stakeholders involvement across the region, 
should see enhancements to our transportation 
infrastructure and the communities it connects 
over time.  Most schemes proposed within this 
objective are medium to long-term in nature, so 
no major impacts are identifiable at present, 
although we have enhanced some fluidity 
(improved connectivity and flow of traffic) to the 
highways and footpaths network.  (See example 
case studies below). 
 
Delivery of this objective over time should 
contribute to and have impacts on: 
 
- Improved connectivity (cohesive communities) 
- Enhanced freedom of movement (gateway to 
 opportunities) 
- Jobs prospects  
- Inward investment 
- Quality of life  (healthier environments) 
- Prosperous and sustainable communities 
- The resilience of our communities and 
 citizens 
- Our Global Responsibility through making 
 best use of available  technologies  
 
 

What is our future focus?  
 

We will continue the collaborative and multi-partner 
agency work to deliver on the six outcomes listed for 
this objective.  We have an action plan to monitor the 
progress and our Corporate Plan identifies our main 
projects and the dates for completion.  We have 
reviewed this objective and find it is still relevant and 
success towards it helps other objectives such as the 
enabling employment  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

28 
Page 68



 

 

 

Some general data (at 2018) worth 
noting for Caerphilly are: 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CASE STUDY 
Active Travel Route - Enhancement 
A section of an ‘Active Travel Route’ was 
completed (2018/19) joining Ystrad Mynach to 
Nelson, as a result of being awarded funding to 
carry out works on the INMC17 route outlined in 
CCBC’s Active Travel Plan, to create a continuous 
footway link from Nelson, to Ystrad Mynach 
railway station. 
The work, began on Monday 29th October 2018, 
involved introducing two new sections of footway 
(footpaths), removing the need for pedestrians to 
cross the busy A472 road, with additional 
improvements also being made to the existing 
footway. The works improved the safety of 
pedestrians using this route, and enhanced the 
link between these two communities 
The work was undertaken in two phases, to 
minimise disruption to the existing network and 
highway users, with works predominantly 
delivered during off-peak hours. 
 The Active Travel (Wales) Act is a Welsh 
Government initiative to improve sustainable 
transport throughout Wales, and looks to achieve 
higher levels of walking and cycling by promoting 
them as a mode of transport. This particular 
programme forms part of this scheme. 
For information about Active Travel, refer to the 
Active Travel webpages: 
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Services/Transpor
t-and-parking/Active-Travel. A section of an 
‘Active Travel Route’ completed joining Ystrad 
Mynach to Nelson 
 

 

29 Page 69

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Services/Transport-and-parking/Active-Travel
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Services/Transport-and-parking/Active-Travel


  

 

 

We have assessed our objective based on the 
Future Generation Commissioners ‘Journey 
Checker’.  The Journey Checker is a way of 
assessing how well we are developing and 
delivering our objective within the sustainable 
development duty.  At this time we believe we are 
being more adventurous in delivering this 
objective and are moving closer to ‘owning our 
ambition’, which means we are stepping out of a 
‘business as usual’ mind set and acting to change 
how things are currently done. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

30 
Page 70



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Our Well-being Statement 
 
Our data shows that residents living in areas of 
higher deprivation have statistically higher levels 
of ill health and live more years in poor health 
compared to those who live in the least deprived 
areas.  Life expectancy varies considerably 
according to where people live within the county 
borough. Data between 2005 and 2009 
evidences the gap for healthy life expectancy, 

between those residents living in our most and 
least deprived communities,  

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Unhealthy lifestyles arise, at least in part, due to  
the inequalities in the circumstances in which 
people are born, grow up, live and work.  
While progress is being made there is still much 
work to be done to reduce these inequalities.  A 
significant amount of partnership working has 
taken place over recent years and has 
contributed towards this improvement in 
health inequalities. However, it is important to 
note that there have been recent changes that 
have altered the operational focus of this work. 
This brings with it both challenges and 
opportunities i.e. changes to Communities First, 
Flying Start and continuing budget reductions, 
so we have to look at different ways to support 
improved health and influence where we can.   

 

What are our outcomes? 
 
1. Aim to reduce inequalities in health across 

the county borough. 
2. Creating a place that supports a healthy 

lifestyle. Including: 
 Contributing towards the Welsh 

Government target to reduce smoking 
prevalence rates to 16% by 2020. 

 Reducing the overweight and obesity rates 
in children.  

 Understand and address what helps to 
encourage people to become more 
physically active.  

 

Well-being Objective 5 
Creating a county borough that supports a healthy 
lifestyle 

31 Page 71



 

 

How have we performed overall in 
2018/19? 
 
The objective is judged to be progressing well. 
Whilst it is difficult to demonstrate impacts on 
outcomes on a year to year basis, we are able 
to demonstrate good levels of service user and 
community participation across a broad range 
of interventions and initiatives. 
 
The adoption of the Caerphilly Sport and Active 
Recreation Strategy (2019-29) in November 
2018 is a significant milestone. It sets out the 
future purpose and direction for the provision 
of sport and active recreation in Caerphilly 
County Borough, it establishes the key 
principles and vision which will inform future 
decisions and actions over the next 10 years. 
For the purposes of the Strategy we define 
sport and active recreation as the range of 
sport and physical activity opportunities 
provided by Caerphilly County Borough Council 
in conjunction with our key partners.   
 

What went well? 
 
Flying Start continues to deliver support 
services to approximately 2500 children in the 
most disadvantaged areas of the borough 
annually.  For example the responsive feeding 
team pilot has enabled many mums to access 
the right support at the right time for their 
feeding needs reducing anxiety for the parents 
and ensuring the baby continues to thrive. 
Other health programmes include baby clubs 
which include weaning, child development, 
healthy eating and physical activity 
information.  
 
The Council’s Sport and Active  
Recreation Strategy recognises the multiple 
challenges of poor levels of health, particularly 
in certain areas of the county borough; 
reducing budgets; the number of facilities we 
have to maintain and the deteriorating quality 
of our older buildings; and increasing 
population and consumer demand.  
 
 

Over the 10 year life of the Strategy the Council 
intends to invest in 4 high class strategic multi-
functional facilities, which it will manage directly. 
 
The range of opportunity for all sectors of the 
community to engage with and lead physically 
active lives continues to expand. The service is 

making good progress towards its aim of More 
People, More Active, More Often.   
 

We continue to increase the number of our 
schools participating in the Daily Mile, which gets 
children out of the classroom every day to run or 
jog with classmates making them fitter, healthier 
and more able to concentrate in the classroom.    
 

 
 
During the year a variety of interventions, such as 
the ‘Let’s go Girls’ campaign (see Case Study page 
37) have been delivered by the Sports 
Development Team.   

 
After a review of the Elite Caerphilly Scheme 2018, 
athletes are now able to apply all year round as 
this allows the athlete to access the support at the 
time of selection rather than at a single point in 
the year which may not coincide with their 
selection.  This has proven a great success with 
over 20 athletes currently signed up to the 
programme accessing our leisure centres. 

 
 
 
 

32 

30 

Page 72



 

 

 

Disability Sport engaged with over 3,600 
participants in 2018/19 offering a variety of 
opportunities for those with disabilities to take 
part in sport and physical activity. This 
contributed to the 84,000 participants that took 
part in Sport Caerphilly activities during the 
year.   
 
Our Disability Six Nations, in its 15th year, was 
held at the Centre for Sporting Excellence.  The 
flagship event was hosted by Sport Caerphilly 
and Trinity Fields School.    

 

The event has grown significantly in recent 
years attracting over 320 young people from 
schools across South Wales for a day of rugby 
and fun with the Dragons Rugby stars.  
Former Welsh rugby player, and now WRU 
Performance Director Ryan Jones, who is a 
longstanding supporter of the event, also 
attended. He helped inspire participation in a 
variety of new activities, such as hitting tackle 
bags. We were also joined for the second time 
by the Deputy Minister for Culture Sport & 
Tourism, Dafydd Elis-Thomas AM, and the 
leader of Caerphilly Council Cllr David Poole. 

 

 
 
The number of recorded visits to our country 
parks continues to increase. Usage in 2018/19 
is the highest level recorded to date, the most 
popular activity being walking.  The country 
parks are popular facilities that offer a range 
of experiences and events and the good 
summer of 2018 undoubtedly increased visits.  
 

 
 
We continue to promote access and use of 
our parks and countryside through cycling 
and walking and events such as the 
“Caerphilly Challenge”.  Every year the 
Caerphilly Challenge Series, in conjunction 
with Caerphilly Adventure Group, Caerphilly 
Ramblers, Islwyn Ramblers and other 
partners, sets a serious challenge for walkers 
and runners that encourages people of all 
abilities to get out walking in their local 
natural environment. This year there were 
512 entrants with 50 volunteers involved 
with preplanning and delivery on the day 
totalling 440+ volunteer hours. 

 

The Healthy Hearts programme, run in 
partnership with Aneurin Bevan University Health 
Board, continues to be a popular and beneficial 
initiative. It is becoming more sustainable as 
trained volunteers take more of a lead and 
expand the walking programme, with at least 4 
healthy walks taking place each week. Each of 
these walks attracts 20 – 60 participants. 
 

Data from the National Survey for Wales in 
2017/18 showed that adult smoking was at 18%.  
There has not been any further data released 
since then, but the rate of adult smokers has 
continued to decline over the last decade.  Welsh 
Government’s Tobacco Control Action Plan for 
Wales (2012) set a target to reduce adult smoking 
to 16% by 2020.  
 
During the year we have successfully prosecuted 
three “private sellers” for the sale of tobacco.  No 
sales were made during underage test purchase 
attempts.   We continue to educate traders and  
 

33 
Page 73



 

 

awareness is ongoing, ‘No Proof No Sale’ advice is 
issued to new businesses and during programmed 
inspections.   
 
We want to provide an environment that 
supports healthy lifestyles within the borough 
and to help with this, we have adopted and 
implemented a Tree Strategy to provide a 
managed approach to risks from trees ensuring 
that our green and public spaces are accessible 
and safe. We have put resources in place to 
enable the strategy to be implemented.    

 

 
 
What have we learnt and where do we 
need to improve? 
 
Resourcing interventions that will result in a 
positive shift in population health outcomes is 
always likely to be a challenge.  However, we 
continue to look for ways to ensure the best 
and fairest distribution of resources at our 
disposal and seek to work with partners to 
maximise collaborative opportunities. 
 
We continue to promote proof of age cards to 
deter underage sales, but we can no longer 
facilitate these in schools due to changes in 
requirements associated with General Data 
Protection Regulation. 
 
The target of every child swimming 25m by age 
11 continues to be a challenge.  The service has 
adopted an intervention at an earlier stage to 
address a clear gap in participation and 
progress. The role of schools is vital to support 
developing this aspect further.  

 
Caerphilly Sport and Leisure Services encourage 
younger participation in school swimming 
sessions and therefore in Caerphilly the 
children that attend school swimming are year 
3/4 rather than year 6. 
 

 
 

What impact are we making? 
 
Whilst it is difficult to evidence the impact that 
we have made, service user and community 
participation levels remain good, which should 
have a positive impact on the health of those 
participating.  Life expectancy is increasing and 
participation rates are rising. 
 
This objective is all about preventing poor health 
and building more resilience in our citizens over 
the life course to enable a better quality of life.   
 
At the heart of people’s ability to work, learn and 
enjoy a good quality of life, good health and 
well‐being is the starting point for all other 
opportunities and anything we do to facilitate 
this can only have a positive impact on achieving 
this objective. For example: 
 

 We continue to increase the number of 
schools participating in activities such as 
the Daily Mile which help to engage and 
motivate all children to be physically 
active, this will help us to reduce childhood 
obesity in the borough. 
 
 
 

34 Page 74



 

 

 

 Feedback from families engaged in Flying 
Start is very positive and has highlighted 
their increased awareness of support 
available to families through the health 
team 

 

 We want to ensure that all activities are 
accessible to all.  A school sport survey 
undertaken in October 2018  showed that 
the gender gap of participation is closing, 
with 41% of girls now participating in Sport 
& Physical activity at least three times a 
week.   The survey also showed that 71% of 
girls in Caerphilly are now confident in trying 
new activities. 

 

 We have recorded the highest levels of visits 
to our parks and countryside.  

 
What is our future focus?  
 
This objective starts from pre-pregnancy and   
ages 0‐3 within the Flying Start programme, 
through to healthy places and activities for 
adults and children.   
 
We will continue to encourage physical activity 
within our communities in the most 
appropriate and effective ways through support 
that reaches out and works with others or 
through specific intervention programmes 
targeting communities, to create supportive, 
welcoming, attractive and easy to access 
activity opportunities. 
 
In addition, next year we will run our health 
outreach (shared contract) service to deliver 
responsive feeding programmes and baby clubs 
as part of child development. 
 
In the summer of 2019 we will run and increase 
the number of School Holiday Enrichment 
Programme (SHEP) places.  This project provides 
food, nutrition and physical activity in the 
summer holidays helping areas that have a high 
number of children on free schools meals.    
 
 
 

Following the adoption of the Caerphilly Sport 
and Active Recreation Strategy 2019-29 we will 
now begin to implement some of the actions. 
Click on the link below; 
 
www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Consultat
ions/SportActiveRecreation/DRAFTSportActiveRe
creationStrategy.aspx 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We have assessed our objective based on the 
Future Generation Commissioner’s ‘Journey 
Checker’.  The Journey Checker is a way of 
assessing how well we are developing and 
delivering our objective within the sustainable 
development duty.  At this time we believe we are 
being more adventurous in delivering this 
objective and are moving closer to ‘owning our 
ambition’, which means we are stepping out of a 
‘business as usual’ mind set and acting to change 
how things are currently done. 

 
35 Page 75

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Consultations/SportActiveRecreation/DRAFTSportActiveRecreationStrategy.aspx
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Consultations/SportActiveRecreation/DRAFTSportActiveRecreationStrategy.aspx
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Consultations/SportActiveRecreation/DRAFTSportActiveRecreationStrategy.aspx


 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
  

CASE STUDY 

Positive Futures & Sporting Pathways 

 

‘Positive Futures’ is a sport based social inclusion programme that supports greater physical 

activity using sport as a tool to engage young people in local community facilities, and through a 

referral process from a range of partnership agencies. 
 

This year 700 young people registering with the programme.  Our 8 outreach areas, which take 

place in the hot spots of anti-social behaviour, have worked with Gwent Police to contribute to 

reducing antisocial behaviour by up to 75%.  After engaging with the young people in our 

communities we linked with some of our local Boxing Clubs to provide outreach provision at the 

club through Positive Futures. Caerphilly Amateur Boxing Club (ABC) created a new session 

specifically for the young people from Lansbury Park between 4pm-5pm every Monday. After a 

programme of school taster sessions we are proud to say that the club has grown in membership 

and is attracting those who were causing some of the antisocial behaviour in the community. 
 

Sporting Pathways is a targeted approach to helping clubs develop their playing, coaching and 

volunteer base. Our work with the 16 national governing bodies of sport continues to make a big 

impact. This year we have seen improvement in boxing in particular, with the likes of Cwmcarn 

ABC and Caerphilly ABC linking up with the police to reduce antisocial behaviour and increase 

members at the clubs.   We have over 350 skilled and passionate volunteers actively deployed in 

the community who have delivered over 6000 hours in community sport.  This year we invested 

in a coach observation specialist and the results have been amazing. Yet again our workforce 

development pathway is turning out some of the best coaches in Caerphilly with Alice Corden 

achieving Welsh Gymnastics’ Young Leader of the Year in 2017, Sport Caerphilly Young Volunteer 

of the Year 2018 and shortlisted for the British Gymnastics 2019 National Young Leader of the 

Year. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

36 
Page 76



 

 

 

CASE STUDY 

Let’s Go Girls 

Sport Caerphilly’s Lets Go Girls programme has experienced fantastic success over the last year, 

with over 5,000 women and girls engaging in sport as a result.  

The Lets Go Girls programme has enabled women throughout Caerphilly to participate in new 

sports, or get back into sports that they once participated in.  A total of 63 women have enjoyed 

re-starting netball as a part of the Get Back into Netball sessions, with participants going on to 

join a social league, as well as 3 women’s cricket clubs emerging in the borough and a social 

cycling club- ‘Caerphilly Biking Bellas’ which has 63 members. 

Hooked on Hoci provided primary school teachers with the ability to deliver hockey in a fun 

environment and support that transition of children from schools into their local clubs.  22 

schools have received 6 sessions of Hooked on Hoci with a total of 1,745 individual participants 

and 22 teachers attended the 4689 training course.   

‘Mams and Prams’ sessions have also proved popular - targeting women who live in isolated 

communities and who may be suffering with post-natal conditions, to get out and about in New 

Tredegar.  

The Lets Go Girls 10 week weight loss programme also had impressive results, with 100% of 

participants now physically active.   Cllr Nigel George, Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood 

Services said: “I am delighted that the Let’s Go Girls programme has enabled more women and 

girls in Caerphilly county borough to be more active, more often and I look forward to seeing how 

the programme progresses in the future”.  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

 
 
 

37 Page 77



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Our Well-being Statement  
 
This objective is about supporting all citizens in 
the County Borough to remain independent and 
improve their overall Well-being.  In order for us 
to do this we aim to deliver the following key 
principles; 

 
Provide support at the lowest level to reduce the 
need for statutory services or interventions. 
Provide information and advice aimed at helping 
people to help themselves. Signposting people to 
community based and third sector services 
wherever appropriate to do so.  
 
Facilitate ‘what matters’ conversations with 
people referred for support to ensure services 
are aware of what the individual actually wants 
and would benefit from. Identify personal 
outcomes and provide services to enable people 
to achieve these outcomes.  

 
Only provide Care and Support to those people 
whose needs can and can only be met through 
the provision of Social Care services. Continue to 
safeguard and protect those most vulnerable 
people. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
What are our outcomes? 
 
1. Support people to help themselves by 

providing comprehensive advice and 
information including signposting to 
other services. 

2. Have meaningful conversations to help 
people identify ‘what matters’ to them 
to inform outcome focused planning. 

3. Provide support to reduce the need for 
higher tier statutory interventions. 

4. Identify and support carers. 
5. Improve the recruitment of Foster Carers 

and Shared Lives carers. 
6. Continue to identify opportunities to 

work collaboratively wherever 
appropriate. 

 

How have we performed overall in 

2018/19? 

The objective is judged to be progressing well.      
In many areas, the outcomes have already been 
completed and are now considered core business 
of the Directorate. In the remaining areas 
performance against the outcomes is on track to 
deliver this well-being objective and most 
importantly, there are no emerging risks to report.   

  

 

Well-being Objective 6 
Support citizens to remain independent and improve 
their Well-being 

38 Page 78



 

 

 

What went well? 
 

We have been supporting people to help 
themselves by providing comprehensive advice 
and information including signposting to other 
services; and having meaningful conversations to 
help people identify ‘what matters’ to them to 
inform ‘their choices’.  

 
All of our citizens where in the county borough 
are supported to receive the most appropriate 
care and support at the most appropriate level 
and at the most appropriate time to best meet 
their identified needs. 

 

 
 

We have invested in the DEWIS Cymru web base 
system, this is an online support resource that 
can help you think about what matters to you, 
and gives information about the people and 
services in your area. DEWIS is a central place to 
go if you want information about your well-
being, or if you want to know how you can help 
somebody else. 

 

We would like to reduce unnecessary admissions 
to hospital, so working across the Health Board 
region, a pan Gwent Home First Service has been 
developed in both the Royal Gwent and Neville 
Hall Hospitals.  The primary purpose is to provide 
timely Information Advice & Assistance (IAA) 
support at the front door to avoid admission to a 
Ward. 
 

In addition, we have recruited Emergency Care at 
Home staff to provide a bridging service to 
enable people to be discharged from hospital 
whilst they are awaiting a package of domiciliary 
care (homecare) to be provided. 
 
 
 

The Discharge to Assess (D2A) scheme was piloted 
in Ysbyty Ystrad Fawr with a view to reducing the 
amount of time people spend in hospital 
unnecessarily who can be safely discharged back 
to the community with no or minimal formal 
support, or with their existing care package, and 
be followed up at home. The Scheme was 
positively evaluated and recognised as national 
good practice by Aneurin Bevan Continuous 
Improvement Centre and is now an established 
pathway.  
 

With the help of additional Welsh Government 
funding, the Edge of Care service in Children’s 
Services has been expanded to include additional 
support workers, a Child Psychologist and 
Education Workers. The service aims to prevent 
children and young people entering the Looked 
After system. 
 

To Identify and support our carers we have 
dedicated Carers Officers within Social Services 
that have raised the profile of caring across the 
county borough, making full use of social media to 
identify carers and to organise support events 
including pamper days and outings. 
 

Also the support for Young Carers continues to be 
delivered through a commissioned service 
provided by Barnardo’s. 
 

 
 

One of our aims is to improve the recruitment of 
Foster Carers and Shared Lives Carers. 
Shared Lives schemes support adults with learning 
disabilities, mental health problems or other 
needs that make it harder for them to live on their 
own. The schemes match someone who needs 
care with an approved carer.  Some people move 
in with their Shared Lives carer, while others are 
regular daytime visitors. 

38 

39 
Page 79



 

 

Applications for both Fostering and Shared Lives 
schemes have continued to increase year on year 
and our Shared Lives Scheme has had a net 
increase of 19 carers since April 2018. 
 
The Fostering Service has had a net increase of 
15 carers – the first net increase to be reported 
since 2013. 

 
 

Continuing to identify opportunities to work 
collaboratively wherever appropriately, we have 
made bids for and the management of both the 
Integrated Care Fund and Transformation Grant 
funding schemes. These are good examples of 
priorities being set and agreed regionally which 
will hopefully lead to new and innovative practice 
developments in the future. 
 

Caerphilly has led the delivery of a regional 
advocacy service of children and young people 
across Gwent. This service works with children and 
young people to support those who need to be 
heard in order to promote social inclusion, 
equality and social justice.  We also provide a wide 
range of things to do and places for young people 
aged 13 to 19-years-old to go to, all of which can 
be enjoyed out of school hours, run by the  
Caerphilly Youth Service and other partner 
agencies. 
 

We have developed a Strategy for Learning 
Disability, which has recently been approved by 
the Regional Partnership Board. We are involved 
in the development of a Gwent wide roll out of a 
therapeutic model of foster care and residential 
care based on the Torfaen and Caerphilly MIST 
model. MIST is a child & adolescent mental health 
service for looked after children with complex 
needs. 
 
 

We have also implemented a Gwent wide ISCAN 
(Integrated Services for Children with Additional 
Needs) service model.  ISCAN is a multi-agency 
service where professionals from health, 
education, children's services and voluntary 
agencies work together to provide a service for 
children and families with additional needs. As a 
result families have a more joined up service, 
improved access to all services and a greater focus 
on early prevention & intervention. 
 

What have we learnt and where do we need 
to improve?  
 

We need to continue to support the work of 
Families First and the Welsh Government Tackling 
Poverty programmes to provide support to 
families at a preventative and early intervention 
level. 
 
We need to support individuals in hospital with 
housing related support (including those who may 
be homeless at point of discharge). We will do this 
via our Supporting People service, who will 
continue to monitor and provide services to those 
individuals who require support whilst in hospital. 
 

We have learnt that the Community Resource 
Team is having a positive impact on the 
community by providing services to prevent 
admission to hospital and successfully discharging 
people back into the community. For data on this, 
refer to the future focus section and the Discharge 
to Assess model. 
 

We want to further develop the ‘DEWIS’ web base 
to ensure it becomes the ‘go to’ site for people to 
access information in order to ‘help themselves’.  
A dedicated Officer has been appointed using the 
Integrated Care Fund to support the further 
development of DEWIS as the ‘go to’ site. 
 

 

40 Page 80



 

 

 

What impact are we making? 
 
The right care and support provided to citizens in 
the right place at the right time, will undoubtedly 
improve the well-being of those individuals, their 
families and carers. 
 

 
 
All staff have received ‘what matters’ training in 
line with a National Programme supported by 
Social Care Wales and Welsh Government. By 
finding out what ‘matters to people’ we can help 
them get the right outcomes and solutions. 
 

 
 

What is our future focus? 
 
Demand for Social Care services is increasing with 
the ageing demographics and more challenging 
pressures facing families.  
 

It is clear that social care is increasingly important 
area for Welsh Government and there a number 
of priorities emerging which point to the future 
direction for the provision of services.  
 

A major priority is an increase in the amount of 
integrated working between social services staff 
and staff from Aneurin Bevan University Health 
Board.   
 

To help with this agenda Welsh Government have 
made grant funding available via the 
Transformation Fund and the Integrated Care 
Fund to help us create new schemes for joint 
working. 
 

A major part of this work has been the creation of 
integrated well-being hubs in the north of the 
county borough, once this model is finalised it will 
then be rolled out across the rest of the borough. 
 
The hubs will provide a range of activities and 
services, help build more resilient communities, 
transform existing unused buildings, involve local 
people in decision making and provide a focus for 
community led regeneration. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

41 

Page 81

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwicivjEhPjhAhUOA2MBHS3gAHwQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://caerphilly.observer/news/966072/caerphilly-county-boroughs-green-fingered-care-home-residents-turn-on-style-with-floral-displays/&psig=AOvVaw3SAOEQgBrPFfQy-dwu6tpY&ust=1556721048941863


 

 

Future – Discharge to Assess (D2A) 
Those who are medically fit are discharged back 
into the community in a timely and safe way, 
where they are assessed in their own home to 
promote their independence by having the right 
conversations. 
 
During the first six months of the pilot, 31 
individuals in total were discharged via D2A.  The 
breakdown is shown below;  
 

 
 
71% of patients were discharged home with the 
support of D2A within 24 hours, with a further 
11% within 48 hours.  Of those supported via D2A, 
over 80% went on to be independent at home and 
required no formal care and support. 
 

Due to the success of the pilot, D2A has now been 
adopted as a discharge pathway, with dedicated 
staff from the Community Reablement Team 
attending daily hospital ward rounds to facilitate 
timely and safe discharges. 
 

 

D2A has been recognised by a number of agencies 
as a model of good practice, with Aneurin Bevan 
Continuous Improvement Centre requesting we 
work with them to produce a video to promote 
this way of working. 
 
A real example of how ‘D2A’ works is Mrs X.  
Mrs X was a 94 year old frail lady admitted to 
hospital with a bad infection. She was a very 
independent lady and it was her wish to go home, 
but due to her recent decline in health concerns 
were raised how she would manage once home.   
 
D2A staff supported Mrs X to be discharged from 
hospital and carry out an assessment within her 
own home. The client had a very good network of 
friends and neighbours who visited daily and with 
their support during the first few days after 
discharge, Mrs X settled back into her usual 
routine and did not require any ongoing formal 
care and support. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

42 
Page 82



 

 

 

We have assessed our objective based on the 
Future Generation Commissioner’s ‘Journey 
Checker’.  The Journey Checker is a way of 
assessing how well we are developing and 
delivering our objective within the sustainable 
development duty.   
 
At this time we believe we are being more 
adventurous in delivering this objective and are 
moving closer to owning our ambition, which 
means we are stepping out of a ‘business as usual’ 
mind set and acting to change how things are 
currently done. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

43 Page 83



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

CASE STUDY 
It’s been a successful year for Caerphilly Fostering Service, according to the findings of an annual report.   
 
Caerphilly County Borough Council’s Social Services Scrutiny Committee considered the Fostering Service 
Update report at its meeting on 18th June, which provided a review one year on from the implementation 
of a revised fee and payment structure for foster carers. 
 

The revised fee structure, implemented in 2018, saw a significant increase in the weekly payment received 
by foster carers in the Caerphilly county borough. This new remuneration package, combined with a 
marketing campaign, has resulted in the first net increase in the number of placements offered; with 15 
additional foster care households offering 20 placements during 2018/19, as well as 10 prospective carers 
who are currently undergoing the assessment process. 
 

Due to a lack of foster carers, the service previously relied heavily on Independent Fostering Agencies to 
provide placements.  However, the council’s success in recruiting foster carers over the past year has seen 
the use of Independent Fostering Agencies reduce by 16 placements, resulting in a saving to the council of 
around £500,000. 
 
Cllr Carl Cuss, the council’s Cabinet Member for Social Care and Well-being, said “Foster carers play a vital 
role in supporting some of our most vulnerable children; helping them to reach their full potential.   
 
The new remuneration package, combined with the efforts of the council’s Fostering Service, has seen 
significant successes over the past year in the recruitment and retention of foster carers.  
 
There is still a need, however, for more foster carers in the county borough and I encourage anyone 
interested in making difference to a child’s life to contact Caerphilly Fostering Service for more information 
on this highly rewarding role.” 
 
For more information text ‘foster’ to 78866 
Call 0800 587 5664 or visit www.caerphilly.gov.uk/fostering 
 

 

44 Page 84

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/fostering


 

 

 

 

CASE STUDY 
A social services officer who has spent the past 30 years working to improve lives has been recognised with 
an MBE in this year’s Queen’s birthday honours list. 
 
Rose Brown, Manager of the South East Wales Shared Lives scheme, is being awarded an MBE for her 
services to social care.   
 
 

 
 
 
 
Rose’s career in social services has included previous roles in day services, as Assistant Social Worker and 
Adult Placement Officer before taking up her current role when the Shared Lives scheme launched in 2010. 
 
Shared Lives is a scheme delivered and led by Caerphilly County Borough Council and covering the 6 local 
authority areas in south east Wales.   
 
Through the scheme carers share their home, family and community life with individuals to support them to 
develop and maintain independent living skills, friendships and relationships in their local area.   
 
There are around 200 carers across the region supporting adults with differing needs, including older people, 
those with a physical or learning disability, and adults with mental ill health. 
 

Cllr Carl Cuss, Caerphilly County Borough Council’s Cabinet Member for Social Care and Well-being, said “I’d 
like to congratulate Rose on this incredible achievement.   
 
The Shared Lives scheme is making a huge difference to individuals’ lives and Rose has been a driving force 
behind the programme since it began.   
 

Rose’s colleagues describe her as a passionate and tenacious person who does whatever it takes to reach a 
positive outcome for individuals; just some of the reasons for her nomination.” 
 

 
 

 
 45 

Page 85



 

 

Positive comments received by Social 
Services  

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

46 

Page 86



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
How we performed nationally in 2018/19 
 
Every year all Local Authorities in Wales submit a 
set of measures called PAMs (Public Accountability 
Measures) to Data Cymru.  
These measures are used by Data Cymru to 
compare performance across Wales in these 
particular areas of work. It is important to note 
that not all measures can be compared.  The way 
data is counted can change year on year, new 
measures are added, whilst others drop off. Not all 
local authorities submit all of the data so 
comparison data can be incomplete.   

 
There are 35 measures in the total set and we can 
currently compare 19 across Wales, with ranked 
position. Of those we can compare 14 year on year 
against our performance in the previous year.  As 
many of the 35 measures are taken from other 
national data sets, which have their own 
timeframes, many won’t be available to the PAM 
set until the end of 2019.  

 

To find out more information on our performance 
and other Councils performance, please go to  
My Local Council  
 

The following data shows how we 
compared against our 2017/18 results. 

 

                 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 3.9% of principal A roads in Caerphilly were 
in overall poor condition in 2018/19 this was a 
reduction of 0.7% from the 4.6% as reported in 
2017/18. The All Wales Average of 4.6%.  We are 
13th in Wales this year. 
 

 3.4% of our B roads Caerphilly are in overall 
poor condition, in 2018/19 this was a reduction of a 
0.2% from 3.6% as reported in 2017/18. The All 
Wales Average is 4.5% and we are 4th in Wales this 
year. 

 

 

 6.6 % of C roads in Caerphilly are in overall 
poor condition in 2018/19, this was a reduction of 
0.7% from 7.3% as reported in 2017/18. The All 
Wales Average is 14% and we are 8th in Wales this 
year.  

 
 

 96.5% of Caerphilly highways were of a high 
or acceptable standard of cleanliness in 2018/19, an 
improvement of 0.1% compared to 96.4% in 
2017/18. The All Wales Average is 94% and we are 
9th in Wales this year.  

 

95.7% of food establishments in Caerphilly 
county borough were ‘broadly compliant’ with food 
hygiene standards in 2018/19, an improvement of 
0.9%, compared to 94.8% in 2017/18. The All Wales 
Average is 95.7% and we are 11th in Wales this year. 
 

  11.3% working days/shifts per full-time 
equivalent (FTE) local authority employee were lost 
due to sickness absence in 2018/19, an improvement 
of 1% compared to 12.3% in 2017/18. The All Wales 
Average of 10.5% and we are 16th in Wales this year. 
 

47 

 

Performance Comparison 2019/20 

Page 87

http://www.mylocalcouncil.info/
http://www.mylocalcouncil.info/
http://www.mylocalcouncil.info/
http://www.mylocalcouncil.info/
http://www.mylocalcouncil.info/
http://www.mylocalcouncil.info/


 

 

 
 

 Secondary school attendance in 
Caerphilly improved by 0.1% in 2018/19 from 
93.3% compared to 93.4% in 2017/18. The All 
Wales Average is 93.9% and we are 18th in 
Wales this year.  

 It took an average of 252.6 calendar 
days taken to deliver a Disability Facilities Grant 
(DFG) in Caerphilly in 2018/19, and 
improvement of 39.7 average calendar days 
when compared to 292.3 in 2017/18. The All 
Wales Average is 207.3 and we are 17th in 
Wales this year.  

 

 There were 7,292.8 visits to leisure 
centres in Caerphilly per 1,000 population in 
2018/19, an increase of 101.3 visits 
compared to 7,191.5 visits in 2017/18. The 
All Wales Average is 9,258.6 visits per 1,000 
population and we are 20th in Wales this 
year.  

 We determined 86.4% (748) of the 
866 planning applications in the required 8 
week timeframe, a 2.1% decrease compared 
to 88.5% in 2017/18. The All Wales Average 
is 88% and we are 16th in Wales this year. 
 
 

 

 

75 % of appeals against planning 
application decisions were dismissed 
in 2018/19 a decrease of 2.8% 

compared to the 77.8% in 2017/18. The All 
Wales Average is 67.6% and we are 2nd in 
Wales this year.  

 

2.3% (36) of the 1,575 Empty private 
sector properties in Caerphilly were brought 
back into use during the year via direct action 
by the local authority, 2.4% less than 2017/18 
when 4.7% were brought back. We are 14th in 
Wales this year. 
 

 

Primary school attendance in Caerphilly has 
marginally decreased over the last academic year 
2017/18 (data year 2018/19) to 94.5% from 94.7% 
in academic year 2016/17 (data 2017/18). The All 
Wales Average is 94.6% and we are 14th in Wales 
this year. 
 

We prevented 471 (out of 624) of 
households threatened with homelessness in from 
becoming homeless in 2018/19 which equated to 
75.5%.  The All Wales Average is 67.9% and we are 
3rd in Wales this year.  
 

   We lost 1.8% (£979,916) of potential rent 
from lettable accommodation remaining empty 
and collected a total of £54,717,459 of rent in 
2018/19. The All Wales Average is 2.1% and we 
are 6th in Wales this year. (New PI) 
 

 We completed 28,182 housing repairs in 
an average 9 calendar days in 2018/19. The All 
Wales Average of 15.1 calendar days and we are 
3rd in Wales this year.  (New PI) 
  

 2.2%, (40) of the 1,853 year 11 leavers in 
Caerphilly were known not to be in education, 
training and employment (NEET). The All Wales 
Average is 1.6% and we are 20th in Wales this 
year. (New PI)  
 

 The Average capped 9 score in 
Caerphilly was 327.2 for pupils in year 11. The 
All Wales Average of 349.5 and we are 19th in 
Wales this year. (New PI)  

 It took an average of 2.5 days to clear the 
1,949 incidents of fly-tipping reported to the 
Council in the 2018/19. The All Wales Average is 
2.2 days and we are 12th in Wales this year.   
(New PI) 

48 
Page 88



 

 

 

2
0
1

8
/1

9
 

 
 

Managing your Money 2018/19 
 
  
 

The Council is the largest employer in the area 
with 8533 staff, including 3425 in schools, 
10,717 council houses and providing 
approximately 800 services to our 
communities.  We also maintain 835 buildings, 
including 87 schools, 10 leisure centres, 18 
libraries, and 64 sports pavilions. These vital 
public services are funded from the Council’s 
Revenue and Capital budgets, which for 
2018/19 totalled £448million. 

 
 
 

£448 
Million 

 

 
 
 
 
 

The Council plans and approves its budgets on a 
5-year financial planning cycle, which takes 
account of historical trends and spending 
patterns, national and local initiatives and 
access to multiple funding sources, some of 
which change year-on-year. 
 
Due to the ongoing programme of austerity and 
increasing demand for a number of services, 
the financial position for local government has 
been very challenging in recent years.  During 
the period 2008/09 to 2018/19 the Council has 
delivered savings of £88.91million to address 
reductions in funding and inescapable cost 
pressures.  Furthermore as a result of budget 
reductions the number of staff employed by 
the Council has reduced from 9543 in 2014 to 
the current level of 8533. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Delivering savings has not been an easy task; 
however, the Council has approached the 
challenge proactively and prudently and 
previously agreed a number of financial 
planning principles to help guide its decision-
making. 
 
These principles have recently been refreshed 
and are now as follows: 
 

 We will seek to protect services for the most 
vulnerable whilst continuing to evaluate all 
other services. 
 

 We will limit the impact of cuts on front-line 
services where we can whilst continuing to 
reduce expenditure and explore 
opportunities to generate new sources of 
income. 

 

 We will adopt a longer-term approach to 
financial planning that considers the impact 
on future generations. 

 

 We will need to accept that we will not be 
able to maintain existing levels of service but 
will introduce more innovative ways of 
working through the use of emerging 
technologies. 

 

 We will engage with our communities to 
understand their needs and explore options 
to deliver some services through 
collaboration, partnerships, community 
trusts etc. to ensure that communities 
remain resilient and sustainable in the 
longer-term. 

 
 

49 Page 89



 

 

 

 

Income 
2018/19 

Budget 
£m 

Actual 
£m 

Actual 

% 
Revenue 
Support Grant 
 

210.21 210.21 63.04 

Business Rates 57.03 57.03 17.10 

Council Tax 63.40 64.81 19.44 

Contribution 
from Reserves 

1.40 1.40 0.42 

 
Total 

 
332.04 

 
333.45 100.00 

 

 

In 2018/19 the Council received a small 
increase of 1.37% in the funding it 
receives from the Welsh Government 
(WG), however it also had to deal with a 
range of additional unavoidable cost and 
service pressures. 
 
As a consequence of these pressures, the 
Council agreed savings totalling 
£6.736million for the 2018/19 financial 
year.  

 
The savings were selected on the basis 
that they would have a limited impact on 
front-line services and would protect the 
priorities agreed by the Council. 
 

Where does our money come from? 
 
The majority of the money that the Council 
receives comes from the Welsh Government in 
the form of a Revenue Support Grant. 

 

   How do we spend our money? 

 
Added to this is the money we collect from 
our residents and businesses in the form of 
Council Tax and National Non-Domestic Rates 
(Business Rates). The table below shows the 
income received for the 2018/19 Financial 
Year. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Revenue 
      2018/19 

Budget 
£m 

Actual 
£m 

Actual 
% 

Corporate 
Services 

68.58 63.57 19.85 

Education & 
Lifelong Learning 

124.56 125.46 39.17 

Communities 51.10 50.87 15.88 

Social Services  
and Housing 

87.80 80.41 25.10 

Total 332.04 320.31 100.00 

50

 
 39 

Page 90



 

 

 

The Council manages two main categories of 
expenditure i.e. revenue (every day running 
costs for services) and capital (specific costs 
for updating and maintaining key assets and 
implementing major new projects). 

 
 

For the 2018/19 financial year the council's 
revenue budget was £332.04million. During 
the year budget holders have been mindful of 
the continuing programme of austerity and 
expenditure has been curtailed in a number of 
areas to support anticipated savings 
requirements for future years. This prudent 
approach has resulted in a number of savings 
being achieved in advance and underspends 
therefore being higher than would normally 
be the case. 
 
The reported revenue budget underspend for 
2018/19 was £11.735million. This includes an 
underspend of £5.461million for the Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) which is a separate 
statutory ring-fenced account representing 
the rent paid to the Council for its housing 
stock and the expenditure to fund the upkeep 
of these properties. 
 
The HRA underspend will be carried forward 
into 2019/20 and used to partially fund the 
£260million investment being made by the 
Council to achieve the Welsh Housing Quality 
Standard by 2020. 
 
2018/19 saw an overspend of £0.550million 
for schools; this has been funded from 
accumulated school balances held from 
previous financial years. 

 

Capital Expenditure varies year-on-year and 
budgets are allocated from specific funding 
sources. The table below provides a summary of 
capital budgets and capital expenditure for the 
period 2018/2019. 

 
 
   Capital 

2018/19 
 
 
 

Budget 
£m 

Spend 
£m 

Actual 
% 

Education 9.77 5.57 7.08 

Highways 17.24 11.06 14.07 

Housing Stock 
(Public) 

51.97 51.97 66.10 

Private Housing  4.95 2.23 2.84 

Social Services 4.55 1.36 1.73 

Community & 
Leisure 

3.67 1.57 2.00 

Other 24.08 4.86 6.18 

 Total  116.24 78.62 100.00 

 

 

The 2018/19 capital underspend of £37.6m is 
mainly due to delays in progressing schemes and 
this funding has been carried forward into the 
2019/20 financial year to enable schemes to be 
completed. 
 
Full details of the 2018/19 underspend for the 
Authority is available on our website 
www.caerphilly.gov.uk 

 
 
 
  

51

 
 39 

Page 91

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/


 

 

Future Financial Outlook 
 

Caerphilly CBC’s budget for the 2019/20 
financial year was approved by Council on 
the 21st February 2019 and this included 
further savings of £13.92million to ensure 
that financial commitments can be met and 
that a balanced budget can be achieved.  
 

The Council has strived to limit the impact of 
savings on front-line services. However, due 
to the scale of the ongoing financial 
challenge this is becoming increasingly 
difficult and in recent years savings have 
been required in a number of areas that 
impact on the public. 
 

The funding situation for Local Government 
is unlikely to improve for some time so the 
Council has adopted a prudent approach of 
producing an indicative five-year Medium-
Term Financial Plan.  
 

In addition to the approved savings of 
£13.92million for the 2019/20 financial year 
it is currently anticipated that further savings 
of circa £44million  will be required for the 
four-year period 2020/21 to 2023/24. 
 

Significant work is already underway to 
identify a range of further savings 
proposals, with particular emphasis on the 
2020/21 financial year where savings of up 
to £15.66million may be required.  
 

This is clearly extremely challenging and it 
is inevitable that some very difficult 
decisions will need to be made. In looking 
to develop proposals to address the 
financial challenges moving forward it is 
widely accepted that the Council cannot 
continue as it is.  
 

There is a need to examine the way in 
which we use our resources to deliver the 
services required by our communities 
across the county borough. The financial 
position combined with an ever increasing 
demand and expectation by the public 

represents a significant challenge. 
 
At its meeting on the 12th June 2019 the  
Council’s Cabinet approved the Future Caerphilly 
Transformation Strategy, which is being launched as 
#TeamCaerphilly – Better Together.  
 
This Strategy will be a key strand in helping the 
Council to maintain financial resilience and will 
be integrated into our medium-term financial 
planning moving forward.  
 
The Strategy sets out details of a major 
transformation programme to examine how 
services are prioritised, how they can become 
more business efficient, to explore opportunities 
for greater customer focus and digital delivery, 
and to consider alternative delivery models and 
seek out commercial opportunities. 
 
Furthermore, to enable the Council to continue 
providing high quality value for money services 
in an environment that will require new 
approaches and new skills, a new relationship 
will need to be built with staff and within our 
communities. 

 
 

  

52

 
 39 

Page 92



 

 

 

 
 

How we are working towards improved 

Equalities and the Well-being of our Future 

Generations  
 

 
 

After an intense development period,                 
coordinated by our Corporate Policy Unit, the 
Caerphilly Public Services Board (PSB) launched 
its five year Well-being Plan in May 2018.  We 
are a key partner along with other public sector 
bodies; police, fire health etc.  The Plan sets out 
objectives that are designed to improve the 
county borough for its residents and maximise 
how the Caerphilly PSB contributes to the well-
being goals for Wales. 
 
The Well-being Plan has 4 themes, Positive 
Change, Positive Start, Positive People and 
Positive Places. We have jointly developed a 
Delivery Plan which details what actions we will 
put in place to deliver on these overall themes in 
collaboration with our partners. 
 

There are 4 building blocks called Enablers, these 
are a means to an end or a way of working to 
help deliver sustainable actions. The 4 Enablers 
are: 
 
1. Working together - across all partner 

organisations to minimise duplication and 
share resource and join up work for the best 
outcome for the public. 

2. Communications and engagement - so we 
jointly communicate and share messages. 

3. Procurement and commissioning - to ensure 
we work together to get value for money 
across joint purchasing and maximising 
community benefits wherever possible. 

4. Asset management - making best use of all our 
joint assets and in ways that reduces energy 
use. 

 
 
 

 There are 5 Action Areas for cross public sector      
   delivery: 

 
1. The Best Start in Life - investing in the early 

years of a child’s life. 
2. Volunteering and apprenticeships - develop 

a co-ordinated programme of volunteering 
and establishing an all age apprenticeship 
programme. 

3. Good health and well-being - improve joint 
working with an emphasis on prevention of 
current and future health challenges. 

4. Safer, resilient communities - support our 
most disadvantaged communities to be 
resilient and help them to help themselves, 
support housing partners to deliver 
sustainable homes, create safe and confident 
communities. 

5. Protect and enhance the local natural 
environment - protect and promote our 
natural environment, encouraging 
community involvement and removing 
barriers to accessing green spaces. 

53

 
 39 

Page 93



 

 

 

Each Enabler and Action Area is led by a PSB 
partner organisation.  Groups have been 
established to drive forward each area, and 
action plans have been developed setting out 
key actions, targets and reporting, including 
importantly the difference they are making. 

 
Following the launch of the Plan, our priority 
now is to focus upon harnessing the culture 
within the organisation to maximize the ‘5 
ways of working’ (below) and embed them 
fully into decision making. This will include 
delivering a wide range of training and 
development opportunities for people to 
embed the sustainable development 
principles within their thinking. 
 

The 5 ways of working are: 
1. Involvement 
2. Collaboration 
3. Long Term 
4. Integration 
5. Prevention 
As an example of PSB activity we have made 
some notable progress in sustainable travel 
work: 
 

 We are carrying out activities like offering 
free breakfasts during National Bike week 
to encourage staff to give commuting to 
work by bike a go. 

 

 Environmental Health have supported 
National Clean Air Day for staff 
cycling/walking or using public transport 
to commute to work. It all helps to 
encourage people to try other forms of 
commuting. 

 
 We have electric bikes (and normal 

bikes) available on our Cycle to 
Work Salary Sacrifice Scheme, this 
has recently been relaunched with 
Cycle Solutions, our new provider. 

 We have approved an Electric Vehicle 
Strategy and Action Plan.  As part of the 
delivery of this we have led on a Gwent wide 
study to identify potential locations for 
electric vehicle charging points.  This has 
resulted in a bid for funding from the Office 
of Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV).  We have 
also led on a Gwent wide study looking at 
the fleets of PSB member organisations.  As 
part of this we are working towards 
integrating electric vehicles into our fleet 
and have trailed electric pool vehicles. We 
have pool bikes for short work based 
journeys along with shower and storage 
facilities. 
 

 
For further information on Caerphilly’s Public 
Services board progress 2018/19 please go to the link 
below: 
 
 https://your.caerphilly.gov.uk/publicservicesboard/ 

54

 
 39 

Page 94



 

 

 

 
 
 
 

  CASE STUDY – Tracy to provide 
 

 
 

Case Study - Greener Transport Solutions 
Early collaborative activity has resulted in the Climate Ready Gwent Group moving forward on 
the electric vehicle agenda and leading the way across South East Wales. Caerphilly CBC has 
taken the lead on the electric vehicle work for the Gwent PSB and wider partnership work. 
Funding was secured to undertake a Gwent regional electric vehicle charge point feasibility study 
on behalf of the five Gwent local authorities, Gwent Police, South Wales Fire & Rescue, Aneurin 
Bevan University Health Board and NRW. The study has identified suitable sites for EV charging 
for residents with no off street parking, and workplace sites. 
 
The results of the study were used to submit a Gwent regional bid to OLEV (Office for Low 
Emission Vehicles) On Street Residential Charge point fund, to install EV charging in car parks 
close to residential areas with no off street parking.  
 
The Policy Team also secured funding from Welsh Government’s Decarbonisation Team to 
undertake a Gwent regional fleet review on behalf of the five Gwent local authorities, Gwent 
Police, South Wales Fire & Rescue and Aneurin Bevan University Health Board to identify fleet 
vehicles that could potentially be replaced with electric vehicles. The study also looked at the 
opportunities and potential financial savings by the implementation of pool vehicles to reduce 
grey fleet mileage (mileage from employees using their own personal vehicles on work related 
trips). 
 
Alongside this we are also involved in a Welsh Government funded hydrogen fuel cell fleet study 
for Gwent PSB fleets. Moving forward we will look at the key findings of the studies and identify 
opportunities for piloting ultra low emission vehicles amongst Gwent PSB fleets. 
 
Electric vehicles contribute to several of the Well-being goals within the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act (Wales) 2015, including:  

 A prosperous Wales 

 A resilient Wales 

 A healthier Wales 

 A more equal Wales 

 A Wales of cohesive communities 

 A globally responsible Wales 
 
Electric vehicles infrastructure is also consistent with the five ways of working as defined within 
the sustainable development principle in the Act. 
 
Collaborative working will enable us to deliver a strategic regional approach to charge point 
infrastructure across Gwent.  
 
Collaborative working will also allow us to develop regional procurement for electric vehicle 
infrastructure and electric vehicles and secure funding to bring investment into Wales. It will 
support PSB partners to meet decarbonisation targets, improve local air quality and help to keep 
external funding in the local economy. 
 

 
 

 
 

55

 
 39 

Page 95



 

 

 

  Well-being of Future Generations update 2019 
 

It is two years since the introduction of the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act (Wales) Act 2015 and as a public body we are required 
to set objectives within the sustainable development principle, known 
as the ‘five ways of working’.  Our Corporate Plan gives considerable 
detail on the way we used the five ways of working to develop our 
objectives and how they maximise contribution towards the 7 National 
Well-being Goals. 
 

In addition to the setting of Well-being Objectives the guidance suggests we need to change how we carry 
out the 7 organisational activities below within the five ways of working;  
      

 Corporate Planning  
 Financial Planning  
 Workforce Planning  
 Procurement  
 Assets  
 Risk Management  
 Performance Management  

 

The activities above are not an end in themselves but require a ‘change of thinking’ in how they are 
viewed.  For example our Risk Management was previously analysed in a more short term way, now we 
look to see how this risk would play out if left unaddressed over the longer term, so for example in 
Education the risk to a child who does not achieve enough to have better life chances is now a long term 
(25 year) risk, rather than a yearly analysis of educational attainment. 
 

Our Performance Management reporting is evolving, rather than write separate reports on separate 
topics at separate times we are developing reporting on a range of issues at one time to see if there is 
cause and effect and to understand what is performance affected by to understand root causes, this is 
part of prevention.  A longer term aspiration would be to develop performance in a way that embeds 
collaborative data for delivery of objectives.   
 

We have revised our Asset Management (property and land) strategy to manage assets within the 
sustainable principle including at looking at our assets alongside the assets of our public sector partners.  
This over-arching approach is supported by developing a range of service asset management plans.  
We are also developing a carbon reduction/energy plan.   
 

Procurement has made great strides in its programme for procurement including a digital agenda which 
supports reduction of carbon use. 

  
Workforce Planning has started with some simple changes such as implementing an agile working policy, 
however Workforce and Financial Planning requires more work in following the sustainable development 
decision making process, although our Financial Planning is now building on our Medium Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP) principles to look at how our planning impacts on the well-being of future generations.  
The Wales Audit Office are reviewing some of our ‘steps’ to see how we are delivering within the principles 
and the Future Generations Commissioner has provided some advice on how we can do more with our 
objectives to expand how make greater changes in Caerphilly and beyond.  

56

 
 39 

Page 96



 

 

 

 

Equalities Update 2018/19 
 
We continue to work on providing greater 
Welsh Language choices and are progressing 
well on the Five-Year Welsh Language Strategy.   
 
A piece of work completed in partnership with 
a number of organisations under the Strategy is 
the development and publication of a booklet 
entitled ‘Becoming Bilingual in Caerphilly 
County Borough – Thinking about sending your 
child to a Welsh medium school?’ The booklet 
gives parents and prospective parents advice a 
guidance on the options available to them 
when considering whether to send their child 
to a Welsh medium school.  
 
The Recruitment and Selection Guidance has 
been updated to give clearer information to 
managers when recruiting around undertaking 
a Welsh language Skills Assessment to employ a 
greater number of Welsh Language speakers.   
 

 
Compared with last year, the number of 
recorded Welsh speaking staff has increased 
significantly from 402 in 2017-2018 to 1581 in 
2018-2019.  The increase can partly be explained 
by a staff survey undertaken by People Services 
during the summer of 2017, which asked staff to 
identify their Welsh language skills based on the 
ALTE (Association of Language Testers in Europe) 
Levels 1-5.  The ongoing data collection of staff 
skills is also based on skills levels outlined in the 
staff survey.   
 
It is worth noting that there has also been an 
increase in the number of staff accessing Welsh 
language training, up from 111 to 144.  A new 
course which allows staff to undertake a 10 hour 
Welsh Taster Course online has helped to give 
more staff the flexibility of accessing a course 
that can for around their work and home life , 
hence the increase in those accessing Welsh 
courses. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

57

 
 39 

Page 97



 

 

 

During 2018-2019, 4 service requests and 4 
complaints were received relating to the 
Welsh language.  All were responded to 
within deadlines.  
 

1 of the 4 service requests related to road 
markings and the other 3 related to signage.   
Relevant departments dealing with road 
markings and signage have been given guidance 
on the correct process to follow. 
 
We have celebrated a number of significant 
dates; 
 
1. Pride Cymru (August 2018) 
2. Diwrnod Shwmae (October 2018) 
3. Black History Month (October 2018) 
4. Holocaust Memorial Day (January  2019) 
5. LGBT History Month (February 2019) 
6. International Women’s Day (March 2019) 

A key event was LGBT History Month where we 
held an information day for staff and the public 
on LGBT issues and bringing together key 
stakeholders, partner organisations and local 
employers to promote their inclusive services. 
 
We also ran a competition for pupils in 
Secondary schools to create a piece of artwork or 
model on what LGBT means to them.  Below is 
the winning entry along with some images from 
the day.  This image will be used for all our LGBT 
promotional material for the 2019-2020. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In addition to the Welsh language we have provided 
a diverse range of training and education in topics 
such as, British Sign Language, Equalities Awareness, 
Mindfulness, Equality Impact Awareness and Prevent 
(counter-terrorism programme to prevent 
radicalisation). 

 
The Education Equality Index run by Stonewall is the 
only nationwide tool which is used to benchmark 
progress of ensuring measures are in place and 
positive steps are being taken to support Lesbian, 
Gay, Bisexual and Trans young people living in the 
local community.  It is a great way to demonstrate 
good practice but also to realise and understand the 
gaps where improvement is needed. 
 
Since submitting our first submission to the 
Education Equality Index in 2016 where we 
received special recognition for the work we had 
done to tackle homophobic, biphobic and 
transphobic bullying in schools, in Wales we have 
maintained 1st place year on year.  In the UK last 
year we were ranked 21st but our 2018-2019 
submission saw us move up the rankings to 19th in 
the UK. For more information you can visit 
www.stonewall.org.uk 

58

 
 39 

Page 98

http://www.stonewall.org.uk/


 

 

Gender Pay Gap Statement 2018 
Under the Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties and 
Public Authorities) Regulations 2017, all 
organisations listed at Schedule 2 to the 
regulations that employ over 250 employees are 
required to report annually on their gender pay 
gap.   
 
The data identifies that there are significantly 
more women than men occupying posts in every 
quartile of the data due to the predominantly 
female population of the Council workforce.  
 

The Council is confident that its gender pay gap 
does not stem from paying male and female 
employees differently for the same or equivalent 
work. The gender pay gap is the result of roles in 
which proportionately more females currently 
work and the salaries that these roles attract. 
 
Our gender pay gap is reflective of the causes of 
gender pay gap at a societal level. For example 
research has identified that, although parents 
are increasingly flexible, the responsibility of 
childcare still falls disproportionately upon 
women. It is a fact within this data that the vast 
majority of part time posts are held by females 
and that these are the posts that attract salaries 
in the lower quartiles. To view the full statement 
please visit our website 
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-
Council/Strategies,-plans-and-
policies/Equalities/Strategic-Equality-Plan 
 
Disability Access Work Programme 
This year we spent £90,000 on a number of 
different projects as listed; 

 Leisure Centres - £2,000 for improved 
reception facilities. 

 Schools - £66,000 including Automatic 
Doors, Ramps, Handrails and Lift provision. 

 Youth Centres - £3,000 to improve 
accessibility to main entrances. 

 
 
 
 
 

To monitor our progress towards greater 
inclusivity we produce a Strategic Equality Plan 
with our current plan in place until 31st March 
2020.  In the autumn we will be drafting a new 
Strategic Equality Plan and an action plan to 
deliver key objectives to support the work of 
promoting equalities across services for out 
residents and visitors.  To view the current 
Strategic Equality Plan 2016-2020 please click on 
the following link 
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Strategic Equality 
Plan 2016-2020. 

 
Equalities and Consultation 
In order to strengthen the links between 
equalities and consultation and engagement 
within the Council, the role of Consultation and 
Public Engagement Officer moved from the 
Communications Unit to the Equalities and 
Welsh Language Team in September 2019.  
 
Work is ongoing to update our equalities 
“Consultation and Monitoring guidance” and 
linking this document to new/related guidance 
e.g. a checklist for consultation and the Welsh 
language.  
 
Live consultation and engagement activities are 
promoted on the front page of the Council’s 
website.  Further details of current engagement 
activities (including links to live surveys where 
appropriate) and the outcomes of recent 
engagement activities are also recorded on the 
Caerphilly CBC website 
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/involved/Consult
ations.aspx  

 
A key corporate consultation/engagement 
activity undertaken during the last year is the 
“Caerphilly Conversation – Budget Consultation 
2019-2020”, this exemplifies how the Council 
uses a variety of approaches to encourage 
participation, promote consultations and ensure 
that all sectors of the community are enabled to 
have their say. 
 
 
 

59

 
 39 

Page 99

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Strategies,-plans-and-policies/Equalities/Strategic-Equality-Plan
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Strategies,-plans-and-policies/Equalities/Strategic-Equality-Plan
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Strategies,-plans-and-policies/Equalities/Strategic-Equality-Plan
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Strategies,-plans-and-policies/Equalities/Strategic-Equality-Plan
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Strategies,-plans-and-policies/Equalities/Strategic-Equality-Plan
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/involved/Consultations.aspx
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/involved/Consultations.aspx


 

 

All promotional and consultation 
correspondence was made available bilingually. 
Face to face activities including town 
centre/supermarket engagement; drop in 
sessions at libraries across the borough and a 
Viewpoint Panel meeting were supported by, 
digital media (including Facebook, Twitter and 
NewsOnline), video and web content, Newsline, 
targeted e-mails to stakeholders and paper and 
online surveys. 
 
Menter Iaith Caerffili facilitated a Welsh 
discussion group at the Viewpoint Panel face to 
face meeting.  
 
Members of the Caerphilly Parent Network and 
Youth Forum Members also attended. There was 
written correspondence to all key groups as 
listed in the council’s “consultation and 
monitoring guidance”.  
 
For drop in sessions, residents who had any 
specific requirements such as access, hearing 
loop, required translation facilities or wishing to 
use the Welsh language at the drop in sessions 
were asked to contact us in advance of attending 
so that we could meet their needs.  
 
In October 2018 we also introduced and Equality 
Impact Assessment Screening Form and Guidance 
for officers to explain their importance and 
purpose, the legislation and how to complete 
them.   

 

60

 
 39 

Page 100



Page 101



 

 

 

What our regulators told us 

In the Wales Audit Office (WAO) Annual Improvement Report for 2018/19 
(Issued June 2019) our regulators concluded “The Council is meeting its statutory 
requirements in relation to continuous improvement and is at a crucial pivotal point in its 
ambition to transform”  

  
During the course of the year the Auditor General 
did not make any formal recommendations, 
however there were a number of proposals for 
improvement. 
 

 

May 2018 - Review of the Council’s published 
plans to ensure they comply with our duty for 
Improvement Planning and Reporting 
WAO noted the Council has complied with its 
statutory improvement planning duties. 
 
November 2018 - Annual Audit of CCBC 
Assessment of Performance 
WAO concluded that the Council had complied with its 
statutory reporting duties and there were no proposals 

for improvement. 
 

March 2019 - Well-being of Future 
Generations:  An examination of improving 
take up of the Flying Strat Programme 
WAO concluded that the Council has a number 
of positive examples of how it has taken 
account of the sustainable development 
principle, particularly in collaboration and 
prevention. However, the Council recognises 
that there is more to do to consistently embed 
all five ways of working and could strengthen its 
involvement to secure increased take up and 
attendance and ensure that it is working in a 
fully integrated way.  A number of Improvement 
Actions have been set out which are due to be 
completed by March 2020. 
 
March 2019 – Aligning Levers for Change: 
Business Improvement Portfolio Board 
“The Council has recognised that a fresh 
approach to transformation is needed and is an 
opportunity not to be missed. 

 
 

Other WAO Audit work from the 2018/2019 
programme includes; 
 
Corporate Safeguarding Arrangements – June 
2019 (from the 18-19 programme)  
Summary: Although the Council has made some 
progress in addressing our previous 
recommendations, the Council needs to further 
strengthen its corporate safeguarding oversight 
and assurance arrangements.  
 
Welsh Housing Quality Standard follow up 
review to determine whether the Council is 
addressing our 2017 statutory recommendations 
and has appropriate systems in place to meet 
WHQS by 2020. January 2019 
Summary: The Council has responded positively 
to our June 2017 Welsh Housing Quality 
Standard (WHQS) report and statutory 
recommendations by making significant 
improvements and as a result we now conclude 
that it is likely to meet the WHQS by December 
2020: 
 
Thematic Review - Service User Perspective–
Housing – December 2018 
Summary: Tenants and leaseholders have 
positive views about many aspects of the 
Council’s WHQS programme including the 
quality, but are less satisfied with external works, 
the timeliness of work, and the extent to which 
the Council involves them and provides 
information on the works 
 
The proposals for improvement and 
recommendations are monitored twice a year at 
the Council’s Audit Committee. The reports can 
be found on our website www.caerphilly.gov.uk 

 

61

 
 39 

61 
Page 102

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/


 

 

 

The Care Inspectorate Wales Local Authority 
performance Review 2018-19 was held to 
determine whether the council is carrying out its 
statutory social services functions, in line with the 
four principles of the Social Services & Well-being 
(Wales) Act 2014.  

 
Summary: 
 
Well-being – The local authority continues to build 
on its practice of having meaningful conversations 
with people about what matters to them. There 
have been positive developments in the provision of 
information, advice and assistance (IAA). 
 
People - In addressing the needs of children and 
young people, the vision of having a service that is 
psychologically informed has resulted in investment 
in the Multi-Disciplinary Intervention Support Team 
(MIST) and the development of a local authority 
residential provision using ICF funding. Feedback 
from Carers has shown an improvement in services, 
with Carers support worker and Carers Connect 
sitting in the IAA service. This has enabled a quick 
response to carers to support them in their role. 
 
Prevention - The Community Resource Team 
continues to offer rapid response to people’s 
medical and social needs as well as falls and 
reablement services. The local authority is working 
jointly with the health board on creating an early 
prevention model to enable children and young 
people to access mental health support at an earlier 
stage. 
 

Partnerships - Partnership arrangements at both 
local and regional level continue to develop and 
mature. This has resulted in significant 
improvements in commissioning, pooled budgets 
and increasing social care services delivered on a 
regional footprint. 
 

 
 

 
All Wales Audit Office Reports can be 
found on http://www.audit.wales/ 
along with a wide range of reports on 
the Public Sector:  
 
Care Inspectorate Wales reports can 
be found on;  
https://careinspectorate.wales/ 
 
All Education Reports can be found 
on  
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/inspect
ion/search 
 
 

62

 
 39 

Page 103

http://www.audit.wales/
https://careinspectorate.wales/
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/inspection/search
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/inspection/search


Page 104



 

 

 
 

How to contact us and how you can be 
Involved 

 
 
 
 
 

Your views and opinions on the content of our 
performance reports and the priorities that we 
set each year are important to us. We welcome 
your input so that we can continue to provide 
meaningful information that helps inform you of 
the service focus, ensuring that we are working 
on the things that are important to making a 
difference to you, our citizens and our 
communities. 
 

You can contact us by: 
Email: PMU@caerphilly.gov.uk or via the 
Council Performance webpage and follow the 
instructions on screen. 
 

Alternatively, please contact: 
Ros Roberts  
Business Improvement Manager   
Corporate Performance Management Unit 
Caerphilly County Borough Council Penallta 
House 
Ystrad Mynach Hengoed 
CF82 7PG 
 
Tel: 01443 864238 
E-mail:  roberr@caerphilly.gov.uk 
 
 

You can contact us via social media 
 
 
 
 
 

You can get involved in many ways.  
Please have a look at our website. 
www.caerphilly.gov.uk 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

For more information, please contact: 
Liz Sharma 
Consultation & Public Engagement Officer 
Penallta House, 
Ystrad Mynach, 
Hengoed. 
CF82 7PG 
 
Tel: 01443 864354 
Email:  sharme@caerphilly.gov.uk 

63

 
 39 

Page 105

mailto:PMU@caerphilly.gov.uk
mailto:roberr@caerphilly.gov.uk
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/
mailto:sharme@caerphilly.gov.uk


 

 

 

 
 
 

Notes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
This document is also available in different languages and formats upon request. 

Further information can also be found on our website: www.caerphilly.gov.uk 

64

 
 39 

Page 106

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/


 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 107



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 108



 
 
 

COUNCIL – 23RD OCTOBER 2019 
 

SUBJECT:       PUBLIC SERVICES OMBUDSMAN FOR WALES – ANNUAL REPORT     
                  AND ANNUAL LETTER 2018/19 
 
REPORT BY: HEAD OF LEGAL SERVICES AND MONITORING OFFICER 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To inform Council of the publication of the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales Annual 
 Report and Annual Letter (2018/19) in respect of this Council by the Public Services 
 Ombudsman for Wales. 
 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 To advise Council of the publication of the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales Annual 
 Report and Annual Letter (2018/19). 
 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 It is recommended that the Council considers and notes the content of the Annual Letter. 
 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To satisfy the Council’s statutory duties under the Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 
 2005.     
 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW) issues an Annual Letter to each Local 
 Authority in Wales which sets out a clear and concise breakdown of all complaints received 
 and investigated by the PSOW during 2018/19 specifically relating to that  Authority.   The 
 Annual Letter issued in respect of Caerphilly is attached at Appendix 1 to this report. 
 
5.2 Members will note from the content of the Annual Letter that this year the Ombudsman has 
 published the Annual Letters as part of his Annual Report and Accounts.  The purpose of the 
 Annual Report is to report on the performance of the PSOW’s office over the year, provide an 
 update on developments, deliver key messages arising from his work undertaken 
 during that year together with the financial accounts for that year.  A copy of the Annual 
 Report and Accounts is available by accessing the link in Appendix 2 to this report.  
 
5.3 The fact sheet attached to the Annual Letter gives a detailed breakdown of complaints data 
 relating to Caerphilly.  This includes statistics regarding Ombudsman’s interventions which 

Page 109

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 12



 includes all cases upheld as well as early resolutions and voluntary settlements.  It also 
 includes Code of Conduct cases referred to the Ombudsman and the outcomes of those 
 referrals. 
 
5.4 The data is self-explanatory and therefore no further comment is offered other than to ask 
 Council to note the following:- 
 
5.4.1  In relation to Caerphilly the number of complaints received by the Public Services 
 Ombudsman for Wales has increased this year when compared to the number received last 
 year from 40 to 65.  Of the 65 complaints received, 26 were made prematurely (this is 19 
 more than last year), 6 were out of jurisdiction, and 26 cases were closed after initial 
 consideration (this is 4 more than last year).  There were 9 early resolutions and 1 report 
 upheld/partially upheld.    
 
5.4.2 Those complaints categorised as premature relate to cases where the complainant has not 
 exhausted the Council’s complaints policy.  Practically it is not possible to prevent these 
 referrals to the Ombudsman however the Council does ensure that the Council’s Complaints 
 Policy is available via the Council’s web site and hard copy complaints booklet readily 
 available to the public. 
 
5.4.3  Complaints relating to Children Social Services have increased this year to 17 compared to a 
 figure of 6 last year.   From an analysis of this data 13 were not taken into investigation and 4 
 were resolved by way of early resolution.   
 
5.4.4 Planning and building control complaints rose to 16 this year from 10 last year.  From an 
 analysis of this data it has been noted that 11 of the referrals related to one particular 
 planning application and overall none of the 16 referrals were taken into investigation.   
 
5.4.5 There was an increase in relation to the category of “complaints handling” from 1 to 5 of which 
 3 were not taken into investigation and 2 resulted in an early resolution. 
 
5.4.6 In total 12% of the Council’s Cases considered during this period required PSOW 
 intervention by way of early resolution, an increase of 4% from the previous year.  In addition 
 one report was upheld in whole or in part which was considered by the Standards Committee 
 under the Council’s usual reporting processes. 
 
5.5 Code of Conduct Complaints 
 
 Members will note that in respect of Caerphilly County Borough Councillors 3 complaints were 
 received all of which were closed after initial consideration. In respect of Town and 
 Community Councils 4 complaint were received in relation to Darran Valley Community 
 Council all of which were closed after initial consideration. 
 
 
5.6 Conclusion 
 
 Members will note that the Ombudsman has asked that the Annual Letter be reported to 
 Cabinet however this Council’s reporting process is to the Standards Committee which 
 received a report on the Annual Letter at its meeting on 9th October and then full  Council 
 which provides all members with the ability to review the referrals to the Public Services 
 Ombudsman for Wales.  
 
 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 
 
6.1 No assumptions are necessary within this report. 
 

Page 110



 
7. LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1 The function of overseeing complaints received and investigated by the Ombudsman 
 contributes to the following Well-being goals within the Well-being of Future Generations Act 
 (Wales) 2015 as it supports the provision of higher quality and more effective services to the 
 public across all service areas 
 • A prosperous Wales 
 • A resilient Wales 
 • A healthier Wales 
 • A more equal Wales 
 • A Wales of cohesive communities 
 • A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language 
 • A globally responsible Wales 
 
 
8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 This report contributes to the Well-being Goals as set out in paragraph 7 above. It is 
 consistent with the five ways of working as defined within the sustainable development 
 principle in the Act in that the overseeing of the complaints received and investigated by the 
 Ombudsman enables departments to focus on areas of concern, to improve services and to 
 monitor performance to ensure that any issues raised are identified and dealt with so as to be 
 avoided in future 
 
 
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  There are no equalities implications associated with this report. 
 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no personnel implications associated with this report. 
 
 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 This Report reflects the contents of the Annual Letter and therefore there has been no formal 
 consultation on the content of the Report. A copy of the Report has been provided to the 
 Consultees below. 

 
  
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2005 
 
Author: Lisa Lane Head of Democratic Services and Deputy Monitoring Officer 
Consultees:       Christina Harrhy, Interim Chief Executive 
        Dave Street, Corporate Director of Social Services and Housing 
        Mark S Williams, Interim Director of Communities 
                              Ed Edmunds, Corporate Director for Education and Corporate Services 
                   Robert Tranter, Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer 

Page 111



 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Public Services Ombudsman Annual Letter 2018/2019. 
Appendix 2 Link to the Annual Report and Accounts  

https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Annual-Report-and-
Accounts-2018-2019-Final-ENG.pdf 

 
Background Papers – Report to Standards Committee 9th October 2019 – Public Services 
Ombudsman for Wales – Annual Report and Annual Letter 2018/19 

Page 112

https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Annual-Report-and-Accounts-2018-2019-Final-ENG.pdf
https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Annual-Report-and-Accounts-2018-2019-Final-ENG.pdf


 

 
 
 

Page 1 of 7 
 

 
 

Our ref:  NB  Ask for: Communications 
 

          01656 641150 

Date: 
  

7 August 2019       communications 
@ombudsman-wales.org.uk 

 
 
Councillor David Poole 
Council Leader 
Caerphilly County Borough Council 
 

By Email Only 
davidpoole@caerphilly.gov.uk 

 
 

Dear Councillor David Poole 
 

Annual Letter 2018/19 
 
I am pleased to provide you with the Annual letter (2018/19) for Caerphilly County 
Borough Council.  This year I am publishing my Annual Letters as part of my 
Annual Report and Accounts.  I hope the Council finds this helpful and I trust this 
will enable it to review its own complaint handling performance in the context of 
other public bodies performing similar functions across Wales. 
 
Whilst overall the number of complaints received relating to local authorities 
across Wales increased from 794 to 912, I am pleased that local authorities 
continue to work with my office to resolve many of these complaints at an early 
stage.  This provides complainants with appropriate and timely remedies avoiding 
the need for my office to fully investigate complaints. 
 
A summary of the complaints of maladministration/service failure received 
relating to the Council is attached.   
 
Also attached is a summary of the Code of Conduct complaints relating to 
members of the Council and the Town & Community Councils in your area. 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 1

Page 113

mailto:davidpoole@caerphilly.gov.uk


Page 2 of 7 
 

 

The Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2019 has now been introduced.  
I am delighted that the Assembly has approved this legislation giving the office 
new powers aimed at: 
 

• Improving access to my office 
 

• Providing a seamless mechanism for complaint handling when a patient’s 
NHS care is inextricably linked with private healthcare 
 

• Allowing me to undertake own initiative investigations when required in the 
public interest  
 

• Ensuring that complaints data from across Wales may be used to drive 
improvement in public services for citizens in Wales.   

 
I am very much looking forward to implementing these new powers over the 
coming year. 
 
Action for the Council to take: 
 

• Present my Annual Letter to the Cabinet to assist Members in their scrutiny 
of the Council’s performance 

 
• Work to reduce the number of cases which require intervention by my 

office 
 

• Inform me of the outcome of the Council’s considerations and proposed 
actions on the above matters by 31 October 2019. 

 
This correspondence is copied to the Chief Executive of your Council and to your 
Contact Officer.  Finally, a copy of all Annual Letters will be published on my 
website. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Nick Bennett 
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales  
 
CC: Christina Harrhy, Interim Chief Executive 
 Andrea Jones, Contact Officer 

Page 114



 
 

 

Page 3 of 7 
 
 

Factsheet 
 

A. Complaints Received and Investigated with Local Authority average adjusted for population distribution 
 

Local Authority Complaints 
Received Average  Complaints 

Investigated Average 

Caerphilly County Borough Council 2018/19 65 51 1 1 
Caerphilly County Borough Council 2017/18 40 45 1 1 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 8 20 0 0 
Bridgend County Borough Council 33 41 0 1 
Cardiff Council 115 103 0 2 
Carmarthenshire County Council 49 53 1 1 
Ceredigion County Council 23 21 0 0 
City and County of Swansea 83 70 0 2 
Conwy County Borough Council 41 33 2 1 
Denbighshire County Council 26 27 1 1 
Flintshire County Council 50 44 2 1 
Gwynedd Council 32 35 2 1 
Isle of Anglesey County Council 31 20 2 0 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 15 17 0 0 
Monmouthshire County Council 20 27 0 1 
Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council 38 40 1 1 
Newport City Council 38 43 0 1 
Pembrokeshire County Council 35 35 0 1 
Powys County Council 67 38 4 1 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 36 68 0 2 
Torfaen County Borough Council 12 26 1 1 
Vale of Glamorgan Council 24 37 0 1 
Wrexham County Borough Council 45 38 3 1 
Grand Total 886   20   

  

P
age 115



Page 4 of 7 
 

 

B. Complaints Received by Subject 

Caerphilly County Borough Council Complaints 
Received 

Adult Social Services 4 
Children Social Services 17 
Community Facilities. Recreation and Leisure 1 
Complaints Handling 5 
Education 2 
Environment and Environmental Health 3 
Finance and Taxation 1 
Housing 10 
Planning and Building Control 16 
Roads and Transport 4 
Various Other 2 

 
C. Comparison of complaint outcomes with average outcomes for Local Authorities, adjusted for population distribution 

 

Local Authority 

O
ut

 o
f 

Ju
ris

di
ct

io
n 

 

Pr
em

at
ur

e 

O
th

er
 c

as
es

 
cl

os
ed

 a
fte

r 
in

iti
al

 
co

ns
id

er
at

io
n 

Ea
rly

 R
es

ol
ut

io
n 

/ V
ol

un
ta

ry
 

se
ttl

em
en

t 

D
is

co
nt

in
ue

d 

O
th

er
 R

ep
or

t 
- N

ot
 u

ph
el

d 

O
th

er
 R

ep
or

t 
- U

ph
el

d 
in

 
w

ho
le

 o
r i

n 
pa

rt
 

Pu
bl

ic
 In

te
re

st
 

R
ep

or
ts

 

2018/19  
Caerphilly  6 26 26 9 - - 1 - 
Caerphilly (adjusted) 9 16 18 7 - 1 1 - 
2017/18  
Caerphilly  6 7 22 2  - 1 1 - 
Caerphilly (adjusted) 8 13 16 6 - 1 1 - 

P
age 116



Page 5 of 7 
 

 

D. Number of cases with PSOW intervention 

Local Authority 
No. of complaints 

with PSOW 
intervention 

Total number of 
closed complaints 

% of complaints with 
PSOW intervention 

Caerphilly County Borough Council 2018/19 8 68 12% 
Caerphilly County Borough Council 2017/18 3 39 8% 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 2 7 29% 
Bridgend County Borough Council 6 36 17% 
Cardiff Council 19 110 17% 
Carmarthenshire County Council 4 48 8% 
Ceredigion County Council 5 24 21% 
City and County Swansea 10 80 13% 
Conwy County Borough Council 5 39 13% 
Denbighshire County Council 4 30 13% 
Flintshire County Council 16 56 29% 
Gwynedd Council 6 35 17% 
Isle of Anglesey County Council 5 31 16% 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 0 14 0% 
Monmouthshire County Council 0 23 0% 
Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council 4 40 10% 
Newport City Council 7 43 16% 
Pembrokeshire County Council 6 33 18% 
Powys County Council 11 64 17% 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 4 34 12% 
Torfaen County Borough Council 1 12 8% 
Vale of Glamorgan Council 7 30 23% 
Wrexham County Borough Council 8 43 19% 

 
 
 

P
age 117



Page 6 of 7 
 

 

E. Code of Conduct Complaints Closed 

Local Authority 
Closed after 

initial 
consideration 

Discontinued 
No 

evidence 
of breach 

No action 
necessary 

Refer to 
Standards 
Committee 

Refer to 
Adjudication 

Panel 
Withdrawn Total 

2018/19  
Caerphilly  3 - - - - - - 3 
2017/18  
Caerphilly 4 - - - - - - 4 

 
F. Town/Community council Code of Conduct Complaints 

Town/Community
Council 

Closed after 
initial 

consideration  
Discontinued 

No 
evidence 
of breach 

No action 
necessary 

Refer to 
Standards 
Committee 

Refer to 
Adjudication 

Panel 
Withdrawn Total 

Darren Valley CC 4 - - - - - - 4 
 

P
age 118



 
 

Page 7 of 7 
 
 

Appendix 
 
Explanatory Notes 
 
Section A compares the number of complaints against the Local Authority which 
were received and investigated by my office during 2018/19, with the 
Local Authority average (adjusted for population distribution) during the same 
period.  
 
Section B provides a breakdown of the number of complaints about the 
Local Authority which were received by my office during 2018/19.  The figures are 
broken down into subject categories.  
 
Section C compares the complaint outcomes for the Local Authority during 
2018/19, with the average outcome (adjusted for population distribution) during 
the same period.  
 
Section D provides the numbers and percentages of cases received by the 
PSOW in which an intervention has occurred.  This includes all upheld 
complaints, early resolutions and voluntary settlements.  
 
Section E provides a breakdown of all Code of Conduct complaint outcomes 
against Councillors during 2018/19.  
 
Section F provides a breakdown of all Code of Conduct complaint outcomes 
against town or community councils. 

Feedback 

We welcome your feedback on the enclosed information, including suggestions 
for any information to be enclosed in future annual summaries.  Any feedback or 
queries should be sent via email to communications@ombudsman-wales.org.uk 
 
 
 

Page 119



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 120



 
 

COUNCIL – 23RD OCTOBER 2019 
 

SUBJECT: PROPOSAL FOR A STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
(SDP) FOR THE CARDIFF CAPITAL REGION  

 
REPORT BY:          INTERIM CORPORATE DIRECTOR - COMMUNITIES 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To seek council’s agreement to commence the process of preparing a Strategic 

Development Plan for the Cardiff Capital Region, including its governance 
arrangements and cost contributions. 

 
 

2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The report sets out proposals to prepare a Strategic Development Plan (SDP) for the 

10 Local Planning Authorities in the Cardiff Capital Region. The decision to proceed 
with the SDP requires endorsement by all 10 Councils in the region to authorise the 
Responsible Authority to submit a proposal to prepare the SDP to Welsh 
Government. A similar report to this is being presented to each of the 10 Councils 
over the coming months. 

 
2.2 The SDP is a regional level statutory Development Plan that sits above a Local 

Development Plan and below the Welsh Government's National Development 
Framework and it provides the strategic framework for LDPs to be prepared. A 
statutory SDP provides certainty to developers, investors and our communities that 
key strategic decisions in respect of housing, transport, employment and 
infrastructure provision are being taken at an appropriate regional level, whilst still 
allowing key decisions on planning proposals to be taken locally through Local 
Development Plan allocations and policies and thereafter in development 
management decisions. 

 
2.3 The report identifies some key issues for consideration around the preparation of the 

SDP, in particular: the extent of the Strategic Planning Area Boundary; governance 
arrangements; the scope and content of the SDP; and the length of the SDP plan 
period.  

 
2.4 The plan preparation process requires the identification of a Responsible Authority to 

submit the proposal to prepare the SDP to Welsh Government, and it is 
recommended that the Vale of Glamorgan Council take this role.  

 
2.5 A new Strategic Planning Panel will have the responsibility for preparing and 

adopting the SDP.  The Panel will comprise elected representatives from every Local 
Planning Authority within the Cardiff Capital Region boundary with each member 

Page 121

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 13



having a weighted vote. It is recommended that the Cabinet Member for Environment 
and Public Protection, represents Caerphilly County Borough Council on the Panel. 

 
2.6 If all 10 Councils agree to proceed with the SDP, a formal proposal will be prepared 

by the Responsible Authority and submitted to Welsh Government.  Thereafter, WG 
will prepare the appropriate regulations and the work on the preparation of the SDP 
will commence. 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 That Caerphilly County Borough Council agrees the content of the report and agrees 

that the Responsible Authority be authorised to submit the Proposal for a Strategic 
Development Plan (SDP) for the Cardiff Capital Region to the Minister on behalf of 
the 10 Local Planning Authorities in the region.  

 
3.2 That Caerphilly County Borough Council agrees the Vale of Glamorgan Council be 

the Responsible Authority for the Cardiff Capital Region Strategic Development Plan 
(SDP). 

 
3.3 That Caerphilly County Borough Council agrees that the strategic planning area 

should comprise the 10 local planning authority areas within the Cardiff Capital 
Region as shown on the map at Appendix A.   

 
3.4 That Caerphilly County Borough Council authorises relevant officers to engage with 

the Welsh Government in drafting the Strategic Development Plan Regulations to 
deliver the following governance arrangements for the SDP and Strategic Planning 
Panel (SPP): 

i. That the Strategic Planning Panel (SPP) will be comprised of 10 Members, 1 
from each constituent Local Authority with the weighting of votes for each 
constituent Local Authority being based on its population and geographical 
area as follows: 

 

Local Authority 

No. of Members on the 
Strategic Planning 

Panel 
Weighting of Vote 
for constituent LA 

Blaenau Gwent 1 1 

Bridgend 1 2 

Caerphilly 1 3 

Cardiff 1 5 

Merthyr Tydfil 1 1 

Monmouthshire 1 3 

Newport 1 2 

Rhondda Cynon Taff 1 3 

Torfaen 1 1 

Vale of Glamorgan 1 2 

Total  10 23 

Nominated non-voting panel 
members 

5 NA 

 Table 1: Strategic Planning Panel Composition and Weighting of Votes 
 

Page 122



ii. That constituent Councils will be engaged through a prior consultation 
process as set out in Figure 1 and the SPP shall have full regard to the 
comments of constituent Councils. 
 

iii. That decisions made on the SDP by the SPP shall require a 70% quorum of 
voting Members on the Panel and decisions shall require a 70% majority vote 
of a quorate meeting. 

 
3.5 That Caerphilly County Borough Council agrees the setting up of an Interim Strategic 

Planning Panel prior to the formal establishment of the SPP and the nominated 
Member below represent Caerphilly County Borough Council on the Interim Strategic 
Planning Panel with delegated authority to take initial decisions on the preparation of 
the SDP (with a vote weighted in accordance with the table at Recommendation 4(i)) 
and thereafter on the Strategic Planning Panel. Caerphilly County Borough Council 
nominates: 

 

 Cllr Eluned Stenner, Cabinet Member for Environment and Public Protection 
 
 That in the event that Member is no longer able to sit on Interim Strategic Planning 

Panel, give delegated authority to the Leader of the Council to nominate a new 
Member to represent the Council on the Interim Strategic Planning Panel and 
Strategic Planning Panel. 

 
3.6 That Caerphilly County Borough Council agrees that a Regional SDP officer team is 

established to progress the preparation of the SDP to be appointed by 
representatives of the Interim Strategic Planning Panel, with appropriate human 
resource support from the Responsible Authority. 

 
3.7 That Caerphilly County Borough Council agrees that the cost of preparing the SDP is 

shared across the 10 Authorities on a proportional cost, based on the voting 
representation on the Strategic Planning Panel.  That this be reviewed on an annual 
basis, with the initial contribution of £50,005, to cover the start-up costs likely to be 
incurred in this financial year 2019/20, being paid by Welsh Government in 
accordance with the Minister’s letter dated 15th July 2019  

  
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To authorise the preparation of a Strategic Development Plan (SDP) for the Cardiff 

Capital Region, providing clarity of intent and to allow work to commence. 
 
4.2 To authorise the Vale of Glamorgan Council as the Theme Lead under the existing 

City Deal arrangements as the Responsible Authority to administer the SDP.  The 
Regulations require that a Responsible Authority be identified to coordinate 
administrative and HR matters. 

 
4.3 To identify the strategic planning area as the 10 local planning authority areas within 

the Cardiff Capital Region, having regard to the environmental, economic, social and 
administrative functions of the Cardiff Capital Region.  The Regulations require that, 
when notifying the Welsh Government of the intention to proceed with a SDP, the 
strategic planning area is identified.  

 
4.4 To ensure the Strategic Development Plan Regulations deliver appropriate 

governance arrangements for the SDP and Strategic Planning Panel (SPP).  
 

Page 123



4.5 To set up an Interim Strategic Planning Panel prior to the formal establishment of the 
SPP with the nominated Member representing the Council on the Interim Strategic 
Planning Panel with delegated authority to take initial decisions on the preparation of 
the SDP including the appointment of the SDP Team. The Member is also nominated 
to represent the Council on the Strategic Planning Panel in due course.  

 
4.6 To establish a Regional SDP team to progress the preparation of the SDP to ensure 

adequate time and expertise is secured to ensure the successful delivery of a 
Strategic Development Plan (SDP) for the Cardiff Capital Region. 

 
4.7 To ensure that the cost of preparing the SDP is shared across the 10 Local 

Authorities on a proportional cost based on SPP voting arrangements, which is 
reviewed annually, and to cover the start-up costs likely to be incurred in this financial 
year 2019/20. 

 
 
5. THE REPORT 

 
 Background 
 
5.1  The Planning (Wales) Act 2015 sets out the process for establishing and preparing a 

Strategic Development Plan (SDP).  Welsh Government have invited all Local 
Planning Authorities to submit proposals for SDPs, stating that SDPs are necessary 
to provide a robust framework for the delivery of the land use implications of existing 
City Deal proposals; and to allow larger than local issues such as housing, 
employment and infrastructure, which cut across LPA boundaries to be considered in 
an integrated and comprehensive way.  

 
5.2 In 2018 the 10 Local Authorities comprising the Cardiff Capital Region (‘CCR’) 

commenced work to look at the potential for a Strategic Development Plan (SDP) for 
the region, on the basis that the way forward would  be subject to decision by each 
constituent authority. 

 
5.3 Since then, work has been on-going to establish some key areas of agreement to 

enable the project to proceed.  At this stage, the guidance and regulations for the 
SDP have not been made and the region is therefore in a position to influence how 
the process can be managed and a successful SDP delivered. Welsh Government 
officials have met with Lead Members and officers and are keen to work with us to 
progress the SDP. 

 
5.4 The Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet has held workshops attended by the Leaders, 

Chief Executives, the Lead Cabinet Members for Planning and the Chief Planning 
Officers of the 10 Cardiff Capital Region Authorities to discuss the key issues of: 

 Strategic Planning Area Boundary; 

 Governance; and 

 Scope, Content and Plan Period   
 
5.5 At these workshops and at subsequent discussions, a preferred way forward has 

been identified in respect of these issues. These considerations are set out below 
and have informed the recommendations in this report. 

 
 
 

Page 124



 Key Issues for Consideration 
 
 Benefits of a Cardiff Capital Region Strategic Development Plan 
5.6 There is a need for joined-up strategic planning for the Cardiff Capital Region, 

providing an enabling tool for the region’s economic growth, transport/connectivity 
and other ambitions.  The best way of achieving this is via a statutory Strategic 
Development Plan for the Cardiff Capital Region in order to:  

 Provide a regional spatial framework for the future development and use of 
land in the Cardiff Capital Region;  

 Achieve truly transformational change in the region; 

 Provide the mechanism for consensus to be reached on significant strategic 
and cross boundary land use issues;    

 Provide certainty, transparency and democratic accountability for decision 
making on land-use planning matters at a strategic/regional level;  

 Guide strategic public and private investment decisions, including those made 
under the City Deal initiative and beyond; and 

 Enable true collaboration between LPAs working together on a Development 
Plan framework for the region, with associated benefits such as shared 
resources, resilience and savings. 

 
5.7 The City Deal Agreement gave a commitment to prepare a Strategic Development 

Plan for the region and to work collaboratively on strategic transport and strategic 
planning issues.  This reflects the recommendation from the Growth Commission’s 
report. 

 
5.8 A statutory SDP provides certainty to developers, investors and our communities that 

key strategic decisions around housing, transport, employment and infrastructure 
provision are being taken at an appropriate regional level, whilst still allowing key 
decisions on planning proposals to be taken locally through Local Development Plan 
allocations and policies and thereafter in development management decisions. 

 
5.9 A proposal to proceed with an SDP for the Cardiff Capital Region can only be put 

forward to Welsh Government, by an identified Responsible Authority, once all 
Councils have formally given approval.  Following this Welsh Government can start 
preparing the necessary regulations setting out how the SDP should be prepared. 
Until now, they have not done so because no SDP proposals have been formally 
submitted. It is expected that the Cardiff Capital Region will be the first to do so. 
Therefore, the CCR have the ability to influence these regulations and establish a 
process that works best for this region. WG officials have confirmed that they are 
willing to assist us to achieve this.   

  
 Responsible Authority 
5.10 The Act sets out some initial stages of preparing an SDP, including identifying an 

area to be designated as a Strategic Planning Area and consulting on this proposal, 
submitting the proposal and a report describing the rationale, consultation and 
responses received to the Welsh Government.  To do this, the region needs to 
identify a ‘Responsible Authority’ to act as the main point of contact for the SDP 
during the setting up stages.  

 
5.11 It must be stressed that the role of the responsible authority is purely administrative, 

acting in support of the work of the 10 local authorities and as the sole point of 

Page 125



contact between the Welsh Government and the 10 local authorities.  The 
background work, including all technical work and consultation, e.g. identifying the 
strategic planning boundary, would be done on a collective basis by officers from all 
10 Local Authorities.  The role of the Responsible Authority would be to formally 
submit the proposal on behalf of the whole region to Welsh Government. 

 
5.12 The decision on who is identified as the Responsible Authority needs to be agreed by 

all 10 Councils. A paper setting out the relevant issues on this matter is attached at 
Appendix D.  The Vale of Glamorgan Council has been acting as the Interim 
Responsible Authority for the SDP, being the main point of contact and coordinator 
on the SDP project in the short term, in view of their Leader being the Theme Lead 
for planning under the City Deal arrangements.  It is considered necessary, at this 
stage, to identify the nominated Responsible Authority for endorsement and it is 
proposed that the Vale of Glamorgan Council undertake this role following on from its 
temporary role as the Interim Responsible Authority. 

 
 Strategic Planning Area Boundary 
5.13 The SDP needs to be clear about what land area it covers as a land use plan, and 

this is known as the Strategic Planning Area.  The submission to Welsh Government 
must include justification for the Strategic Planning Area.  Economic factors such as 
commuting flow patterns will need to considered, along with data on daytime and 
night-time populations for example, plus other physical or social factors.  However, 
the most significant factors in drawing a boundary are likely to be the vision, desired 
outcomes, and political consideration of what is already in place in terms of 
administrative boundaries and the important work already achieved with regard to the 
Cardiff Capital Region City Deal. 

 
5.14 The Cardiff Capital Region covers 10 unitary authorities, but 11 local planning 

authorities.  Areas of the Brecon Beacons National Park, which is its own local 
planning authority, overlap with areas of Monmouthshire and the Valleys. At the CCR 
SDP workshops held in July 2018, discussions mainly considered whether the 
Brecon Beacons National Park area should be within the area, partially within it, or 
wholly outside it.  Considering the advantages and disadvantages of each option, 
consensus was reached that the Strategic Planning Area should consist of the 10 
local planning authority areas within the Cardiff Capital Region as shown on the map 
at Appendix A which excludes those parts of the Brecon Beacons National Park that 
overlap with areas of Monmouthshire and the Valleys.  The Brecon Beacons National 
Park Authority has indicated that it agrees with this approach and does not wish to be 
part of the Strategic Planning Area or covered by the SDP. 

 
 Governance and Strategic Planning Panel 
5.15 The SDP governance model outlined in the Act represents a transfer of strategic 

planning powers from Local Authorities to a Strategic Planning Panel (SPP). Once 
the Responsible Authority has submitted a proposal and the Strategic Planning Area 
has been formally designated by the Welsh Government, a Strategic Planning Panel 
will then be formed and charged with the responsibility for preparing the SDP for the 
Strategic Planning Area.  The panel will consist of at least one elected member from 
each authority, plus other non-local authority nominated members.  The elected 
members will contribute two thirds of the makeup of the panel, with the other 
nominated members accounting for the remaining third.  Only the local authority 
elected members will have voting rights.  It is important to emphasise that the SPP 
will be the decision making body with regard to all aspects of the SDP, and not the 
responsible authority or the individual constituent Councils.  Individual Councils will 
be statutory consultees on all stages of the SDP and representations will be duly 
considered (see Figure 1), however, as noted, the Panel will be the decision making 

Page 126



body.  
 
5.16 It should be noted that further detail on the working arrangements of the SPP will be 

set out through future regulations after the Responsible Authority has reported back 
to the Minister. Some of these issues are of fundamental significance in terms of 
governance and go right to the heart of how the SDP will be managed and decisions 
are taken. Examples include uncertainties concerning voting rights, how many 
Members would sit on the Panel and how the gender composition requirements of 
40-60% female representation of Elected Members could be met. Furthermore, given 
that the regulations mean that the SPP cannot be established immediately, there is a 
need to consider the most appropriate interim governance arrangements as the initial 
stages of the SDP is progressed.  

 
5.17 The issue of governance has therefore been given significant consideration at 

Workshops and subsequent Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet discussions. The focus of 
these discussions has been around the appropriate representation of voting 
Members on the Panel from each constituent Council, how each Council can be 
effectively engaged in the decision making process and what voting arrangements 
would enable decisions to be made fairly. As a result of these discussions, a 
preferred governance structure is outlined below. 

 
 Representation on the Strategic Planning Panel (SPP) 
5.18 Voting of the SPP will be weighted having regard not only to the size of the 

population of the constituent authorities, but also weighted to have regard to the 
geographical area of the authority, given that the SDP will be a land use plan. This 
has been set out as follows with a total number equivalent to 23 voting Members of 
the Panel: 

 

Local Authority 

No. of Members on the 
Strategic Planning 

Panel 
Weighting of Vote 
for constituent LA 

Blaenau Gwent 1 1 

Bridgend 1 2 

Caerphilly 1 3 

Cardiff 1 5 

Merthyr Tydfil 1 1 

Monmouthshire 1 3 

Newport 1 2 

Rhondda Cynon Taff 1 3 

Torfaen 1 1 

Vale of Glamorgan 1 2 

Total  10 23 

Nominated non-voting panel 
members 

5 NA 

 Table 2: Representation and voting weighting for the SPP 
 
5.19 To ensure meetings are manageable and that Councils can resource the SPP with 

appropriate Members, it is recommended that the Panel comprises 1 Member from 
each constituent Council who are nominated to represent their Council and their vote 
is weighted accordingly. For example: 1 Member’s vote from Cardiff has the weight of 
5 votes. This will need to be set out by Welsh Government in the Regulations 
establishing the SPP or in the SPP’s constitution.  

 
5.20 The Act requires the voting members of the SPP to comply with the Strategic 

Page 127



Planning (Composition of Panels and Qualifying Expenditure) (Wales) Regulations 
2016, which require the local planning authority representatives to have a gender 
balance with no more than 60% of the SPP comprising one gender, except where the 
make-up of constituent local planning authorities makes the composition 
requirements unachievable. WG officials have advised they will take a pragmatic 
stance on this and that the LPA members on the SPP should comprise the most 
appropriate members in terms of their role within the constituent Councils, alongside 
relevant knowledge and experience.  

 
5.21 The SPP will consist of LPA members as set out above, and other (non-elected) 

members. The SPP requests and appoints non-elected nominated members (e.g. 
representatives from Business / Industry, Environmentalists, Transport specialists 
etc.) but they do not have voting rights. Local Authority members will make up 2/3rds 
of the SPP, therefore with 10 LA members there would be 5 non-elected members 
and a total SPP of 15. 

 
 Engagement with Constituent Councils 
5.22 To ensure that the constituent Councils are effectively engaged in the process, there 

will be formal stages of consultation in addition to continuous informal involvement 
throughout the preparation of the SDP. Potential options for ‘a prior consent 
approach’ or ‘a consultation approach’ to involve each Council in the process prior to 
the SPP making a formal decision have been considered and Counsel Opinion was 
sought about the legalities of the various approaches and whether there were 
alternatives not yet considered. Counsel did not consider that a unanimous vote of all 
LPA Members on the SPP was a realistic prospect. Nevertheless, Members on the 
SPP need to have an effective mechanism to gauge and reflect the views of their 
Councils. The aim being to provide that the SDP is prepared and progressed on the 
basis of working to achieve unanimous support for its proposals in advance of 
decisions being made by the SPP.  

 
5.23 Assuming the process mirrors that of Local Development Plan preparation, it is 

considered that the key stages of reporting / decision making (noting stages ii and iii 
can be combined) will be: 

i. Delivery Agreement 

ii. Vision 

iii. Preferred Strategy 

iv. Deposit SDP 

v. Focussed Changes to SDP (if relevant) 

vi. Submission of SDP to Welsh Government 

vii. Inspector’s Report and Adoption 
 
5.24 At present, when preparing Local Development Plans, Members are engaged in a 

variety of ways, for example: Community Engagement workshops; Visioning 
workshops; formal and informal Member briefing sessions with Full Council, the 
Cabinet or Executive, Political Groups or individual ward Members; formal reporting 
at key stages of development plan preparation; and during open public consultation 
at key stages of development plan preparation.  

 
5.25 It is anticipated that the same engagement will take place in the preparation of the 

Strategic Development Plan. In addition, Welsh Government officials envisaged that 
the SPP could be supported by a number of sub-committees focussing on key 

Page 128



themes such as Housing, Employment, and Transport and other LA Members could 
be on these Committees. 

 
5.26 Figure 1 shows how a ‘Prior Consultation’ approach should work at each of the key 

stages in plan preparation. In addition to the formal reporting stages above, Members 
of constituent Councils will be involved in the process throughout. 

 

 
 
 Voting  
5.27 Part 2(14) of the Planning Act states the SPP must make standing orders regulating 

its procedure and these must specify a quorum for meeting of the SPP, which must 
include at least half of the Local Planning Authority Members.   Consideration has 
been given to the decision-making framework for the Strategic Planning Panel.  

 
5.28 It is recommended that decisions made on the SDP by the SPP shall require a 70% 

quorum of voting Members on the Panel and decisions shall require a 70% majority 
vote of a quorate meeting. 

 
 Interim Governance Prior to Establishment of SPP 
5.29 It must be recognised that there will be a delay of several months before the WG lays 

regulations and formally establishes the Strategic Planning Panel. Therefore, it is 
recommended that an interim SPP is set up to steer the process in the intervening 
period to enable preparatory work to be undertaken. It is recommended that each 
Council nominate an Elected Member to represent them on an Interim Strategic 
Planning Panel with delegated authority to take initial decisions on the preparation of 
the SDP. The Interim SPP would have responsibility for oversight of the initial tasks 

Page 129



to proceed with the SDP. These will include: preparation and formal submission of 
the SDP Proposal to the Minister including justification for the Strategic Planning 
Area (60E of the Planning Act); liaison with Welsh Government on SDP draft 
regulations and guidance; recruitment of the SDP Team; and procurement of goods 
and services as required. It is likely that the Interim SPP will need to meet every 1-2 
months during this initial period prior to the formal establishment of the Strategic 
Planning Panel. 

 
5.30 Having regard to the role of the Interim Strategic Planning Panel in making these 

initial decisions, the following Elected Member is nominated to represent Caerphilly 
County Borough Council: Cllr Eluned Stenner, Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Public Protection. 

 
5.31 It is recommended that the Cabinet Member for Environment and Public Protection 

thereafter represents the Council on the Strategic Planning Panel, and that delegated 
authority be given to the Leader to nominate future representatives on the Panel as 
appropriate.  

 
 Scope, Content and Plan Period of the SDP 

5.32 In the absence of regulations or guidance on SDPs, officers have sought advice from 
Welsh Government officials about the likely scope, content and plan period of the 
SDP. Officers consider a 20 year plan period (e.g. 2020-2040) is most appropriate 
but further discussion can address this matter alongside plan content. The scope and 
content of the SDP is also open to debate and further consideration taking into 
account the scope and content of other development plans in the hierarchy i.e. the 
National Development Framework (NDF) and Local Development Plans (LDPs). Only 
those matters that have a regional significance should be included in the SDP and 
the scope needs to ensure that the preparation of the SDP is both manageable and 
effective. The emerging NDF would run to 2040. 

 
5.33 This issue was given some consideration at the CCR SDP workshop in July 2018. At 

this stage, it would be premature to be explicit about the scope and content of the 
Plan and this will be informed to a large extent by the evidence and the guidance to 
follow. However, at this stage, it is expected that the plan will include the following: 

 Objectives 

 A Vision for the Cardiff Capital Region 

 A Spatial Strategy that acknowledges the diversity of the region and its 
opportunities 

 Strategic policies and proposals 
 
5.34 It is expected there will be core issues / topics that must be covered by the SDP, 

including: 

 Housing need & supply – whole region, by LPA or Housing Market Areas 

 Employment need & supply 

 Strategic sites and new settlements 

 Strategic Infrastructure e.g. Transport 

 Green Infrastructure e.g. Green Belt 

 Strategic Policies / Development Management Policies 
 

Page 130



5.35 There may be other matters that could be covered if there was a willingness and / or 
need to do so, to maximise the benefits of preparing the SDP for the region. These 
could include: Decarbonisation and climate change mitigation, Minerals, Waste, 
Gypsy and Traveller need and provision, Renewable Energy, Retail, Tourism, Air 
Quality, etc. 

 
5.36 Whilst there remains some uncertainty on these matters, the governance framework 

recommended above will ensure that the scope and content of the SDP is evidence 
based and relevant to the constituent Councils of the Strategic Planning Area who 
will be engaged throughout the process of plan preparation. 

 
Officer and Financial Resources 

5.37 The SDP will require a new way of working by Local Planning Authorities across the 
region.  At present, planning policy in the region is generally undertaken at individual 
Local Planning Authority level, with a limited degree of collaboration and joint 
procurement of services at a regional or sub-regional level (undertaken on an 
informal basis). However, the region already benefits from a strong degree of 
communication in this field through the South East Wales Strategic Planning Group 
(SEWSPG). 

 
5.38 The delivery of the SDP will require focus and commitment and significant staff time. 

There are several ways in which this could be achieved, which need to be considered 
further. Potential options include: 

a. Informal collaboration with a Lead Authority; 

b. Procure consultancy services to undertake the SDP on behalf of the region; 

c. One or more LPAs prepare the SDP on behalf of the region; 

d. Regional SDP team established with appropriate personnel appointed which        
could include seconded officers from across the region; 

e. Formal reorganisation of regional strategic planning to cover all planning 
policy functions including Local Development Plans and associated work. 

 
5.39 The consideration of the various options is set out in the ‘Staff Resources’ paper at 

Appendix E.  Chief Planning Officers have given this matter some consideration and 
recommend that option ‘d’ is the preferred way forward in terms of cost efficiency and 
ensuring that the project is given sufficient focus and resource to ensure it is 
delivered in a timely manner.  

 
5.40 Depending on which option is pursued for resourcing the project, and what the plan 

period, scope and content of the SDP is, will influence the cost of preparing the SDP. 
It is expected that the overall cost of preparing the SDP, followed by a ‘light touch’ 
Local Development Plan (LDP) will be less than the cost of preparing 10 individual 
LDPs.  

 
5.41 The costs of introducing the SDP will include the following:  

 Staff costs (including on-costs);  

 Governance costs which include the cost of the SPP (including members and 
stakeholders) and their running costs;  

 A proportion of the time spent by specialist staff who input to the development 
plan system (e.g. GIS, ecologist, landscape architect, highways engineer, 
drainage engineer, legal, leisure, education, social services, 

Page 131



press/communications, development management, housing, property/estates 
and archaeology / heritage);  

 Specific consultation bodies (Welsh Government, Natural Resources Wales 
and Dwr Cymru Welsh Water);  

 Gathering an evidence base (this takes into account; sustainability 
appraisal/strategic environmental assessment, including an assessment of 
impacts on the use of the Welsh language; habitats regulation assessment; 
strategic housing market assessment and gypsy and travellers assessment; 
employment sites and market appraisal; retail assessment; renewable energy 
assessment; landscape appraisal; recreation and open space assessment; 
strategic flood consequences assessment; minerals and waste study and 
transport modelling);  

 Examination costs (taking into account the cost of the Planning Inspectorate, 
Programme Officer, expert evidence and accommodation costs);  

 Printing costs, translation costs and cost of adverts; and 

 IT consultation database, maintenance and ICT support.  
 
5.42 Analysis of the cost of preparing the SDP with a designated team is attached at 

Appendix F.  This report concludes that the estimated SDP cost for the Cardiff 
Capital Region will be £3.14m over 5 years.  By way of background, the preparation 
of individual Local Development Plans across the region cost between £1.4m and 
£2.2m depending on the complexity of local circumstances.  It is expected that the 
cost of preparing future LDP Lites will be significantly reduced as some of the key 
contentious issues that require significant Examination time and expenditure will have 
been agreed at the SDP stage where the costs will be shared and significantly 
reduced by doing so once rather than 10 times.  

 
5.43 The overall cost of the SDP based on a 5-year delivery programme is estimated to be 

£3,141,101 as follows: 

 Initial project set up costs £50,000 

 SDP Team Staff costs £1,812,036 

 Strategic Planning Panel £26,400 plus existing budget for LPA Members 

 Additional costs associated with SPP £34,290 

 Additional staff within local authority – existing budget 

 Evidence base £795,000 

 Examination £283,180 

 Printing costs £55,000 

 Translation costs £55,195 

 Cost of adverts - None 

 IT Support - £30,000 
 
5.43 It is recommended that the cost of preparing the SDP is shared across the 10 Local 

Authorities on a proportional contribution based on the vote weighting for the 

Page 132



Strategic Planning Panel which reflects population size and geographical area1 . This 
will be reviewed annually. Based on the proportional split of funding recommended 
the estimated cost would be shared between the constituent Councils as follows: 

 
 
 

Local Authority 

% Cost Based 
on SPP 

Member Votes Total Cost (£) Annual Cost (£) 

Blaenau Gwent 4.35 136,590 27,318 

Bridgend 8.7 273,180 54,636 

Caerphilly 13.04 409,456 81,891 

Cardiff 21.74 682,636 136,527 

Merthyr Tydfil 4.35 136,590 27,318 

Monmouthshire 13.04 409,456 81,891 

Newport 8.70 273,180 54,636 

Rhondda Cynon Taf 13.04 409,456 81,891 

Torfaen 4.35 136,590 27,318 

Vale of Glamorgan 8.70 273,180 54,636 

Total 100.01% 3,140,314 628,062 

Table 3: Apportionment of total and annual contributions for SDP preparation 
 
5.44 An initial contribution to cover the start-up costs likely to be incurred in this financial 

year 2019/20 will need to be made and this will be managed by the Vale of 
Glamorgan Council as the Responsible Authority. Following confirmation from the 
Welsh Government Minister for Housing and Local Government the Welsh 
Government will provide the initial contribution of £50,005 to cover the start-up costs 
likely to be incurred in this financial year. 

 
5.46 In addition, Local Authorities will need to consider the cost of their own LDP work, 

which will vary between Authorities depending on the stage they are at. 
 

Provisional Timeline for Preparation of SDP 
5.47 To proceed, all 10 Councils must first agree to embark on preparing a Strategic 

Development Plan for the Cardiff Capital Region. Assuming that this is agreed in the 
autumn of 2019, a provisional timeline for the preparation of the SDP is set out at 
Appendix C, which includes: starting work on the evidence base as soon as possible, 
publishing a Preferred Strategy in 2022, a Deposit Plan in 2023 and Examination 
then Adoption in 2024/25. 

 
CONCLUSION   

5.48 In conclusion the report seeks the council’s agreement to commencing the 
preparation of the SDP. 
 

6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 The costs set out in the report are estimated costs, based on the costs of LDP 
preparation in south east Wales and the timescales for delivery of the SDP are 
estimates based upon past experience and an understanding of what will be required 
to prepare a regional plan.  

                                                
1
 Note the legal provisions in Schedule 2A of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended by 

the Planning (Wales) Act 2015) relating to the financial arrangements for Strategic Planning Panels 

Page 133



7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
 Corporate Plan 2018-2023.   

 
7.1 The Cardiff Capital Region Strategic Development Plan will be a key project that will 

assist in delivering the 6 Corporate Plan Objectives: 
 
 Objective 1 - Improve education opportunities for all 

The SDP will provide a regional planning framework to assist in the delivery of the 
landuse aspects associated with this objective, including: 

 Tackling poverty 

 Providing economic conditions to encourage economic growth and skills 
development 

 Assist in the delivery of the City Deal Digital Strategy 

 Providing the landuse framework to deliver the right schools in the right places  
  
 Objective 2 – Enabling employment 

A principal element of the SDP will be setting out the regional economic framework to 
deliver the economic growth aspirations of the City Region. This will provide the 
environment to deliver all 5 of the Objective Outcomes. 

  

 Objective 3 - Address the availability, condition and sustainability of homes 

throughout the county borough and provide advice, assistance or support to help 

improve people’s well-being 

The SDP will set out the regional framework to deliver the range and quality of 

housing to meet this objective and its outcomes.  It will be responsible for identifying 

regional population and housing levels and assessing the local housing markets in 

the region.    

  

 Objective 4 - Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable transport system that 

increases opportunity, promotes prosperity and minimises the adverse impacts on 

the environment 

The SDP will provide the policy framework that will assist the delivery of the South 

East Wales Metro programme, which seeks to deliver a transformative transport 

system that increases accessibility throughout the region. 

  

 Objective 5 - Creating a county borough that supports a healthy lifestyle in 

accordance with the sustainable Development Principle within the Wellbeing of 

Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

The SDP will set out the strategic policy framework that will facilitate the creation of 

healthier places, providing opportunities to create environments that engender 

healthy lifestyles, whilst ensuring access to much needed housing and employment 

opportunities. 

  
 Objective 6 - Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well-being 
 The SDP will set out the strategic policy framework that will facilitate the support 

structures and services necessary to support the residents of the county borough.  It 
will also set out requirement as for new homes, job opportunities that will provide 
employment and homes for the county borough’s residents, assisting them to remain 
independent as well as improving their well-being. 

 

Page 134



 Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan Up To 2021 
 
7.3 The Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan (LDP) was adopted in 2010 

and provides the policy framework against which all development proposals are 
considered. The LDP is the council’s statutory land use plan.  The SDP will provide 
the regional policy perspective within which any revision of the LDP will be set, and it 
is a requirement that any LDP prepared under an Adopted SDP must be in general 
conformity with it.  As such the SDP will have a direct impact and bearing on any 
future revision of the LDP. 

 
 
8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 The SDP will provide a strategic land use document for the whole Cardiff Capital 

Region, setting out how and where sustainable development will be delivered. It is a 
cross-cutting plan that considers issues around housing, employment, transport, 
infrastructure, community facilities, education facilities, leisure and tourism, heritage 
and environmental assets. Therefore it will set a framework to deliver all seven well-
being Goals:-  

 A prosperous Wales 

 A resilient Wales 

 A healthier Wales 

 A more equal Wales 

 A Wales of cohesive communities 

 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language 

 A globally responsible Wales 
 
8.2 The Cardiff Capital Region Strategic Development Plan will be a key project 

demonstrating the 5 ways of working in action: 

 Long-term – the SDP will be all about planning for the future and taking a 
strategic approach to ensure the Cardiff Capital Region is sustainable and 
that we understand the future need and demand for sustainable development 
in the region and how that is best met. 

 Prevention – the SDP provides an opportunity to understand the root causes 
of issues and preventing them by being proactive in our thinking and 
understanding the need to tackle problems at source for example by 
undertaking needs assessments to inform our priorities. 

 Integration – the preparation of the SDP will be bring together all land use 
planning issues relevant at a strategic level across the Cardiff Capital Region, 
involving our partners, residents, visitors, employers and service providers in 
the formulation of the SDP.  

 Collaboration- the SDP will be a key collaboration project for the region 
enabling the 10 Local Planning Authorities to work together to form a statutory 
framework for land use planning for the region. 

 Involvement – preparation of the SDP will provide numerous opportunities to 
engage with our stakeholders, residents and customers, including the 
business community and will ensure that we are listening to a wide range of 
views to inform the plan and decision making process. 

Page 135



9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  Strategic Environmental Assessment and Sustainability Appraisal (SEA/SA) will both 

be required as part of the preparation of the SDP for the region.  Furthermore, the 
SEA/SA will need to conform with all relevant legislation and as such will also need to 
include Health and Equalities Impact Assessments as part of an holistic Integrated 
Impact Assessment. These issued will be addressed as part of the preparation of the 
SDP in an integrated process throughout the preparation period. 

 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The overall cost of the SDP based on a 5-year delivery programme is estimated to be 

£3.14m which will be shared on a proportional basis by the constituent Councils. Full 
details are set out in the report paragraphs 5.37 to 5.46 and at Appendix F. 

 
10.2 The Council will not need to contribute towards the initial set up costs this financial 

year as these will be met by Welsh Government. 
 
10.3 Thereafter, Caerphilly County Borough Council's annual contribution towards the 

SDP preparation will be approximately £82,000 as set out in the report, which will 
need to be met from Corporate Reserves.  

 
 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 The SDP project requires the establishment of an SDP Team to deliver it (as set out 

in paragraphs 5.37 to 5.39). In addition individual Local Planning Authorities may 
provide staff resources on secondment or project specific work, as required 
throughout the 5 year programme, albeit this would be on a voluntary basis, the costs 
of which would be covered by the SDP budget as set out in the report at Appendices 
E and F.  

 
 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 Two responses were received that raised the following issues: 

i. Assume all budgets quoted have included fees for contributing departments 
such as infrastructure 
The budgets and costs stated in the report are specifically associated with the 
Strategic Planning Panel and the proposed permanent planning team 
responsible for delivering the SDP. These costs do not cover the costs that 
may be incurred by each local authority in providing their input. 

ii. Para 5.41 Time by specialist staff – should include drainage engineers and 
engineering consultants (both internal or external) 
Whilst the term “highway engineer” is meant to encompass all of the 
engineering sphere, it would make sense to specifically refer to Drainage 
engineers due to the introduction of SuDS and the SAB. 

iii. Item 5.43 Additional staff within local authority – existing budget. – Will there 
be a budget to cover staff costs, as there is no budget for Engineering Project 
Group staff, or are no additional staff to be appointed? Would the cost of the 
be within the £1.8m for SDP Team staff costs? 

Page 136



The report is seeking the council’s commitment to commencing the 
preparation of a SDP for the region. This commitment not only includes he 
financial contribution from each authority towards the costs of preparing the 
SDP and setting up the Strategic Planning panel, but also includes a 
commitment to resource any input the authority would specifically have to the 
process. It should be noted that the Strategic Planning Team will commission 
work on a regional basis and this has been factored into costs of preparing 
the SDP.  However each individual local authority may want to input into the 
process and the commitment would be that each local authority would need to 
resource this from their own budgets.  Consequently the statement here is 
correct. 

iv. The paragraph references in Personnel Implications do not seem correct 
The paragraph references in this section are incorrect. Reference should be 
made to paragraphs 5.37 to 5,39, where the options for the delivery of the 
SDP are considered and the setting up of the dedicated SDP team is 
proposed. 

v. Have any thoughts been given to who the employing authority will be for 
option 4 (the dedicated SDP Team). 
The Strategic Planning Panel is the body responsible for delivering the SDP 
and as such it will be responsible for the SDP Team. The SDP Team will need 
to be set up as early as possible to ensure that the SDP is prepared as 
quickly as possible.  This will mean that the SDP Team will need to be 
appointed before the SPP Is formally set up.  As a result recommendation 3.6 
of this reports recommends that an Interim SPP be set up to cover this period 
and one of their responsibilities will be to appoint the SDP Team. 

 
 
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 

13.1 The Planning (Wales) Act 2015 contains provisions in Section 4 and Schedule 2A 
(Part 1) to designate a strategic planning area (SDP area) as well as the 
mechanism to establish a SPP. The legislation was commenced in October 2015 
and provides the opportunity for SDPs to come forward.   

 
 
Author: Dave Lucas, Team leader Strategic and Development Planning, 

lucasdj@caerphilly.gov.uk 
 
Consultees: Cllr E. Stenner – Cabinet Member for Environment & Public 

Protection/Planning 
Cllr Sean Morgan, Cabinet Member for Economy, Infrastructure, Sustainability 
& Wellbeing of Future Generations Champion (Chair) 
Christina Harrhy, Interim Chief Executive 
Mark S. Williams, Corporate Director Communities 
Dave Street, Corporate Director, Social Services 
Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director of Education and Corporate Services 
Steve Harris, Interim Head of Business Improvement and Acting Section 151 
Officer 
Rhian Kyte, Head of Regeneration and Planning 
Marcus Lloyd, Head of Infrastructure 
Rob Hartshorn - Head of Public Protection, Community and Leisure Services 
Mark Williams, Interim Head of Property Services 
Clive Campbell - Transportation Engineering Manager 

Page 137



Christopher Adams – Highway Engineering Group Manager 
Allan Dallimore, Regeneration Services Manager 
Kath Peters, Corporate Policy Manager 
Tim Stephens – Development Control Manager 
Mike Headington – Green Spaces and Transport Services Manager 
Phillip Griffiths – Green Spaces Strategy and Cemeteries Manager 
Mike Eedy - Finance Manager 
Anwen Cullinane, Senior Policy Officer (Equalities and Welsh Language) 
Lynne Donovan, Head of People Services 

 
Background Papers: 
Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Dave Lucas, Team Leader Strategic and Development 
Planning 01443 866744) 
 
The Strategic Planning (Composition of Panels and Qualifying Expenditure) (Wales) 
Regulations 2016 (Dave Lucas, Team Leader Strategic and Development Planning 01443 
866744) 
 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A: Proposed Strategic Planning Area Boundary Map 

Appendix B: Letter from Lesley Griffiths (then Cabinet Secretary for Energy, Planning and 
Rural Affairs) to all Leaders and Chief Executives dated 13.12.17  

Appendix C: SDP Timeline 

Appendix D: Responsible Authority - Options Paper 

Appendix E: Staff Resources 

Appendix F: Cost Analysis (June 2019) 

 

Page 138



Appendix A: Strategic Planning Area – Recommended Boundary shown edged red 

 

P
age 139



APPENDIX B

Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



 

Appendix C: Provisional Timeline for Preparation of SDP 

 

 

P
age 144



Appendix D 

Cardiff Capital Region Strategic Development Plan: 

Responsible Authority - Options Paper 

Introduction 

This paper has been prepared to consider who should be nominated as the Responsible 
Authority for the purpose of the Cardiff City Region Strategic Development Plan (SDP). It 
considers the issue of a ‘responsible authority’ for the purpose of section 60E, Part 3, of the 
Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (the Act). It sets out various options for consideration to inform a 
recommendation to each Council as part of a wider report seeking authorisation to proceed 
with an SDP for the region. 

The responsible authority’s role is primarily a coordinator of information and a formal 
channel for communication between the collective group of local authorities and the Welsh 
Government.  It is envisaged that the majority of background work, such as the technical 
work to devise a strategic planning boundary, including consultation, would be done on a 
collective basis by officers from all 10 Local Authorities.  The Responsible Authority would 
then formally submit the proposal on behalf of the whole region to Welsh Government.  
 
The paper has been prepared in consultation with chief planning officers from the Cardiff 
Capital Region and forms part of a group of papers to be presented to Members on the SDP 
proposals. 

Who decides who is the Responsible Authority? 
 
The decision on who is identified as the Responsible Authority will need to be agreed by 
each constituent Council.  
 
What is the Responsible Authority? 
 
The Responsible Authority is a nominated Local Authority within the Strategic Planning Area 
that acts as the main point of contact for the SDP project.The responsible authority’s role is 
primarily a coordinator of information and a formal channel between the collective group of 
local authorities and the Welsh Government.  The Responsible Authority is essentially a 
purely administrative role and does not infer any degree of authority for decision making in 
respect of SDP matters that will be the remit of the Strategic Planning Panel.  

Welsh Government officials have advised that the purpose of the Responsibility Authority is 
that of being the ‘host’ for the processes necessary to enable the Strategic Planning Panel to 
function, it is not about plan preparation.  

Part 3 of the Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (see Annex i) sets out the ‘responsible authority’ 
means the Local Authority given a direction by the Welsh Ministers to submit a proposal for 
an area to be designated as a strategic planning area under section 60D of the Act. Before 
issuing such a direction, the Welsh Government will first have been notified by the 

Page 145



Appendix D 

‘responsible authority’ of the proposal to prepare a SDP for the region (see template letter 
at Annex ii) and therefore one of the first tasks in starting the SDP preparation will be to 
identify a responsible authority to act as the main point of contact and coordinator for the 
initial stages. 
 
What will the Responsible Authority do? 
 
The Act sets out the various tasks, following the Direction by the Welsh Ministers, that need 
to be undertaken by the responsible authority (acting in conjunction with the other 
authorities) within 6 months of the direction or such time specified in the direction. These 
tasks are listed below: 
 

• Prepare a proposal for an area to be designated as a strategic planning area which 
must include: a map showing the boundaries of the strategic planning area, a 
statement of the reasons for proposing that area, and any other information 
specified by the Welsh Ministers in the direction. 

• Consult all other local planning authorities within all or part of the area covered in 
the proposed strategic planning area, and any other persons specified in the 
direction. 

• Prepare a report about the consultation. 
• Submit to the Welsh Ministers the proposal and the report about the consultation 

carried out. 
 
Once the above has been undertaken, the Minister will make regulations to establish the 
strategic planning area and establish a strategic planning panel for that area. The 
Responsible Authority will continue to act as the point of contact and administrator for that 
process. That Council’s legal / finance procedures will be used where applicable during the 
SDP process.  
 

Identification of Responsible Authority 

The decision on who is identified as the Responsible Authority will need to be agreed by 
each Council.  To inform this decision, Chief Planning Officers from across the region have 
considered the options available based on a willingness and capability to take on the 
Responsible Authority Role.  

Of the 10 Local Planning Authorities in the Cardiff Capital Region, 7 authorities have Local 
Development Plans (LDPs) that expire in 2021 and as such the majority are working on LDP 
reviews and replacement LDPs. In this respect, their ability to focus resources within their 
Strategic Planning Teams towards the SDP is more limited and it would appear logical at this 
stage that the Responsible Authority is one of those Planning Authorities not working on a 
new LDP. Furthermore, other Local Authorities in the region who are not actively 
undertaking LDP work have directed resources away from their Strategic Planning teams 
and towards Development Management where work pressures are constantly high and this 

Page 146



Appendix D 

may pose resource issues for some authorities and their ability to volunteer to be the 
Responsible Authority.  

Consideration has also been given to the joint working arrangements of the Cardiff Capital 
Region City Deal. The Leader and Managing Director of the Vale of Glamorgan Council are 
the ‘Planning’ Representatives on Cardiff Capital Region City Deal.  The Vale of Glamorgan is 
the ‘host authority’ for the Shared Regulatory Services sub-regional service and therefore 
has some previous experience of hosting regional working. Having adopted the Vale of 
Glamorgan LDP in 2017 the Council does have available resource within the Strategic 
Planning team to undertake the administrative work required by the Responsible Authority 
during the early stages of the SDP preparation. 

The Vale of Glamorgan Council has been acting as the Interim Responsible Authority for the 
SDP, being the main point of contact and coordinator on the SDP project in the short term.  
For the same reasons, it is recommended that the Vale of Glamorgan Council are identified 
as the ‘Responsible Authority’ for the SDP going forward. 

 
 

  

Page 147



Appendix D 

Annex i 
 

Part 3 of the Planning (Wales) Act 2015 
 
60D Power to designate strategic planning area and establish strategic planning panel 
 
(1) The Welsh Ministers may by regulations— 

 (a) designate an area in Wales as a strategic planning area for the purposes of this 
Part, and 
(b) establish a strategic planning panel for that area. 

 
(2) A strategic planning area must comprise— 

(a) all of the area of one local planning authority, and 
(b) all or part of the area of at least one other local planning authority. 

 
(3) The Welsh Ministers must not make regulations under this section unless— 

(a) they have given a direction under section 60E(1) to a local planning authority all 
or part of whose area is included in the strategic planning area to be designated by 
the regulations, 
(b) either— 

(i) a proposal for an area to be designated has been submitted in accordance 
with section 60E(6), or 
(ii) the period for complying with section 60E(6) has ended without a 
proposal being submitted, and 

(c) they have carried out any consultation required by section 60F(1). 
 
(4) Paragraphs (a) and (b) of subsection (3) do not apply in relation to regulations that 
revoke or amend previous regulations under this section. 
 
(5) Schedule 2A contains provisions about strategic planning panels. 
 
60E Preparation and submission of proposal for strategic planning area 
 
(1) The Welsh Ministers may direct one or more local planning authorities to submit a 
proposal for an area to be designated as a strategic planning area under section 60D. 
(2) If the Welsh Ministers give a direction under subsection (1), they must state their 
reasons for doing so. 
(3) In this section, the “responsible authority” means— 

(a) where a direction under subsection (1) is given to a single local planning 
authority, that authority; 
(b) where a direction under subsection (1) is given to two or more local planning 
authorities, those authorities acting jointly. 

(4)The responsible authority must prepare a proposal for an area to be designated as a 
strategic planning area. 
(5) Before submitting the proposal to the Welsh Ministers, the responsible authority must 
consult— 

Page 148



Appendix D 

(a) each local planning authority, other than one to which the direction under 
subsection (1) was given, for an area all or part of which is included in the proposed 
strategic planning area, and 
(b) any other persons specified in, or of a description specified in, the direction. 

(6) The responsible authority must submit to the Welsh Ministers— 
(a) the proposal, and 
(b) a report about the consultation carried out under subsection (5). 

(7) A proposal submitted under subsection (6)(a) must include— 
(a) a map showing the boundaries of the area which the responsible authority 
propose should be designated as a strategic planning area, 
(b) a statement of the reasons for proposing that area, and 
(c) any other information specified by the Welsh Ministers in the direction given 
under subsection (1). 

(8) The responsible authority must comply with subsection (6)— 
(a) before the end of any period specified in the direction; 
(b) if no period is specified in the direction, before the end of six months beginning 
with the day on which the direction is given. 

(9) The Welsh Ministers may agree to extend the period for complying with subsection (6) in 
a particular case. 
(10) The responsible authority must comply with any requirements set out in the direction 
as to— 

(a) how the consultation required by subsection (5) must be carried out; 
(b) the form and content of the report about the consultation; 
(c) how the proposal and the report must be submitted under subsection (6). 

(11) Subsection (12) applies if the Welsh Ministers, having given a direction under 
subsection (1), decide not to designate a strategic planning area. 
(12) The Welsh Ministers must give notice of their decision and the reasons for it— 

(a) to the responsible authority, and 
(b) if a proposal has been submitted under subsection (6), to each authority within 
subsection (5)(a). 

 
  

Page 149



Appendix D 

Annex ii – Template Letter to Minister 
 

*******DRAFT (Requires Full Council Approval)******* 

Julie James AM  
Minister for Housing and Local Government 
National Assembly for Wales  
Cardiff Bay  
Cardiff  
CF99 1NA 
 
 
Dear Julie James AM, 
 
Re: Strategic Development Plan for Cardiff Capital Region 
 
I write to you on behalf of the Cardiff Capital Region as the Responsible Authority for the 
purpose of Section 60E, Part 3 of the Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (the Act).  
 
I am pleased to advise you that the 10 Councils in South East Wales have formally resolved 
to prepare a Strategic Development Plan (SDP) for the Cardiff Capital Region, covering the 
following Local Planning Authority areas: 
 

• Blaenau Gwent 
• Bridgend 
• Caerphilly 
• Cardiff 
• Merthyr Tydfil  
• Monmouthshire  
• Newport 
• Rhondda Cynon Taf  
• Torfaen  
• Vale of Glamorgan 

 
In response to this letter I would be grateful if you could use your powers under the Act to 
issue a Direction to submit a proposal for the area to be designated as a strategic planning 
area under section 60D of the Act. Once the Direction is received we will prepare and 
consult on the proposal for the strategic planning area to enable you to thereafter prepare 
regulations to designate the area as a strategic planning area and establish a strategic 
planning panel for the area. 
 
I look forward to hearing from you and working together to prepare a Strategic 
Development Plan for the Cardiff Capital Region. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
On behalf of the Responsible Authority 

Page 150



APPENDIX E – Staff Resources for SDP

Cardiff Capital Region Strategic Development Plan Paper: Staff Resources

This report has been prepared to consider how the Cardiff City Region could respond to the 

regional working agenda in respect of strategic planning services to facilitate the 

prepara$on of a Strategic Development Plan (SDP). It sets out various op$ons about how 

the project could be resourced with staff and recommends a preferred op$on.

The report has been prepared in consulta$on with chief planning officers from the Cardiff 

Capital Region and has been agreed by them.

Background

At present, planning policy in the region is generally undertaken at individual Local Planning 

Authority level, with a limited degree of collabora$on and joint procurement of services at a

regional or sub-regional level (undertaken on an informal foo$ng). However, the region 

benefits from a strong degree of communica$on in this field through the South East Wales 

Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG).

Whilst Local Government Reform has been dismissed in the short term, Welsh Government 

have made it clear they want to see more collabora$ve working between Local Authori$es 

and Planning Policy has previously been iden$fied as an area which should be mandated to 

operate on a regional or sub-regional basis. Welsh Government has the regulatory power to 

require LPAs to undertake an SDP, Joint LDP or LDP if appropriate.

The previous Minister had invited the prepara$on of Joint LDPs in the region, which has 

been rejected by Local Authori$es in the region to date for numerous reasons. The 

prepara$on of an SDP provides the opportunity for the region to come together at a 

strategic level to plan for sustainable development in the Cardiff Capital Region. Following 

this, local authori$es may choose to prepare joint LDP ‘lite’ documents that accord with the

SDP strategy.

Ma�ers and Issues

In the Cardiff Capital Region there are 10 Local Planning Authori$es with varying status in 

terms of their development plan status. The following provides a list of Local Development 

Plan (LDP) Status across region in order of plan expira$on / review:

Blaenau Gwent - adopted on 22nd November 2012, Expires 2021; Undertaking plan review.

Bridgend - adopted 18th September 2013, Expires 2021; Undertaking plan review.

Caerphilly - adopted 23rd November 2010, Expires 2021.

Merthyr Tydfil - adopted 25th May 2011, Expires 2021; Undertaking plan review.

Monmouthshire - adopted 27th February 2014, Expires 2021; Undertaking plan review.

Page 151



Rhondda Cynon Taf - adopted 2nd March 2011, Expires 2021.

Torfaen - adopted 3rd December 2013, Expires 2021; Undertaking plan review.

Cardiff – adopted 28th January 2016, Expires 2026.

Newport – adopted 27th January 2015, Expires 2026.

Vale of Glamorgan – adopted 28th June 2017, Expires 2026.

The availability of staff resources within each Local Planning Authority will depend on the 

capacity of the team and the level of work being undertaken on other projects outside the 

SDP such as LDP review, prepara$on of SPGs, policy support to corporate projects and 

development management. The table below provides a summary of available resource in 

planning policy teams in the region at May 2019.

Core Policy Team Other
Current Work programme 

and ability to resource SDP

Blaenau Gwent 1 x Team Manager

1 x Team Leader

1 x Planning Assistant

Total - 3 FTE

Service Manager has 

Policy, DM and Building

Control within remit.

Central admin support.

Minerals provided by

Carmarthenshire

Policy team currently 

working on LDP Review.

Bridgend 1 x Team Manager

1 x Team Leader

2 x Senior Officer (one

currently vacant)

2 x Planning assistant (1 FT, 2

PT)

Total – 6 FTE

Strategic Transporta$on 

func$on now within wider

planning func$on

Policy team currently 

working on LDP Review.

Currently undergoing re- 

structure following merger

with Strategic 

Transporta$on Func$on

Depending on workloads 

could contribute ad hoc to

regional work.

Caerphilly 1 x Team Leaders

2 x Principal Officers 
1 x Planning Officer   
1 x Assistant Planner 
Total FTE - 5

Cardiff 3.5 x Policy Planners

Plus 3 FTE Officers within

Team currently providing

7 Place-making Team 

Planners covering Design, 

Master-planning, Projects,

Page 152



Core Policy Team Other
Current Work programme 

and ability to resource SDP

flexible support as Non- 

Strategic DM Case Officers

Total – 6.5 FTE

Infrastructure, viability, CIL,

S106, Heritage & 

Conserva$on.

Head of Planning, 

Opera$onal Manager of 

Strategic DM & Place- 

making & Opera$onal 

Manager for Non-Strategic

DM.

Merthyr Tydfil 1x Team leader

2.5 x Policy officers

Total – 3.5 FTE

No admin support.

Minerals service provided

by Carmarthen.

Policy team currently 

working on 1st 

Replacement LDP. 

Examina$on June / July 

2019. Adop$on an$cipated

Jan 2020.

There will be some capacity

to assist with SDP work 

post adop$on.

Monmouthshire 1 x Planning Policy Manager

1 x Principal Officer

1.8 x Senior Officer 

1 x Research Officer

Total – 4.8 FTE

Head of Planning Service

(including Development 

Management, Housing 

func$on and BC)

Policy team currently 

working on LDP Review, 

alongside current LDP 

monitoring for AMR and 4x

SPG in progress for current 

LDP.

No surplus capacity to 

assist with SDP, but if 

colleagues wish to apply 

for SDP roles and are 

successful, they would be 

supported and their posts 

would be backfilled.

Newport 1 x Planning Policy Manager

1.8 x Senior Policy Officer

Total – 2.8 FTE

Planning Systems Officer

(pooled resource with 

DM/BC/Policy)

Newport LDP adopted 

2015. Currently working on 

SPG, plan monitoring and 

planning consultancy work 

for DM and internal Council

projects.

Have some capacity to

Page 153



Core Policy Team Other
Current Work programme 

and ability to resource SDP

assist with specific projects 

and evidence base.

Rhondda Cynon Taf

1 X Planning Manager

(vacant)

1 X Team Leader

2 X Senior Planners

1 X Planner

1 X Planning Assistant

(vacant)

Total – 6 FTE

This team would primarily 

be required to prepare any 

future LDP for Rhondda 

Cynon Taf. Could offer 

interac$on and sharing of 

informa$on with the 

Regional SDP team.

Torfaen 2 x Principal Policy Officers

(Joint Team Leaders)

2 x Senior Policy Planners

DM support provided by

Central Admin Unit (not

dedicated)

Policy team currently 

working on LDP Review.

Total – 4 FTE

Forward Planning and

Building Regula$ons teams

report directly to Head of 

Planning and Development

who reports directly to 

Chief Officer 

Neighbourhoods, Planning 

& Public Protec$on

Vale of Glamorgan 1 x team leader

3 x senior planner (1 on 

secondment at Merthyr)

1 x Assistant planner

Total – 5 FTE

1 x Head of Service 

(Planning & Regenera$on),

1 x Opera$onal Manager

(Planning & Building 

Control)

Admin support from DM

Support  Services  team

as required

Minerals provided by

Carmarthenshire

VOG LDP adopted 2017. 

Currently working on SPG, 

plan monitoring and 

planning consultancy work

for internal Council 

projects (Housing, Estates 

etc.)

Have capacity available to 

undertake SDP Responsible

Authority role in 2019/20 

and 2020/21 before SDP 

Team set up.

Have capacity to assist with

specific projects and 

evidence base work to 

assist SDP Team.

Page 154



Op*ons for Delivering SDP

The delivery of the SDP requires focus and commitment and significant staff $me. There are 

several ways in which this could be achieved, which are considered further below.

Op*on 1 – Informal collabora*on with a Lead Authority

Keep exis$ng structures across 10 Local Planning Authori$es in the region, iden$fy a ‘Lead

Authority’ and divide the workload across exis$ng staff, delega$ng tasks on an informal 

collabora$ve basis repor$ng to lead authority.

Pros Cons

• Could start immediately

• No need for structural re-

organisa$on

• Allows flexibility to respond to peaks

/ troughs in workload

• Other work distrac$ng from SDP

prepara$on

• Reliance on other LPAs to find

resource to help out

• Par$cipants likely to retain own ‘LA’

bias

• Lack of autonomy of ‘Lead Authority’

• Would s$ll require Lead Officer role

to be appointed

Op*on 2 – Procure Consultancy Services

Keep exis$ng structures across 10 Local Planning Authori$es in the region, procure 

consultants to undertake all SDP prepara$on repor$ng back to LPAs. Would most likely 

need a ‘Lead Authority’ to act as commissioning authority and contact.

Pros Cons

• Impar$ality

• No need for structural re-

organisa$on

• Cost – likely to be more expensive to

but in services

• Lack local knowledge / experience

• Reliance on LPA officers to check

work and steer consultant input

• Lack of ‘buy-in’ on a long-term basis

• Delays in set-up / procurement which

would s$ll require LPA support

• Less experience with Member liaison

and issues of trust

Op*on 3 – One or more LPAs prepare the SDP on behalf of the Region

Page 155



One or more exis$ng LPA undertake the prepara$on of the SDP on behalf of the region, 

using exis$ng resources and recrui$ng new staff as necessary which could include 

secondment from other authori$es. The body would be responsible for prepara$on and 

delivery of the SDP, and poten$ally SDP review and SDP monitoring. Would require 

remunera$on from other LPAs not par$cipa$ng directly.

Pros Cons

• No need for structural re-

organisa$on

• Cost

• Lack of resources within exis$ng LPAs

to do this

• Other work distrac$ng from SDP prep

• Par$cipants likely to retain own ‘LA’

bias

• Lack of autonomy of the Authority

• Would s$ll require Lead Officer role

to be appointed and other staff

Op*on 4 – Regional SDP team established

Set up a regional SDP team to prepare the SDP who would be responsible for prepara$on

and delivery of the SDP, and poten$ally SDP review and SDP monitoring.

Pros Cons

• Allows true regional approach to SDP

– not local parochialism

• Provides focus on SDP in isola$on

from other work

• Would draw together the best people

for the job

• Provides a framework for 

collabora$on at a regional level on

land use planning maMers

• Could be used on a commercial basis

to provide exper$se / services for 

strategic planning outside the region

• Needs set up cost / $me

• Liaison / involvement from LPA 

officers will s$ll be required and

resourced

Op*on 5 – Regional Strategic Planning Re-structure / Merger

A formal restructure incorpora$ng the strategic planning policy func$on of all 10 Local 

Planning Authori$es in the region into one Regional Strategic Planning Policy Service. This

service would be responsible for the delivery of all maMers rela$ng to Development Plan 

prepara$on, adop$on and monitoring across the whole region. It would be a single

Page 156



organisa$on with shared terms & condi$ons and a joint responsibility for delivering this 

service across the whole region. The body would be responsible for prepara$on and delivery

of the SDP, Joint or single LDP lites, SDP/LDP review, evidence gathering, and Plan 

monitoring.

Pros Cons

• Allows true regional approach to SDP

– not local parochialism

• Needs set up cost / $me

• Opera$onally imprac$cal given

current LDP reviews underway

• Employee terms and condi$ons and

trade union impacts

• Would s$ll require separa$on of 

workload / func$ons to divide out

SDP and LDP work

Preferred Op*on

Having regard to the benefits and disadvantages of the ways of working set out above, the 

preferred op$on is considered to be Op$on 4 – Regional SDP team established.

In addi$on to the core team, there is likely to be specific projects that could be undertaken 

either by consultants or by officers with relevant exper$se within the region who could be 

seconded or tasked to deliver a specific project (e.g. popula$on projec$ons). Secondment 

from exis$ng local authority teams could result in LPA’s having difficulty in progressing their 

own LDPs to meet Delivery Agreement $meframes. Any secondments will need to be 

programmed to ensure that the ability of the affected authori$es to deliver their plans, in 

accordance with their delivery agreements, is not prejudiced.

Page 157



APPENDIX F – SDP Cost Analysis 

Cardiff Capital Region Strategic Development Plan – Cost Analysis (June 2019) 

Introduction 

1. This paper has been prepared to support the report seeking authorisation to proceed with the 
Strategic Development Plan (SDP) for the Cardiff Capital Region. It sets out the likely cost of 
preparing the SDP on this scale using best available evidence at this time. Evidence includes the 
Welsh Government’s Regulatory Impact Assessment Methodology for the Planning (Wales) Bill 
alongside actual costs for Local Development Plan preparation in the region over recent years 
and planned spend on current LDP preparation. The WG’s cost estimate for the SDP was circa 
£3.5m however this was a total cost and included costs such as LPA Members, LPA consultees 
and press notices which are not included below as explained in the report where appropriate. 
This report concludes that the estimated cost of preparing the SDP for the Cardiff Capital Region 
will be circa £3.14m over 5 years. 
 

2. The cost associated with preparing the SDP will need to be met by the constituent Local 
Authorities, albeit Welsh Government have indicated a willingness to support this collaboration 
project with some financial contribution which has yet to be agreed. 
 

3. The Strategic Planning (Composition of Panels and Qualifying Expenditure) (Wales) Regulations 
2016 set out the expenditure of a panel that is “qualifying expenditure” to be met by the 
constituent local planning authorities and includes: staff costs; remuneration of nominated and 
co-opted members of the panel; costs associated with the hire / occupation of premises; 
consultancy and technical fees; equipment costs and other costs associated with enabling a 
panel to undertake its functions under Part 6 of the 2004 Act.  

Initial project set up costs 

4. To date a significant amount of officer time has been dedicated to this process on a 
collaborative basis with input from officers across the region. If all Councils agree to proceed 
with the SDP, this will increase further in the short term before the SDP Team and Panel are 
established. Therefore, it is considered necessary to establish an initial budget to cover officer 
time involved in this project which varies between constituent authorities but is of benefit to 
the region as a whole and thus should be covered by the region. 
 

5. Initial tasks will include: 
 Preparation and formal submission of SDP Proposal to the Minister including justification for 

the Strategic Planning Area (60E of the Planning Act) 
 Liaison with WG on SDP draft regulations and guidance 
 Support to constituent LPAs on SDP matters such as attendance at Member and Officer 

briefings 
 Recruitment of SDP Team 
 Procuring appropriate office and meeting accommodation for SDP Team and Strategic 

Planning Panel (SPP) as appropriate 
 

Page 158



APPENDIX F – SDP Cost Analysis 

6. There are potential costs associated with these tasks such as staff time (with on costs), travel 
expenses, legal advice and other technical support as required.  
 

7. It is considered that £50,000 will be adequate to cover staff costs for this initial work, whilst any 
underspend can be carried forward to the main project. It is proposed in the main report that 
each constituent LA contribute their share towards this cost to the Responsible Authority 
following agreement by all Councils to proceed with the SDP. The Responsible Authority will 
administer the fund in the first instance and enable other Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) to 
charge their costs to the SDP project as appropriate.  
 

8. The proportional split of funding recommended in the main report is shown in the list below, 
and attributes this initial project set up cost as follows: 
 

Local Authority % cost based on SSP votes £ 
Blaenau Gwent  4.35 2,175 
Bridgend  8.7 4,350 
Caerphilly  13.04 6,520 
Cardiff  21.74 10,870 
Merthyr Tydfil 4.35 2,175 
Monmouthshire  13.04 6,520 
Newport  8.7 4,350 
Rhondda Cynon Taff  13.04 6,520 
Torfaen  4.35 2,175 
Vale of Glamorgan  8.7 4,350 
Total 100.01 50,005 

 

SDP Team Staff costs  

9. The delivery of the SDP will require focus and commitment and significant staff time. It is 
therefore considered that the best method for delivery would be to establish a dedicated 
regional SDP team to undertake the project (see Resources paper at Appendix E for justification 
of this approach).  
 

10. It is essential that the lead officer for the SDP Team is a person with a detailed knowledge of 
planning policy with proven experience of delivering a complex major project like the SDP. They 
will need to have a range of skills and personal attributes to enable them to deliver the project 
on time and within budget. The job will involve collaboration with 10 Local Authorities, including 
building relationships and trust with Members and Chief Officers across the region and 
supporting the Strategic Planning Panel. The position and salary therefore needs to be 
competitive to attract the very best person for the job and to reflect the seniority and 
responsibility that the role has for delivering strategic planning in the region. It is therefore 
recommended that the job is a Head of Service level equivalent to the Head of Service roles 
within the City Deal Office Leadership Team and the proposed salary below reflects this.  
 

Page 159



APPENDIX F – SDP Cost Analysis 

11. Similarly, the Policy Officers appointed to the SDP team need to be experienced officers with 
detailed knowledge of planning policy and proven experience of working on a complex major 
project like the SDP. To deliver the SDP, the team will have to understand and resolve a wide 
range of land-use planning issues that will vary significantly across the Cardiff Capital Region. 
Their work will inform plan-making in the region for the future and it must therefore be of the 
highest quality. In order to attract the very best people for the job, it is considered appropriate 
that the salaries reflect the more complex nature of the work at a strategic / regional level and 
are higher that the nearest equivalent role within Local Planning Authorities. The proposed 
salaries below reflect this. 
 

12. It should be emphasised that these are indicative salaries at this stage for the purpose of 
estimating a cost for the preparation of the SDP. They would need to be scrutinized through a 
job evaluation process in due course once job description and person specifications have been 
devised.  
 

13. Given the scope and nature of the project it is considered the following team structure would be 
appropriate: 
 Head of SDP Team – up to £69,318  
 Policy Officers x 4 – up to £41,675 
 Technical support x 1 up to £32,878 

 
14. The WG regulatory assessment assumed 60% on-costs which are 4% higher than those of a LPA 

due to estimated higher accommodation costs and were taken from a Welsh Government 
funded body. These are considered to be robust assumptions for this report1. 
 

15. Initially, it is thought that only the Lead Officer plus 2 in support would be required to start the 
project and set out the work programme for the delivery of the SDP, with the team growing to 
full strength once the plan preparation is underway. Therefore, the staff costs for the 5 year 
delivery programme are set out in Table 1 assuming mid-point salary range and 60% on-costs. 

Table 1: SDP Team Staff Costs (including on-costs) 

 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year4 Year 5 
Head of SDP £100,958  
(£63,099 + £37,859) 

£100,958 £100,958 £100,958 £100,958 £100,958 

Policy Officer £64,390  
(£40,244 + £24,146) 

£64,390 £64,390 £64,390 £64,390 £64,390 

Policy Officer £64,390  
(£40,244 + £24,146) 

£64,390 £64,390 £64,390 £64,390 £64,390 

Policy Officer £64,390  
(£40,244 + £24,146) 

£0 £32,195  
(6 months) 

£64,390 £64,390 £64,390 

Policy Officer £64,390  
(£40,244 + £24,146) 

£0 £32,195  
(6 months) 

£64,390 £64,390 £64,390 

Technical £50,011 - £50,011 £50,011 £50,011 £50,011 

                                                           
1 Note that Vale of Glamorgan Policy Team on-costs are currently approximately 40%.  

Page 160



APPENDIX F – SDP Cost Analysis 

(£31,257 + £18,754) 
Annual Total £229,738 £344,139 £408,529 £408,529 £408,529 
Overall Total £1,799,464 
 

16. Total staff costs including on costs for the 5 year SDP Preparation are therefore estimated at 
£1,799,464. This is slightly higher than the estimate used by WG of £1,739,350, who assumed 
lower salaries but a larger team of 7 with a hierarchy of Principal, Senior and Planning Officers. 
The Planning Policy Lead Officers in the region have considered this matter in light of their own 
management experience in delivering LDPs and consider the proposed team structure above to 
be more appropriate for the SDP project.  

17. In their analysis WG estimated ‘start up costs’ for an SDP team of £12,572 for desks, storage, IT, 
phones, and printing equipment, which appears reasonable. Therefore, a total staff cost of 
£1,812,036 is considered a reasonable estimate for the 5 year project.  
 

18. Once the SDP is adopted, it is considered that the SDP Team will continue to have a significant 
role to play in spatial planning in the region, including: monitoring and review of the SDP, 
involvement and support for LDPs / LDP Lite, regional evidence base review and close working 
arrangements with the Regional Transport Authority. Furthermore, given their skills and 
experience they will be able to offer services (commercially) to other regions in Wales and 
beyond embarking on regional spatial planning. Therefore, it is recommended that the SDP 
Team is established on a permanent basis with a predicted annual cost of approximately 
£408,529 although this has not been included in the cost appraisal for the initial preparation and 
adoption of the SDP.  
 

19. In addition to the core team, there is likely to be specific projects that could be undertaken 
either by consultants or by officers with relevant expertise within the region who could be 
seconded or tasked to deliver a specific project (e.g. population projections). These costs are 
included in the ‘Evidence Base’ section. Secondment from existing local authority teams could 
result in LPA’s having difficulty in progressing their own LDPs to meet Delivery Agreement 
timeframes. Any secondments will need to be programmed to ensure that the ability of the 
affected authorities to deliver their plans, in accordance with their delivery agreements, is not 
prejudiced.  

Strategic Planning Panel  

20. The Panel will comprise of two thirds locally elected members and one third from social, 
economic and environmental partners. It is estimated that the Panel will comprise of up to 23 
local elected members (see paragraphs 2.13-2.16 of main report) and up to 11 nominated 
members for the South East Wales area.  
 

21. It is estimated that the Strategic Planning Panel will be required to meet on a quarterly basis for 
half a day. Therefore it is estimated that 20 meetings, which is equal to 10 full days over the five 
year plan period will be required.  
 

Page 161



APPENDIX F – SDP Cost Analysis 

22. When preparing the SDP, it is anticipated that all Members of the strategic planning panel will 
sit on sub committees. It is anticipated that 4 sub committees would be formed to consider the 
main strategic issues of population, housing, transport and infrastructure. It is assumed that 9 
members of the strategic planning panel will sit on each sub group (consisting of two thirds 
members and one third stakeholders). Each sub committee would meet for a full day, four times 
a year, over a three year period, therefore 12 days per sub group. This equates to 12 days x 4 
subgroups = 48 days for 9 members. 
 

23. In addition, it is expected that the SDP Lead Officer will meet individually (or jointly as 
appropriate) with Members of constituent authorities during the preparation of the SDP to 
discuss Strategic issues and their impact within the Local Authority area. 
 

24. The Regulations prescribe that the costs of remuneration of a constituent local planning 
authority member of a panel is not “qualifying expenditure”. This will require time and 
commitment from Councillors but it is expected that this involvement is covered by existing 
budgets and no additional budget will be expected to cover these costs. 
 

25. The Regulations do include remuneration for nominated and co-opted members of the panel as 
qualifying expenditure to be met by the constituent local planning authorities. It is expected 
there will be up to 11 such Members of the panel2, attending an estimated 20 meetings of the 
Panel and a further 12 days for sub-committee meetings. Based on a total 32 days thoughout 
the process Remuneration is expected to be £26,400 in total for the 10 nominated Members of 
the Panel3. 

Additional costs associated with the Panel 

26. The undertaking of the SPP’s role and function is likely to incur additional costs in relation to 
expenses, room hire etc. WG estimated that this would cost the SPP £34,290 over the five year 
plan preparation period which appears reasonable. 

Additional staff within local authority  

27. WG’s regulatory impact assessment assumed the time spent by LPAs on the SDP and light touch 
LDP would be the same as for inputting on the LDP in the basis there would be no increase in 
their work load, but a redistribution of their time between the SDP and light touch LDP. It was 
estimated they would spend two thirds of their time inputting to the SDP and one third on the 
light touch LDP.  
 

28. However, in practice this will not be the case for the first SDP, which will be prepared at a time 
when at least 5 LPAs in the region are working on LDPs, hence the need to establish a separate 
team responsible for delivering the SDP (as set out above). With this in mind, there will only be 
limited involvement of those constituent LPA officers which does not amount to an increase in 

                                                           
2 Note this is a ‘maximum scenario’ that assumed 23 SPP voting LA Members being 2/3 of the panel and 11 co-
opted Members being 1/3 of the panel 
3 Remuneration is equivalent to that paid to appointed persons at National Park Authorities of £3625 per annum 
equating to a daily rate of £75 / day. 

Page 162



APPENDIX F – SDP Cost Analysis 

cost to individual LPAs. There will inevitably be cost-savings arising from shared evidence base 
and the SDP evidence base being useful to LDPs in preparation but it is difficult to quantify this 
at this stage given the varying stages of LDP preparation across the region. 
 

29. In addition, there will be some involvement from other consultees within Local Authorities such 
as Highways, Ecology, Landscapes, Education, Housing, Parks, Drainage, Environmental Health 
etc. However, given the strategic level of the document, their input will be less detailed than at 
LDP stage (where site allocations will be made) and should be covered within existing budgets. 
Therefore, no additional cost has been attributed here.  

Evidence base  

30. WG estimated that on average the cost of gathering the LDP evidence base for a single authority 
would be between £195,000 and £265,000. This varies from area to area depending on the 
prevalent land use issues and depending on capacity and capability within LPA teams and the 
use of consultants to undertake projects. The approximate cost of evidence base work within 
the region for previous LDPs is shown below: 
 
 Blaenau Gwent - £127,000 
 Bridgend - £250,000 
 Caerphilly - £200,000 
 Cardiff - £418,000 
 Merthyr Tydfil - £106,000 
 Monmouthshire - £489,000 
 Newport - £210,000 
 Rhondda Cynon Taff - £300,000 
 Torfaen - £200,000 
 Vale of Glamorgan – £168,000 

 
31. The above indicates an average cost in the region of £247,000. The scope of the studies required 

for the SDP will be similar to those prepared for an LDP however the SDP will consider broad 
principles and scale of provision, whilst the detail, such as site identification will be reflected in 
LDPs. These studies include:  
 Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment  
 Habitats Regulations Assessment  
 Equalities Impact Assessment 
 Health Impact Assessment 
 Local Housing Market Assessment 
 Population and Household Projections  
 Gypsy and Traveler Accommodation Assessment  
 Affordable housing viability  
 Employment sites and market appraisal  
 Retail assessment  
 Renewable Energy  
 Landscape  

Page 163



APPENDIX F – SDP Cost Analysis 

 Recreation/ open space / green infrastructure 
 Flooding – Strategic Food Consequences Assessment  
 Minerals  
 Waste  
 Transport 

 
32. For an area such as South East Wales WG estimated that the evidence base could cost 

approximately three times the cost of preparing an individual LDP’s evidence base i.e. £795,000 
based on WG’s upper estimate, which is considered to be a reasonable assumption. 

Examination 

33. WG’s estimated cost of a SDP examination for South East Wales was £283,180 taking into 
account the cost of two Inspectors and programme officer, accommodation costs and expert 
evidence. This is considered reasonable having regard to examination costs experienced for 
individual LDPs4.  

Printing costs  

34. WG estimated that the printing costs for a SDP are approximately £55,000. In practice, it is 
questionable whether it will be necessary or appropriate to print the SDP and associated 
consultation documents in paper form as most authorities only have electronic versions of their 
LDP available now. However, the cost has been included in the overall assumptions to ensure 
the overall cost assumptions are realistic and robust.  

Translation costs 

35. WG estimated translation costs to be £1,660 based on £83 per 1000 words for a 20,000 word 
document. These costs are still relevant today (VOG costs £80 per 1000 words). WG estimated 
that the SDP would be approximately 50% of the size of an average LDP (40,000 words at that 
time) and noted as a comparison, in Scotland, the adopted TAY Plan (10,300 words) SES Plan 
(17,000 words). However, more recent analysis of LDPs suggests the average length is closer to 
80,000 and therefore, a more accurate cost assumption based on it being half the length of an 
LDP is £3,320. 
 

36. WG did not include any cost estimate for translation of all the supporting information, letters 
and documents associated with preparing an SDP, however, this is a cost that will be incurred. 
Whilst it is difficult to judge at this stage without knowing the word count of the examination 
and supporting documents, based on similar LDP documents, a reasonable assumption would be 
625,000 words costing £51,875. 

Cost of adverts  

                                                           
4 Examination costs for LDPs: Cardiff £300,000; Vale of Glamorgan £155,000; Blaenau Gwent £75,000; Bridgend 
£80,000; Caerphilly £147,000.  

 

Page 164



APPENDIX F – SDP Cost Analysis 

37. WG assumed in 2015 that adverts would be required by regulations at the following SDP stages; 
Delivery Agreement; Preferred Strategy; Strategic Sites; Deposit; Submission; Examination and 
Adoption. It was assumed that one advert could cover two local planning authorities, therefore 
giving a 50% saving and cost of £44,100. 
 

38. Since then the LDP amendment regulations5 have removed the requirement to advertise in the 
local press in recognition of the fact that there are more effective ways of engaging local 
communities. Therefore, officers will expect WG to omit these requirements in the SDP 
Regulations. Therefore, this cost has been excluded from this analysis. 

IT Support 

39. The responsible authority will be able to provide normal ICT support to the team at nominal cost 
which is not included. However, there will be specific costs associated with the SDP, including an 
SDP database to manage the process such as the various stages of consultation. WG estimated 
the cost of an IT consultation database to be the same as for an individual local planning 
authority (estimated to be £15,000 to £20,000). An additional £10,000 is assumed for software 
licenses and support. 

Conclusion 

40. The overall cost of the SDP based on a 5 year delivery programme is estimated to be £3,141,101 
(rounded to £3.14m) as follows: 

 Initial project set up costs £50,000 
 SDP Team Staff costs £1,812,036 
 Strategic Planning Panel £26,400 plus existing budget for LPA Members 
 Additional costs associated with SPP £34,290 
 Additional staff within local authority – existing budget 
 Evidence base £795,000 
 Examination £283,180 
 Printing costs £55,000 
 Translation costs £55,195 
 Cost of adverts - None 
 IT Support - £30,000 

 
41. Based on the proportional split of funding recommended in the main report the estimated cost 

would be shared between the constituent Councils as follows: 

Table 2: SDP Costs per Local Authority 

Local Authority % cost based on 
SPP Member votes 

Total cost (£) Annual cost (£) 

Blaenau Gwent  4.35 136,590 27,318 
Bridgend  8.70 273,180 54,636 
Caerphilly  13.04 409,456 81,891 

                                                           
5 The Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2015 

Page 165



APPENDIX F – SDP Cost Analysis 

Cardiff  21.74 682,636 136,527 
Merthyr Tydfil 4.35 136,590 27,318 
Monmouthshire  13.04 409,456 81,891 
Newport  8.70 273,180 54,636 
Rhondda Cynon Taf 13.04 409,456 81,891 
Torfaen  4.35 136,590 27,318 
Vale of Glamorgan  8.70 273,180 54,636 
Total 100.01% 3,140,314 628,062 

 

42. In addition, Local Authorities will need to consider the cost of their own LDP work that will vary 
between Authorities depending on the stage they are at, as indicated below: 
 
 Blaenau Gwent - adopted on 22nd November 2012, Expires 2021; Undertaking plan review. 
 Bridgend - adopted 18th September 2013, Expires 2021; Undertaking plan review. 
 Caerphilly - adopted 23rd November 2010, Expires 2021. 
 Merthyr Tydfil - adopted 25th May 2011, Expires 2021; Undertaking plan review. 
 Monmouthshire - adopted 27th February 2014, Expires 2021; Undertaking plan review. 
 Rhondda Cynon Taf - adopted 2nd March 2011, Expires 2021. 
 Torfaen - adopted 3rd December 2013, Expires 2021; Undertaking plan review. 
 Cardiff – adopted 28th January 2016, Expires 2026. 
 Newport – adopted 27th January 2015, Expires 2026. 
 Vale of Glamorgan – adopted 28th June 2017, Expires 2026. 

 

Page 166



 
 

COUNCIL – 23RD OCTOBER 2019 
 

SUBJECT: CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH LOCAL DEVELOPMENT 
PLAN UP TO 2021 – ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT 2019 
(INCLUDING THE 5TH ANNUAL COMMUNITY 
INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY REPORT) 

 

REPORT BY: INTERIM CORPORATE DIRECTOR - COMMUNITIES 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 For members to consider the findings and recommendations of the Caerphilly County 

Borough Local Development Plan 2019 Annual Monitoring Report and to recommend 
that the 2019 Annual Monitoring Report be approved by Council. 
 

1.2 To recommend that the 2019 Annual Monitoring Report be submitted to the Welsh 
Government by 31 October 2019, in order to satisfy the Council’s statutory 
requirements. 

 
1.3 To seek Council agreement to commence the preparation of a full revision of the 

Adopted Local Development Plan. 

 
1.4 If Council agrees to the commencement of the preparation of a Replacement Local 

Development Plan, to seek Council approval for the necessary budgetary measures 
to provide the finance necessary to meet the costs of delivering the Regional 
Strategic Development Plan and the Replacement LDP. 

 
1.5 If Council agrees to the commencement of the preparation of a Replacement Local 

Development Plan, to seek Council agreement to the creation of a two-year fixed 
term post to complete the delivery of the Council’s Regeneration Strategy Framework 
via development and publication of area masterplans.  
 

Glossary of Terms Used in This Report 

LDP .......................... Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan 2010 up to 
2021(Adopted 2010) 

CCBC ....................... Caerphilly County Borough Council 

AMR ......................... Annual Monitoring Report 

WG ........................... Welsh Government 

CCR ......................... Cardiff Capital Region 

Regional Cabinet ...... Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet 

Page 167

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 14



CIL ............................ Community Infrastructure Levy 

Local Councils .......... Town Councils and/or Community Councils 

NDF…………………..National Development Framework 

PPW ......................... Planning Policy Wales  

TAN 1 ....................... Technical Advice Note 1: Joint Housing Land Availability Study 

SDP .......................... Strategic Development Plan 

 JHLAS ...................... Joint Housing Land Availability Studies 

 LDP Lite .................... Lite touch form of the LDP review where an SDP Is in place 

 

 
2. SUMMARY 

2.1 It is a statutory requirement that the Council submits an Annual Monitoring Report 
(AMR) to the Welsh Government (WG) that monitors whether or not the Caerphilly 
County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021 (LDP) is being implemented 
successfully. The overall purpose of the AMR is to identify whether the LDP Strategy, 
or any of the Strategy Policies, are not being implemented and if they are not, identify 
steps to rectify this. 

2.2 This is the eighth Annual Monitoring Report to be prepared for the Caerphilly County 
Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021 and it monitors the period from 1st April 
2018 to 31st March 2019. The Council is required to submit the 2019 Annual 
Monitoring Report to WG by the 31st October 2019. 

2.3 An overview of the data for the 2019 monitoring period provides an interesting insight 
into the implementation of the LDP over the last year. Of particular note for 2019 is 
the following: 

 The annual house building rate in this AMR has fallen this year from 284 to 
190 units (based on 2018 Joint Housing Land Availability Study figures). 

 The housing land supply figure has increased from 2.1 years to 2.3 years 
using the residual method, following the approval of several major housing 
applications.  

 The average house price for the county borough increased by 2% from 
£129,928 to £132,469. 

 The annual unemployment rate decreased from 6.2% to 5.2%. 

 The number of residents in employment increased from 80,700 to 81,900. 

 A further 12 hectares of employment land was granted planning permission. 

 Of the principal town centres, only Caerphilly and Risca-Pontymister have a 
vacancy rate of lower than 10% and both towns saw their vacancy rates 
decrease this year to the lowest levels since the LDP was adopted. 
Blackwood, Bargoed and Ystrad Mynach have all seen an increase in 
vacancy rates. 

 In the three principal towns with footfall counters (Caerphilly, Blackwood, 
Bargoed) there has been an increase in footfall in both Caerphilly and 
Blackwood. However, the previous AMR year data included a period of six 
weeks where the footfall counters were out of action so the data is not directly 

Page 168



comparable. The figures in Bargoed have decreased, but this is to be 
expected as there is now only one footfall camera within the town rather than 
two. 

 There was a further increase in visitor numbers to countryside recreation 
facilities to 1.5 million visitors per annum, and customer satisfaction has 
increased from 75% to 85%. 

2.4 The 2019 AMR also includes the annual monitoring statement for the Council’s 
implementation of its Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  This is the fifth year the 
AMR has included this. The 2019 CIL Monitoring identified that £756,590 had been 
collected in revenue, whilst £87,513 has been passed to Local Councils (Town and 
Community Councils) and £37,830 has been used to cover the costs of preparing and 
implementing CIL. A total of just over £1,086,000 remained in the CIL pot to assist in 
funding appropriate infrastructure. 

2.5 The 2013 AMR and subsequent AMRs have clearly identified the need for the LDP to 
be reviewed. Work commenced on a Review of the LDP in 2013, but in July 2016 the 
Council resolved to withdraw the Replacement LDP and seek support for the early 
preparation of a Strategic Development Plan (SDP) for the Cardiff Capital Region. 

2.6 Following extensive discussions, in June 2019 the Cardiff Capital Region Joint 
Cabinet endorsed the principle of preparing the SDP and agreed a report template to 
be considered by each of the 10 Councils within the Cardiff Capital Region, which 
sets out the geographical area to be covered by the SDP; the scope and content; 
governance arrangements and costs. The SDP report is due to be considered by 
each of the 10 LAs in the autumn of 2019. Subject to the agreement by the 10 LAs, it 
is anticipated that work will progress on the SDP. However, the proposed timescales 
for the preparation of the SDP will mean that the SDP is unlikely to be adopted until 
2025 at the earliest.  

2.7 It was originally envisaged that a light touch LDP (or LDP Lite) would be prepared in 
tandem with the preparation of the SDP as this would offer the best solution in 
respect of delivering regional objectives and the utilisation of resources. However, it 
would not be possible to progress significantly with an LDP Lite until there is certainty 
on the strategy and content of the SDP.  This would mean that an LDP Lite is unlikely 
to be adopted until 2026 at the earliest. In Caerphilly this would result in a period of 5 
years with no local development plan coverage, as the adopted LDP will expire at the 
end of 2021.  

2.8 The pressure for the Council to reconvene work on a Replacement LDP remains 
strong as:  

 There is a statutory requirement to move to review after four years;  

 There has been a substantial passage of time since the 2013 AMR identified 
the need to prepare a new plan;  

 Post 2021 the LDP will ‘drop dead’ and every effort should be made to ensure 
that the time without local development plan coverage is minimised; 

 There is an urgent need to increase the housing land supply to deliver market 
and affordable housing;  

 There is an urgent need to identify additional employment land to encourage 
economic growth in the county borough; and 

Page 169



 Further unplanned development is likely to be allowed on appeal in the short 
term. 

2.9 The 2019 Annual Monitoring Report therefore concludes and recommends that: 

 The 8th Annual Monitoring Plan has indicated that substantial progress 
has been made in implementing the Caerphilly County Borough Local 
Development Plan up to 2021.  

 In recognition of the need to identify more land for employment and 
housing to support local need and regional aspirations the 8th Annual 
Monitoring Report recommends that a review of the Adopted LDP be 
commenced. 

 In the period up to the adoption of a new Replacement LDP, the Council 
will continue to address the shortfall in the 5-year housing land supply 
through proactive action, including: 

o Considering proposals for new residential development on their 
relative planning merits on a site-by-site basis and have due 
regard for the need to increase the housing land supply in line 
with national planning policy and guidance; 

o Lobbying Welsh Government to establish funding mechanisms to 
incentivise sites in low viability areas and promote remediation of 
suitable brownfield sites for development; 

o Utilising the innovative funding model to bring forward Council 
owned sites with viability issues; 

o The identification of schemes through the Regeneration Project 
Board where funding opportunities could be exploited to deliver 
regeneration projects, including for housing and employment. 

2.10 With the AMR recommending that a review of the Adopted LDP be undertaken, 
consideration needs to be given to the form of revision that will be undertaken. There 
are two options for the form of review: 

 Full Review: A full review of the LDP utilising the whole LDP preparation 
process; 

 LDP Lite: The 2015 Planning Act made provision for local authorities to 
prepare a light touch review of the plan where a Strategic Development Plan 
is in place. The SDP would provide the strategic framework for the LDP and, 
as such, the LDP Lite would use a shorter preparation process as the strategy 
element will have already been identified. 

2.11 Whilst the preparation process for an LDP Lite is shorter and would deliver an 
adopted plan in a quicker timescale, an LDP Lite cannot be prepared and adopted 
until the SDP has itself been adopted.  As a result the LDP Lite process would mean 
that the county borough would be left without local development plan coverage for at 
least 5 years.  A full review of the LDP, whilst taking longer to prepare, could be 
commenced immediately and, as a result, could mean that the county borough would 
be without local development plan coverage for only two and half years. Therefore it 
is recommended that a Full Review of the LDP be commenced. 

2.12 The Review of the LDP will be a costly and time consuming process. It will require the 
Strategic Development Plans Team’s full focus in order to deliver the Review within 
the required 3 and a half year timescale. The Review of the LDP will also incur 

Page 170



significant costs arising from the need to establish an evidence base support the plan, 
engagement and consultation and the Examination process for the plan. It is 
estimated that the direct costs of preparing the Review of the LDP is in the region of 
£615,000. 

2.13 The Review of the LDP will require input from a range of other service areas in order 
to evidence and support the plan.  These services areas will incur significant costs, 
over and above their normal costs, as a result of their involvement in the process.  It 
has been estimated that the indirect costs to the other service areas is in the order of 
£220,000. 

2.14 Overall the costs of preparing a review of the LDP, both indirect and direct costs, are 
estimated to be within the region of £835,000. However, the majority of the costs will 
be incurred during two specific periods, namely during the gathering of the evidence 
base at the beginning of the process and the examination process in what is likely to 
be the third year of preparation. As a result the Council will need to ensure that 
appropriate finance is made available through the relevant budgeting processes to 
ensure the review of the LDP is properly resourced. 

2.15 Over the past 3 years the Strategic and Development Plans team has had a critical 
role in the preparation of policy documents focussing on the delivery of allocations 
within the LDP and promoting regeneration opportunities within the current land use 
planning framework. This work has included the preparation of ‘A Foundation for 
Success: The Regeneration Strategy for the County Borough’ and Masterplans for 
both Caerphilly Basin and Ystrad Mynach.  The need to refocus the Team onto the 
Review of the LDP will mean that the Team will not be able to prepare the remaining 
documents in the suite of Masterplans to support ‘A Foundation for Success’. 

2.16 It is essential that this work is completed in order for the Council to maximise the 
benefits from funding opportunities and to realise its regeneration objectives.  
Consequently it is proposed that a new fixed term post be created with responsibility 
for completing the suite of Masterplans.  It is anticipated that this work would take 
approximately 2 years to complete.  It is therefore recommended that a 2-year, fixed 
term planning officer post Grade 9 post be created, at the cost of  £44,615 per year 
(including on-costs, excluding pay inflation) to complete this work. 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 Council considers and notes the findings of the 2019 Annual Monitoring Report and 

approves the 2019 Annual Monitoring Report. 
 
3.2 The 2019 Annual Monitoring Report (Including the 5th Annual Community 

Infrastructure Levy Report) be submitted to the Welsh Government before the 
deadline of 31 October 2019. 

 
3.3 Council agrees to the commencement of a full Review of the Adopted Local 

Development Plan, to replace the Adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local 
Development Plan. 

 
3.4 Council approves the financial measures and makes budgetary provision available 

necessary to fund the preparation of both the regional Strategic Development Plan 
(subject of a separate Council report on 08/10/19) and the Replacement Local 
Development Plan. 

 

Page 171



3.5 Council approves the creation of a 2-year fixed term post funded from the 
Communities Directorate Service Reserves to complete the delivery of the suite of 
Masterplans to supplement the council’s Regeneration Strategy ’A Foundation for 
Success’. 

 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To comply with the requirements of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004, the LDP Wales Regulations 2005 and the SEA Directive. 
 
4.2 To comply with the requirements of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004, the LDP Wales Regulations 2005 and the SEA Directive. 
 
4.3 To comply with the recommendations set out in the 2019 Annual Monitoring Report 

and the requirements of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act for development 
plan coverage for the county borough 

 
4.4 To ensure that the council meets its financial contribution requirements in delivering 

the Strategic Development Plan and to provide the necessary budget to cover the 
cost of the preparation and adoption of a Replacement Local Development Plan 

 
4.5 To ensure that Regeneration Policy Framework is completed to provide a 

comprehensive suite of Masterplans to supplement the regeneration strategy ‘A 
Foundation for Success’ across the whole of the county borough. 

 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
 Background  

5.1 The Council formally adopted the Caerphilly County Borough Local Development 
Plan (LDP) on the 23 November 2010. Following the adoption of its LDP, the Council 
has a statutory obligation under section 61 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004 to keep all matters under review that are expected to affect the development 
of its area. Further, section 76 of the Act requires the Council to produce information 
on these matters in the form of an Annual Monitoring Report for submission to Welsh 
Government (WG). The 2019 AMR monitors the period from 1st April 2018 to 31st 
March 2019 and it is required to be submitted to WG by the 31st October 2019.  

5.2 The 2019 Report once again considers whether the Development Strategy that 
underpins the Adopted LDP remains valid; and whether or not the Strategy Policies 
contained in the Adopted LDP are being effective in delivering the Development 
Strategy and meeting the objectives of the plan.  

 
Annual Monitoring Requirements 

5.3 The Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2005 
(as amended) and the LDP Manual Edition 2 specify that the 2019 AMR is required to 
include the following: 

 An Executive Summary. 

 A review of changes to national and regional policy and guidance and their 
implications for the LDP. 

Page 172



 The Strategic Environmental Assessment/Sustainability Appraisal (SEA/SA) 
Monitoring based on the SEA/SA Monitoring Framework (LDP Appendix 18). 

 The LDP Monitoring based on the LDP Monitoring Framework (LDP Appendix 
19). 

 The required Statutory Indicators. 

 The recommendations on the course of action in respect of policies and the 
LDP as a whole. 

5.4 Copies of the full 2019 AMR entitled “Caerphilly County Borough LDP 8th Annual 
Monitoring Report 2019 (including the 5th Annual CIL Report)” together with the 
background statistical tables have been placed in the resource library and have been 
put on the members’ portal for members’ information. 

 Report of Findings 
  
 Changes in National, Regional and Local Policy Context 

5.5 External Changes need to be considered as part of the AMR and consideration needs 
to be given to how external factors are impacting upon how the LDP policies are 
being implemented.  These include changes to national policy or legislation; external 
conditions; and local considerations. There are a number of key changes that are 
considered in the 2019 AMR. 

 
National Planning Context 

National Development Framework 

5.6 Welsh Government continue to progress with work on the National Development 
Framework (NDF), the 20 year land use framework for Wales. A consultation on the 
Issues, Options and Preferred Option for the National Development Framework was 
undertaken during the monitoring period and representations were made on behalf of 
the Council to this consultation.  

5.7 The draft NDF was published for consultation in the summer of 2019. As this 
consultation will commence outside of the monitoring period, the content and 
potential implications of this will be considered in the 2020 AMR.   

Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 (PPW10) 

5.8 PPW10 was published in December 2018. PPW10 sets out the national land-use 
planning policies of the Welsh Government and provides the policy basis to inform 
policies and land-use allocations in Local Development Plans (LDPs). It is also a 
material consideration for decision makers in determining planning applications. 

5.9 PPW10 has been restructured, with a move away from topic-specific chapters and 
into policy themes derived from the well-being goals set out in the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. It identifies ‘Placemaking’ as a central concept 
for delivering sustainable places. Whilst PPW10 retains a significant element of the 
policy content included in Edition 9, there are a number of new policy statements 
across a range of policy areas which need to be considered in the determination of 
planning applications and in the preparation of future development plans. 

Draft Development Plans Manual 3 

Page 173



5.10 Welsh Government have also recently published for consultation a draft Development 
Plans Manual. Whilst the consultation document was published outside of the 
monitoring period, it is the key guidance document on the preparation of Local 
Development Plans in Wales and therefore its contents are critical to the AMR, and 
will inform future development plans.  

WGC 005/2018: Planning for Gypsy, Traveller and Showpeople Sites 

5.11 A Circular on Gypsy, Traveller and Showpeople Sites was published during the 
monitoring period.  The Circular provides guidance on the allocation of sufficient sites 
within development plans for residential use, transit sites and temporary stopping 
places, as well as the approach to criteria based policies. The content of the Circular 
will be given due consideration in the future preparation of development plans. 

Technical Advice Note (TAN 1): Joint Housing Land Availability Studies (2015)   

5.12 As reported in last year’s AMR, a significant change to Technical Advice Note (TAN) 
1: Joint Housing Land Availability Studies regarding the weight to be given to the 5 
year land supply in decision making has also been a key consideration. Following a 
consultation with key stakeholders, WG have dis-applied Paragraph 6.2 of the TAN. 
This paragraph indicates that where local planning authorities did not have a five year 
housing land supply, the need to increase the supply of housing should be given 
“considerable weight” when dealing with planning applications, provided they would 
otherwise comply with the development plan and national planning policies. Whilst 
“considerable weight” no longer needs to be given to increasing the housing supply, 
the housing land supply is still a material consideration and the weight to be attributed 
to it is a matter for the decision maker (i.e. the Local Planning Authority).  

 
Regional Planning Context 

Strategic Development Plan (SDP) 

5.13 In January 2018 the Cardiff Capital Region (CCR) Cabinet endorsed the 
recommendation that work should commence on the SDP for the Region. Since then, 
work has been ongoing to establish the key areas of agreement to enable the project 
to proceed.  The Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet has held workshops attended by the 
Leaders, Chief Executives, Lead Cabinet Members for Planning and Chief Planning 
Officers of the 10 Cardiff Capital Region Authorities to discuss the key issues of: 

 The area to be covered by the SDP (Strategic Planning Area [SPA]); 

 The scope and content of the SDP and the period it would cover; 

 Governance arrangements associated with the Strategic Planning Panel 
(SPP) including apportionment of membership and voting for the constituent 
authorities; and 

 The costs associated with the process, including the mechanism for delivering 
the SDP and how the costs should be apportioned between each of the 
constituent authorities. 

5.14 Following extensive discussions, in June 2019 the Joint Cabinet endorsed the 
principle of preparing the SDP and agreed that a report be presented to each of the 
constituent Councils to seek their approval to commence the SDP for the region. The 
report will be presented to each local authority in the autumn of 2019. The report to 
Caerphilly County Borough Council is being presented to Council alongside this AMR 
report.  

Page 174



Strategic Environmental Assessment/Sustainability Appraisal Monitoring 

5.15 The Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive requires local authorities to 
undertake Strategic Environmental Assessments (SEA) as part of the preparation of 
the LDP.  In addition to this the LDP Regulations requires a Sustainability Appraisal 
(SA) to be undertaken.  In preparing the LDP the Council undertook a joint SEA and 
SA and produced and published its SEA/SA Report in conjunction with the LDP. 

5.16 The SEA Directive also requires that the Council monitors the state of the 
environment through monitoring the sustainability objectives set out in the SEA/SA 
Report.  This forms an integral part of the AMR and is contained in Section 4. 

5.17 This year’s SEA monitoring shows a marked improvement to the position of the last 
two AMR years, where the results were skewed towards a negative overall effect. 
Whilst some indicators did record negative effects this year, many were different 
indicators to the ones that were negative in previous years and overall there 
continues to be no indicators that have consistently been negative since the adoption 
of the plan. The picture across all objectives is one of significant variation due to the 
site specific nature of certain indicators, external circumstances and the fact that 
many indicators are considered relative to national averages, rather than on a trend 
basis. 

LDP Policy Monitoring 

5.18 The LDP Monitoring considers each of the 22 Strategy Policies against the LDP 
Monitoring Framework to identify whether the policies are being effective and to 
identify any policies that are not being implemented.   

5.19 An overview of the LDP monitoring data for the 2019 AMR provides an interesting 
insight into the implementation of the LDP over the monitoring period. Of particular 
note for 2019 is the following: 

 The annual house building rate in this AMR has fallen this year from 284 to 
190 units (based on 2018 Joint Housing Land Availability Study figures). 

 The housing land supply figure has increased from 2.1 years to 2.3 years 
using the residual method, following the approval of several major housing 
applications. (It should be noted that the AMR uses the data from the previous 
year’s JHLAS, due to the fact that the JHLAS is generally agreed after the 
preparation of the data for the AMR Report. Therefore, the 2019 AMR uses 
the 2018 JHLAS information that actually covers the period 1 April 2017 to 31 
March 2018. The 2019 JHLAS has recently been agreed and the housing land 
supply has decreased to 2.0 years. This is still well below the 5-year 
requirement. This figure will be reflected in the 2019 AMR) 

 The average house price for the county borough increased by 2% from 
£129,928 to £132,469. 

 The annual unemployment rate decreased from 6.2% to 5.2%. 

 The number of residents in employment increased from 80,700 to 81,900. 

 A further 12 hectares of employment land was granted planning permission. 

 Of the principal town centres, only Caerphilly and Risca-Pontymister have a 
vacancy rate of lower than 10% and both towns saw their vacancy rates 
decrease this year to the lowest levels since the LDP was adopted. 

Page 175



Blackwood, Bargoed and Ystrad Mynach have all seen an increase in 
vacancy rates. 

 In the three principal towns with footfall counters (Caerphilly, Blackwood, 
Bargoed) there has been an increase in footfall in both Caerphilly and 
Blackwood. However, the previous AMR year data included a period of six 
weeks where the footfall counters were out of action so the data is not directly 
comparable. The figures in Bargoed have decreased, but this is to be 
expected as there is now only one footfall camera within the town rather than 
two. 

 There was a further increase in visitor numbers to countryside recreation 
facilities to 1.5 million visitors per annum, and customer satisfaction has 
increased from 75% to 85%. 

5.20 Where the land supply is less than 5 years, TAN 1 requires local authorities to take 
steps to increase the supply of housing land, which may include reviewing the 
development plan, releasing land in its ownership, expediting planning applications or 
securing the provision of infrastructure to release constrained sites.  

5.21 It should be noted that, following the preparation of the 2013 AMR Report, the 
Council commenced a review of the Adopted LDP. The Replacement LDP 
progressed through to its Deposit Stage before the Council resolved to withdraw it at 
the Council meeting on 19 July 2016. Following discussions with Welsh Government 
Ministers and senior officials, the Council formally withdrew the Replacement LDP at 
the Council meeting on 11 October 2016, as part of the resolution to agree the 2016 
Annual Monitoring Report.    

5.22 Since that decision there have been a number of applications for residential 
development, on sites that are not in accordance with the Adopted LDP, that have 
been allowed on appeal. The lack of a 5-year land supply was a key factor in the 
determination of the appeals. It is evident from these decisions that the Planning 
Inspectorate and Welsh Government both consider the 5-year land supply issue to be 
a significant material consideration in determining proposals for residential 
development.  

5.23 The dis-application of TAN 1 from 18th July 2018 means that local authorities will no 
longer need to give “considerable weight” to the lack of a 5 year housing land supply 
when determining planning applications. It should be noted that there is still a need to 
consider the lack of the 5 year housing land supply, but the weight attributed to it will 
be for decision makers to determine. Future applications will therefore be considered 
on their merits. However, there still remains a significant shortfall in housing. Whilst 
the Council is seeking to address this matter, in part through the release or relevant 
public sector land in the short term, the issue of the lack of a 5-year housing land 
supply will continue to be a significant issue.  

5.24 Objective 17 which addresses Caerphilly’s role as a commercial and employment 
centre and Objective 18, on providing and protecting a diverse portfolio of 
employment land for a variety of employment uses, have also been identified as not 
delivering, on the grounds of the small amount of land granted planning permission 
for employment use. Notably no allocated employment sites were being developed 
for employment use during the monitoring period. The LDP has been relatively 
successful in respect of the development of employment sites and it is therefore not 
surprising that only a few sites remain. However, it is important that opportunities are 
explored through the development plan process to ensure that there will be a diverse 

Page 176



portfolio of sites available in the future to support Caerphilly’s strategic position in 
respect of employment and commercial development 

5.25 Overall the LDP Monitoring finds the plan is being implemented within acceptable 
parameters, except for the issues of housing delivery and employment growth.       
 
Statutory (Mandatory) Indicators 

5.26 LDP Manual: Edition 2 has revised the number of statutory or mandatory indicators 
from the original 10, to just 4.  There are also 2 statutory indicators required through 
TAN1: Joint Housing Land Availability Studies, which remain unchanged.  Appendix 1 
to the AMR report sets out the plans performance against those monitoring indicators 
that are required by the Regulations. 

Community Infrastructure Levy – 5thAnnual Report 

5.27 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was introduced in Caerphilly County 
Borough on 1 July 2014.  It is a mandatory charge that is levied against all new 
qualifying development. 

5.28 In order to ensure that the implementation of the Community Infrastructure Levy is 
open and transparent, the Council must prepare an annual report on CIL.  The 2019 
AMR also comprises the 5th Annual Community Infrastructure Levy Monitoring Report 
(CIL Report). 

5.29 The CIL Report covers the previous financial year, in this instance 1st April 2018 to 
31st March 2019, and must be published on the Council’s website by 31 December 
each year. 

5.30 During the monitoring period a total of £756,590.43 in CIL receipts were received by 
the Council.  A total of £87,513.21 was paid to 7 Local Councils in accordance with 
the CIL Regulations.  In addition to this a further £25,346.12 is being retained for use 
within those areas of the county borough that are not covered by Local Councils.  

5.31 In accordance with the CIL Regulations provisions the Council has taken £37,829.52 
of the CIL receipts in admin fees to assist in covering the cost of implementing and 
operating the CIL.  The admin fees amount to 5% of the total CIL receipts for the 
year. 

5.32 It can be confirmed that no infrastructure payments have been received in lieu of CIL 
and no CIL receipts have been passed to third parties to provide infrastructure.  
Given the above, the remaining amount of CIL receipts available for expenditure on 
infrastructure items is £1,086,038.10. 

5.33 Bids for infrastructure funding from CIL will be considered and recommendations on 
what bids should receive funding will be reported to Council as part of the 2019/2020 
budget considerations. The 2019 Report will include details of all CIL spend for that 
year, as well as further income and expenditures.  

5.34 The Regulations also require all Local Councils in receipt of CIL revenue to prepare 
annual reports on their CIL income and expenditure, for inclusion in the annual CIL 
report. The annual local Council CIL reports are set out in Appendix 5 of the AMR 
Report. 

 AMR Conclusions and Recommendations 

Page 177



5.35 The 2019 AMR process has identified that 2 housing policies, namely: SP14 Total 
Housing Requirements; and SP15 Affordable Housing Target, are not being 
implemented as anticipated and require action to be taken. It also identifies one 
objective, namely Objective 9, which seeks to: “Ensure an adequate and appropriate 
range of housing sites are available across the County Borough in the most suitable 
locations to meet the housing requirements of all sections of the population” which is 
not being met.  

5.36 Since the economic crash in 2008 there has been a sustained reduction in housing 
delivery by the housebuilding industry, a factor that is outside the influence of the 
LDP.  During this time, the Adopted LDP has been successful in delivering housing, 
with just over half of the housing requirement developed to date. Given the poor 
economic conditions during much of the plan period, the scale of delivery is 
considered acceptable. However, with only two years of the plan period remaining, 
there is insufficient time for the build rate to increase to address the shortfall, even 
with improved economic conditions. The 2019 Joint Housing Land Availability Study 
(JHLAS) identifies that approximately 900 dwellings are expected to be delivered over 
the next two years. This represents a significant shortfall of 3,800 units of the total 
housing requirement for the plan period.  

5.37 Furthermore, there are concerns that two of the employment objectives of the plan 
are not being met – Objective 17, which seeks to “Capitalise on Caerphilly’s strategic 
position further developing its role as a commercial and employment centre in the 
heart of the Valleys City Region with strong links to the Heads of the Valleys area and 
as the smart alternative for locating development to Cardiff and Newport” and 
Objective 18 “Provide and protect a diverse portfolio of employment land for a variety 
of employment uses, focusing in particular on higher value employment opportunities 
and sites to meet local need, including waste management facilities.” 

5.38 The AMR highlights that 37.2 Ha of land has been developed during the plan period 
to date. The diversity and range of allocated sites that remain, particularly in the 
Caerphilly Basin, is limited and it would be timely to reconsider whether these 
continue to meet the needs of the business community. There has been a decrease 
in permissions for B1/B2/B8 employment this monitoring period, together with the low 
rates of delivery over the past three years, raising concerns that there is no longer the 
range and diversity of sites to meet future needs. This is critical in respect of local and 
regional aspirations, where City Deal strives to deliver 25,000 jobs in the region; the 
allocation of land is needed to facilitate this. 

5.39 The Adopted LDP is due to expire on 31st December 2021. Section 12 of the Planning 
(Wales) Act states that on expiry of the plan period, the LDP cannot be used for the 
purposes of making planning decisions. There has been an ongoing dialogue 
between Senior Members and officers and the Welsh Ministers and their officials 
regarding the possibility of deleting this subsection of the legislation to allow LDPs to 
be used beyond this date. However, the Minister for Housing and Local Government 
wrote to the Leader of the council on 12th June 2019 to advise that this would not be 
considered. The consequence of this is that, post 2021, planning applications will 
need to be determined against national policy rather than the locally specific policies 
contained within the LDP. This will restrict the ability to utilise a range of local policies 
such as the settlement boundary, town centre boundaries, employment site use 
restrictions or certain planning obligations (e.g. affordable housing targets, open 
space requirements). The commencement of a review of the LDP following the 
recommendations of this AMR will minimise the amount of time without local 
development plan coverage. 

Page 178



5.40 The Council has been working closely with the 10 LAs within the Cardiff Capital 
Region to progress the SDP to a point where the Governance, Strategic Planning 
Area Boundary and Scope, Content and Plan Period will hopefully be agreed by each 
authority in the autumn of 2019. The timescales to reach this point have, however, 
been longer than anticipated and critically the timetable for adoption of the SDP is 
now anticipated to be 2024/25, which is some three years after the expiry of the 
Adopted LDP, which expires on 31 December 2021.  It is therefore necessary to 
consider whether this position is still in the best interest of the County Borough.   

5.41 It was originally envisaged that a light touch LDP (LDPL) would be prepared in 
tandem with the preparation of the SDP as this would offer the best solution in 
respect of delivering regional objectives and the utilisation of resources. However, it 
would not be appropriate to make significant progress on an LDPL until such time as 
there is certainty on the soundness of the SDP strategy. The soundness of the SDP 
strategy will not be known until such time as the outcomes of the SDP Examination 
are known, which is estimated to be in 2024/25. An LDPL could not be adopted until 
2026 as a minimum, which would leave Caerphilly County Borough without an 
adopted local development plan for a period of 5 years; two years longer than if a full 
LDP Review was instigated in 2020. This would have significant implications for 
investment decisions in the County Borough, as well as increasing the time that the 
County Borough is vulnerable to speculative planning applications for all forms of 
development.  

5.42 In light of the above, the pressure for the Council to commence work on a new 
Replacement LDP is compelling as:  

 There is a statutory requirement to move to review after four years;  

 There has been a substantial passage of time since the 2013 AMR identified 
the need to prepare a new plan;  

 Post 2021 the LDP will ‘drop dead’ and every effort should be made to ensure 
that the time without local development plan coverage is minimised; 

 There is an urgent need to increase the housing land supply and to deliver 
market and affordable housing;  

 There is an urgent need to identify additional employment land to encourage 
economic growth in the county borough; and 

 Further unplanned development is likely to be allowed on appeal in the short 
term. 

5.43 However, most of these issues, with the exception of the employment objectives, 
have been identified in previous AMRs back to 2016, but the commencement of a 
revision of the LDP has not been recommended due to the fact that the decision to 
withdraw the Replacement LDP in 2016 included four recommendations, which 
included: 

 To work with all local planning authorities across the Cardiff City Capital 
Region to prepare a strategic development plan in line with the signed City 
Deal Agreement at the earliest possible time.  

5.44 This recommendation placed an onus on the Council to pursue the early preparation 
of a SDP for the Cardiff Capital Region.   

5.45 Following extensive discussions, in June 2019 the Cardiff Capital Region (CCR) 
Cabinet endorsed the principle of preparing the SDP and agreed a report template to 

Page 179



be reported to each of the 10 constituent local authorities seeking their agreement to 
commence work on the SDP.  This report will be presented to all 10 Councils by the 
end of October 2019. 

5.46 The fact that the CCR authorities are now in this position means that the July 2016 
Council Resolution has now been met.  As a result, this resolution can no longer be 
used as a reason not to commence work on the review of the Adopted LDP.  

5.47 The 2019 Annual Monitoring Report therefore concludes: 

 Since 2013 all AMRs have concluded that a revision of the Adopted LDP was 
required 

 The 2019 AMR concludes that a revision of the Adopted LDP is required on 
the basis of issues relating to housing and employment land 

 A report seeking the agreement of the 10 CCR local Authorities to commence 
the preparation of a SDP has satisfied the recommendation included in the 
withdrawal of the Replacement LDP 

5.48 The 2019 Annual Monitoring Report therefore concludes and recommends that: 

R1 The 8th Annual Monitoring Plan has indicated that substantial progress has 
been made in implementing the Caerphilly County Borough Local 
Development Plan up to 2021.  

R2 In recognition of the need to identify more land for employment and housing to 
support local need and regional aspirations the 8th Annual Monitoring Report 
recommends that a review of the Adopted LDP be commenced. 

R3  In the period up to the adoption of the revised LDP, the Council will continue 
to address the shortfall in the five year housing land supply through proactive 
action, including: 

o Considering proposals for new residential development on their 
relative planning merits on a site-by-site basis and have due regard for 
the need to increase the housing land supply in line with national 
planning policy and guidance; 

o Lobbying Welsh Government to establish funding mechanisms to 
incentivise sites in low viability areas and promote remediation of 
suitable brownfield sites for development; 

o Utilising the innovative funding model to bring forward Council owned 
sites with viability issues; 

o The identification of schemes through the Regeneration Project Board 
where funding opportunities could be exploited to deliver regeneration 
projects, including for housing and employment. 

Form of LDP Revision 

5.49 The Planning Wales Act 2019 sets out the provisions for the preparation of Strategic 
Development Plans.  In addition to this the Act sets out the provisions for local 
authorities within the area covered by an SDP to undertake a short form of LDP 
review termed an LDP Lite. The LDP Lite would benefit from the overarching strategy 
and strategic policies set out in the SDP. As a result the LDP Lite would comprise 
allocations and local development control policies. 

5.50 Given the reduced content and the fact that the LDP Lite would not require the 
Preferred Strategy stage, due to the SDP Strategy, the LDP Lite would be quicker to 

Page 180



prepare than a full review.  However, an LDP Lite is directly related to the SDP and 
would therefore need to be prepared after the SDP.  Welsh Government has advised 
that an LDP Lite should be prepared following the adoption of the SDP. It would be 
possible to commence the preparation of an LDP Lite when the SDP has reached a 
stage of relative certainty, i.e. submission for examination.  Commencing preparation 
of an LDP Lite before the SDP is adopted runs the risk that the LDP Lite may be 
found not in conformity with the SDP if changes are made to the SDP as part of the 
examination process. This would require additional work to address the issue and 
would increase the preparation time for the LDP Lite. 

5.51 Even if the LDP Lite is commenced at submission stage of the SDP, the current 
programme would see the SDP adopted in 2025 and this would mean that the earliest 
that the LDP Lite could be adopted would be mid to late 2026.  With the Adopted LDP 
reaching its ‘drop dead’ point at the end of 2021, this would mean a period of at least 
5 years without local development plan coverage. 

5.52 By comparison a full review of the Adopted LDP would require the full process, 
including the Preferred Strategy stage. Due to the fact that the Adopted LDP has an 
evidence base, which would only require updating, Welsh Government expect LDP 
Revisions to take only three and half years to prepare and adopt. If the decision is 
taken to commence a full review it is anticipated that a revised LDP could be adopted 
in early 2024.  This would mean that the period without local development plan 
coverage would be just over 3 years. 

5.53 Care would need to be taken with the preparation of a full review of the LDP to 
ensure that it remains in conformity with the emerging SDP as it is progressed, albeit 
slightly behind the LDP.  If the new Replacement LDP is not in general conformity 
with the adopted SDP, then a further review of the LDP would be required, albeit in 
the form of the LDP Lite. 

5.54 The key issue in respect of the LDP is the period without local development plan 
coverage, i.e. the period after the drop dead date of the Adopted LDP, post 2021. An 
adopted LDP provides the policy framework for making development management 
decisions and also provide certainty to investors.  Following the drop dead date 
development proposals can only be determined against national planning policy and 
guidance, with the potential for developments that would not normally be acceptable, 
being permitted.  

5.55 More importantly, however, the lack of local development plan coverage is likely to 
have a significant adverse effect on investment decisions.  The certainty that 
development plans provide are a key element in such decisions and the period 
without coverage could have a significant impact on investment into the county 
borough, at a time when the City Deal, Metro and Valleys Task Force programmes 
are targeting growth and investment in the county borough. 

5.56 Given this it is essential that the period without local development plan coverage is 
minimised and therefore the Council should now resolve to commence a full review of 
the Adopted LDP with the aim of adopting a new LDP in early 2024. 

Consequential Implications of Commencing a Revision of the LDP 

5.57 The preparation of an LDP is a costly and work intensive task that continues over a 
period of years. Through Planning Policy Wales and the amended LDP Manual, 
Welsh Government has reduced the period expected for the preparation of a 
development plan to just 3½ years, which means a much greater work and cost focus 

Page 181



than has previously been the case. In making a decision to commence the revision of 
the Adopted LDP, Member will need to be advised of the implications in respect of the 
decision, particularly in respect of the costs of preparation and the impact on the 
workload of the Strategic Planning Team. 

Direct Costs 

5.58 There are significant cost implications in preparing a new LDP.  The plans are 
underpinned by an exhaustive evidence base, which is based on a significant amount 
of information and assessments. The plan will be subject to extensive public 
engagement and consultation and ultimately the plan will be the subject of 
independent Examination by the Planning Inspectorate before being adopted.  All of 
these elements have significant cost implications and the Council will need to set 
aside sufficient finance to cover these costs. 

5.59 The cost of preparing the Adopted LDP, which was commenced in 2006 and was 
adopted in 2010, was in the region of £450,000, not including staff costs.  In order to 
provide an estimate of the potential costs of preparing a Replacement LDP the costs 
incurred previously have been updated, as those costs are now over 10 years old.  
Since the adoption of the LDP in 2010, costs have increased and this will need to be 
reflected in the budget to prepare a Replacement LDP. 

5.60 Since the adoption of the LDP in 2010 changes to legislation and guidance have 
significantly increased the level of information required to prepare a plan, as well as 
introducing significant new requirements and procedures, all of which increase  the 
cost of preparing a new LDP. 

5.61 It is estimated that the cost of undertaking a full review of the LDP will be in the order 
of £615,000, based on revised estimates of costs from 2010. These costs include the 
whole of the plan preparation process, the costs of procuring detailed pieces of 
evidence that cannot be undertaken internally, such as viability evidence, Habitats 
Regulations Assessment etc. 

Indirect Costs 

5.62 The preparation of a new LDP also requires input from other service areas within the 
Council, most notably from Highways, Environmental Health, Countryside (ecology 
and landscape) and Housing. The input required from these service areas is, in most 
cases, additional to their normal duties and the costs which will be incurred as part of 
the LDP process has not been factored into their respective budgets to date. 

5.63 An assessment of the additional costs likely to be incurred by these service areas has 
been undertaken and has been based on the time and work undertaken by these 
services in preparing the Adopted LDP.  It is estimated that the additional costs of 
preparing the LDP is in the region of £220,000 and covers the additional work and 
any procurement of any consultancy services necessary to provide the service area 
expert advice and input, e.g. traffic modelling, air quality modelling, ecological & 
landscape assessment. 

Programming The Costs 

5.64 The costs of preparing an LDP are not realised consistently throughout the plan 
preparation process.  The major costs associated with the LDP preparation process 
are generally incurred during two specific periods: the first period of major costs are 
incurred during the gathering of the evidence base to support the plan during the first 

Page 182



year or so of the process.  The second period of major costs are associated with the 
Examination of the plan by an independent Planning Inspector generally in the third 
year of LDP preparation.   

5.65 In making provision to ensure that sufficient finance is made available to prepare the 
LDP it is important that the budgets reflect the periods of high costs to ensure that 
sufficient finance and resources are available and that the LDP preparation is not 
delayed due to financial constraints. 

Associated Work Costs of Commencing LDP Preparation 

5.66 Over the past 3 years the Strategic and Development Plans team have had a critical 
role in the preparation of policy documents focussing on the delivery of allocations 
within the LDP and promoting regeneration opportunities within the current land use 
planning framework. This work has included the preparation of ‘A Foundation for 
Success: The Regeneration Strategy for the County Borough’ and Masterplans for 
both Caerphilly Basin and Ystrad Mynach.  

5.67  ‘A Foundation for Success’ identifies that a suite of masterplans needed to be 
prepared to provide more detailed proposals, to supplement the overarching 
framework for the county borough.  2 Masterplans have already been approved by 
the Council, namely the Caerphilly Basin and Ystrad Mynach Masterplans, whilst the 
Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area Masterplan is in preparation. Work has yet 
to commence on the remaining 2 Masterplans. It is important that the regeneration 
framework is completed to ensure that funding sources can be sought for proposals 
throughout the whole of the county borough to aid the delivery of the Council’s 
regeneration objectives.  

5.68 The commencement of the review of the LDP, together with an ongoing involvement 
in the SDP plan preparation process, will mean that the team will no longer have 
sufficient capacity and resources to lead on Masterplan delivery in addition to 
delivering the Replacement LDP. Consequently it is recommended that a two-year, 
fixed term post be created with responsibility for delivering the remaining 2 
Masterplans for Greater Blackwood and the Newbridge to Risca Corridor. 

5.69 It is recommended that the post would need to be at the Planning Officer level (grade 
9) in order to be of a sufficient grade to undertake the duties of the post. It is 
anticipated that the remaining 2 Masterplans would take 2 years to complete. As such 
it is recommended that a 2-year, fixed term Planning Officer post be created at a cost, 
including on costs, of £44,615 per year (not including pay inflation) and that the cost 
is met from the Communities Directorate Service Reserves. 

Overall Conclusion  

5.70 The 2019 Annual Monitoring Report identifies that significant progress has been 
made with the implementation of the Adopted LDP but a review of the Adopted LDP 
is now urgently required.  The Council has already considered a report seeking 
agreement of the Council to commence the preparation of the SDP and, subject to 
agreement, this requirement would have been met. 

5.71 This report considers the options for LDP revision and has concluded that a full 
review of the LDP should be undertaken. 

5.72 In order to facilitate the Review of the LDP provision needs to be made to meet the 
anticipated costs of plan preparation in the order of £615,000 in direct costs and 

Page 183



£220,000 in indirect costs.  The Council will, therefore need to make provision in the 
region of £835,000 over the next four years to deliver the Replacement LDP.. 

5.73 The report also concludes that a 2-year fixed term planning officer post be created to 
complete the preparation and publication of the Council’s regeneration framework at 
a cost of £44,615 per annum. 

 
 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 The timescales for the delivery of the SDP assume preparation in accordance with 
the timetable set out in Appendix C of the Strategic Development Plan 
Commencement report, which is also due to be considered at the Council meeting on 
23rd October. The timescales for the preparation of an LDP Review and LDP Lite are 
based on the indicative timescales for the preparation of development plans within 
the draft Development Plans Manual (Edition 3) produced by Welsh Government. 

6.2 The estimates of the costs for preparing the Replacement LDP are assumptions 
based upon the costs of preparing the Adopted LDP, with associated increases due 
to inflation and estimates of costs to undertake additional work.  Similarly the Council 
contributions towards the preparation of the SDP are based upon estimates of costs 
based upon the recommended structure and process set out in the Strategic 
Development Plan Commencement report.  

 
 
7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1 The following Council plans and policies are relevant to the Local Development Plan: 
 
 Corporate Plan 2018-2023.   

 
7.2 As the key land use planning document for the Council, the LDP assists in delivering 

the 6 Corporate Plan Objectives: 
 
 Objective 1 - Improve education opportunities for all 
 The LDP will provide the local planning framework to assist in the delivery of the land 

use aspects associated with this objective, including: 

 Tackling poverty 

 Providing economic conditions to encourage economic growth and skills 
development 

 Assist in the delivery of the City Deal Digital Strategy 

 Providing the land use framework to deliver the right schools in the right 
places  
 

Objective 2 - Enabling employment 
The LDP will identify land to facilitate the development of new employers and the 
expansion of existing businesses. 
 

Objective 3 - Address the availability, condition and sustainability of homes 

throughout the county borough and provide advice, assistance or support to help 

improve people’s well-being 

 The LDP will set out the local framework to deliver the range and quality of housing to 

meet this objective and its outcomes through policies supporting sustainable levels of 

housing development to meet the needs of all residents  

Page 184



 

Objective 4 - Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable transport system that 

increases opportunity, promotes prosperity and minimises the adverse impacts on 

the environment 

The LDP will provide the local level framework that will assist in the delivery of the 

South East Wales Metro programme, which seeks to deliver a transformative 

transport system that increases accessibility throughout the County Borough and the 

wider region. 

 

Objective 5 - Creating a county borough that supports a healthy lifestyle in 

accordance with the sustainable Development Principle within the Wellbeing of 

Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

The LDP will set out the local policy framework that will facilitate the creation of 

healthier places, providing opportunities to create environments that engender 

healthy lifestyles, whilst ensuring access to much needed housing and employment 

opportunities. 

 

Objective 6 - Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well-being 
 The LDP will set out the local policy framework that will facilitate the support 

infrastructure and services necessary to support the residents of the county borough.  
It will also set out requirement as for new homes, job opportunities that will provide 
employment and homes for the county borough’s residents, assisting them to remain 
independent as well as improving their well-being. 

 
 
8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 The LDP is the strategic land use document for the County Borough setting out how 

and where sustainable development will be delivered. It is a cross-cutting plan that 
considers issues around housing, employment, transport, infrastructure, community 
facilities, education facilities, leisure and tourism, heritage and environmental assets. 
The AMR recommends a review of the LDP, which will set a framework to deliver all 
seven well-being Goals:- 
 

 A prosperous Wales 

 A resilient Wales 

 A healthier Wales 

 A more equal Wales 

 A Wales of cohesive communities 

 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language 

 A globally responsible Wales 
 
8.2 The five ways of working are integral to the preparation of the Replacement LDP. 

Any Replacement LDP will demonstrate the five ways of working: 

 Long Term – The preparation of the Replacement LDP is about planning for 
the future (typically a 15 year plan period) in a sustainable way. 

 Prevention – plan preparation is built on a robust evidence base which 
considers key issues and how to respond to them in a manner that prevents 
any issues deteriorating and seeks to address key land use matters 

 Integration – the preparation of a development plan will be bring together all 

Page 185



land use planning issues relevant at a local level involving our partners, 
residents, visitors, employers and service providers in the formulation of the 
Plan. The LDP will also need to be in general conformity with other planning 
tiers, including the NDF and SDP. 

 Collaboration – the preparation of an LDP will be a key collaboration project 
reflecting the land use priorities of multiple Council departments and  Public 
Service Board Partners, as well as external stakeholders. 

 Involvement – preparation of an LDP will provide numerous opportunities to 
engage with our stakeholders, residents and customers, including the 
business community and will ensure that we are listening to a wide range of 
views to inform the plan and decision making process. 

 
 
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  There are no direct implications associated with this report. Strategic Environmental 

Assessment and Sustainability Appraisal (SEA/SA) will both be required as part of 
the preparation of the Replacement LDP.  Furthermore, the SEA/SA will need to 
conform with all relevant legislation and as such will also need to include Health and 
Equalities Impact Assessments as part of an holistic Integrated Impact Assessment. 
These issues will be addressed as part of the preparation of the Replacement LDP in 
an integrated process throughout the plan preparation period. 

 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 In order to facilitate the review of the LDP, provision needs to be made to meet the 

anticipated costs of plan preparation in the order of £615,000 in direct costs and 
£220,000 in indirect costs.  The Council will, therefore, need to make provision in the 
region of £835,000 over the next 4 years from corporate budgets. The justification for 
these costs are set out in paragraphs 5.58 to 5.65 above. 

 
10.2 The report also recommends that a new two-year, fixed-term planning officer post be 

created to complete the preparation and publication of the Council’s regeneration 
framework at a cost of £44,615 per year (including on costs but excluding pay 
inflation). The justification for the creation of this post is set out in paragraphs 5.66 to 
5.69 above. 

 
 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 The report recommends that a new two-year, fixed-term planning officer post be 

created to deliver the remaining Masterplans for the county borough. The justification 
for the creation of this post is set out in paragraphs 5.66 to 5.69 above. 

 
11.2 It is considered that this post should be advertised as a two-year, fixed-term Grade 9 

Planning Officer post at a cost, including on costs, of £44,615 per year (excluding 
pay inflation). 
 

 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 All responses from consultations have been incorporated into the report. 

Page 186



13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the Council to prepare 

and keep under review a Local Development Plan for the County Borough to act as a 
single framework for the control and use of land within its administrative boundary. 

 
13.2 The Local Government Act 1998. The Local Government Act 2003. The Town and 

Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2005. The Planning 
(Wales) Act 2015 

 
 
Author: Dave Lucas, Team Leader, Strategic and Development Plans 

lucasdj@caerphilly.gov.uk 
 
Consultees:    Cllr E. Stenner – Cabinet Member for Environment & Public 

Protection/Planning 
 Cllr Sean Morgan, Cabinet Member for Economy, Infrastructure, 
Sustainability & Wellbeing of Future Generations Champion (Chair) 
Christina Harrhy, Interim Chief Executive 
Mark S. Williams, Corporate Director Communities 
Dave Street, Corporate Director, Social Services 
Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director of Education and Corporate Services 
Steve Harris, Interim Head of Business Improvement and Acting Section 151 
Officer 
Rhian Kyte, Head of Regeneration and Planning 
Marcus Lloyd, Head of Infrastructure 
Rob Hartshorn - Head of Public Protection, Community and Leisure Services 
Keri Cole – Chief Education Officer 
Mark Williams, Interim Head of Property Services 
Clive Campbell - Transportation Engineering Manager 
Christopher Adams – Highway Engineering Group Manager 
Allan Dallimore, Regeneration Services Manager 
Kath Peters, Corporate Policy Manager 
Tim Stephens – Development Control Manager 
Mike Headington – Green Spaces and Transport Services Manager 
Phillip Griffiths – Green Spaces Strategy and Cemeteries Manager 
Mike Eedy - Finance Manager 
Anwen Cullinane, Senior Policy Officer (Equalities and Welsh Language) 
Lynne Donovan, Head of People Services 

  
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 – Indicative Delivery Timeframe and Budget Requirement for the Review of the 
LDP 
 
 
Background Papers: 
Caerphilly County Borough LDP Annual Monitoring Report 2019 
[Made available in the members’ resource library and on the members’ portal] 
Caerphilly County Borough LDP Annual Monitoring Report 2019 – Background Tables  
[Made available in the members’ resource library and on the members’ portal] 
 
 

Page 187



APPENDIX 1 

 

P
age 188



 
 

COUNCIL – 23RD OCTOBER 2019 
 

SUBJECT: PROPOSAL TO DISCONTINUE THE FUTURE GENERATIONS 
ADVISORY PANEL 

 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION & CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To consider the proposal to discontinue the Future Generations Advisory Panel.   
 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The Future Generations Advisory Panel (FGAP), previously known as the Sustainable 

Development Advisory Panel (SDAP), was established in February 2002 to advise on, and 
mainstream sustainable development.  In May 2016 the Panel became the FGAP, partly in 
response to the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.   

 
 Significant steps have been taken in embedding sustainable development and well-being in 

service planning and decision-making across the local authority since the inception of SDAP.  
The FGAP continued this work and has achieved its core aim to raise awareness of well-being 
in the context of future generations. It is considered that a formal group is no longer required 
to champion these issues. 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 That Council considers the proposal to discontinue the Future Generations Advisory Panel. 
 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 Since the Sustainable Development Advisory Panel was established in 2002, significant 

strides have been taken to raise understanding of sustainable development and well-being 
which is now embedded across the Authority. The FGAP has achieved its core aim and is no 
longer required to champion these issues. 

 
4.2 Other structures have been put in place to ensure the ongoing consideration of these issues, 

including the newly formed Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny Committee. 
 
4.3 All reports for decision are now required to consider well-being issues, including the 

sustainable development principle, otherwise known and the five ways of working. Corporate 
Well-being Objectives are reported to the relevant Scrutiny Committees. 

 
4.4 Attendance at FGAP has been relatively low. The Panel has met six times since it became 

FGAP in May 2016.  The highest number of Elected Members able to attend any of these 
meetings has been five. Eleven Elected Members are allocated to the Panel. 

 

Page 189

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 15



4.5 Considerable officer time is required to facilitate the Panel. Given that other mechanisms now 
exist to secure sustainable development the time spent is considered  to be disproportionate. 

 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 The Sustainable Development Advisory Panel (SDAP) was established in February 2002 to 

advise on, and mainstream sustainable development.  The Panel met every six weeks until 
2013 when meetings became quarterly.  The Panel’s work programme covered a diverse 
range of topics, largely with an environmental focus, from carbon reduction and fleet issues to 
fracking and the effects of solar flares.  The Panel made recommendations direct to Cabinet.    

 
5.2 In the last few years the term well-being has been used to replace sustainable development, 

with the sustainable development principle, otherwise known as the five ways of working, now 
enshrined in legislation within the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  In May  
2016 the Panel became the Future Generations Advisory Panel (FGAP), partly in response to 
the Well-being of Future Generations Act.  The primary aim of FGAP, as set out in its terms of 
reference is “to promote the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
residents of the county borough by providing guidance and advice to the Authority on the work 
required as part of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  This includes 
ensuring that this work is undertaken in accordance with the “sustainable development 
principle”, and does not compromise the ability of future generations to meet their own needs”. 

 
5.3 Since 2002 significant strides have been taken in raising understanding of the sustainable 

development principle and well-being across the authority with the FGAP overseeing 
programmes of work to embed understanding of the issues, and projects to put the principles 
into action. 

 
5.4 Other structures now exist which are better placed to mainstream consideration of these 

issues, including the newly formed Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny Committee.  
 
5.5 Training is given to all Members on scrutiny committees to ensure that “sustainability” and 

“future generations” are being considered as reports pass through internal processes.  
 
5.6 All reports for decision are now required to consider well-being issues, including the 

sustainable development principle.  Training for officers involved in service development, 
report writing and decision making has been developed and is being rolled out.  

 
5.7 It is proposed that the role of highlighting key future generations issues and topics with the 

appropriate scrutiny committee would be undertaken by the Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for Sustainability & Future Generations. This could be done by the Cabinet 
Member attending meetings of Scrutiny Leadership Group twice per annum and discussing 
areas for consideration by respective scrutiny committees. The scrutiny chairs could then 
highlight this with their scrutiny committee when agreeing work programmes. Political Group 
Leaders could also highlight issues to the Cabinet Member for consideration.  The Cabinet 
Member would identify the potential issues and topics through 6th monthly meetings with the 
Policy Team who would review committee forward work programmes to identify any potential 
gaps. The terms of reference for Scrutiny Leadership Group, approved by Council include the 
following ‘Ensure effective liaison across the work of the Committees’.  

 
5.8 Attendance at FGAP has been poor. The Panel is made up of eleven Elected Members with a 

political balance reflecting the make up of the Council.  The Panel has met six times since it 
became FGAP in May 2016.  The highest number of Members attending any of these 
meetings has been five.  Concern has been expressed at the amount of officer time spent 
preparing reports and presentations for the meetings given the number of Members attending.  
Concern has also been expressed that external organisation presentations have been 
provided, again to a small number of Elected Members.  Recent meetings have included 
presentations from the Caerphilly Youth Forum and Coleg y Cymoedd.  Five Members of the 
Panel were present at these meetings. 

Page 190



 
5.9 A meeting was held on the 10th June 2019 between the Cabinet Member and Group Leaders.  

At this meeting the above points were acknowledged and it was agreed that consultation 
should begin to consider discontinue the Future Generations Advisory Panel prior to a Council 
decision 

 
 
5.10    Conclusion 
 
 The original purpose of SDAP, and subsequently FGAP, has been achieved.  Structures are 

now in place to provide mainstream mechanisms that ensure that sustainable development, 
well-being and future generations issues are embedded across the organisation and 
considered in the decision making processes. 

 
5.11 Attendance at FGAP has been poor.  Concern has been expressed at the amount of officer 

time spent preparing reports and presentations for the meetings given the number of Elected 
Members able to attend.   

 
5.12 It is proposed that FGAP should be discontinued. The Panel is listed in the Council’s 

Constitution and therefore approval by Council will be required to achieve this.  
 
 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 
 
6.1 The key assumption is that Members of Scrutiny Committees have, or can be given, the 

appropriate levels of knowledge and understanding of sustainable development and well-
being issues to be able to scrutinise topics against these considerations. 

 
 
7. LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1 The Authority has a duty to maximise its contribution to all of the Corporate Well-being 

Objectives, and adhere to the sustainable development principle (the five ways of working). 
 
 
8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 The role of FGAP has been to help to ensure that the Authority works with its Public Services 

Board (PSB) partners to deliver the objectives set out in the PSB Well-being Plan – “The 
Caerphilly We Want”, and that the authority is meeting its own Corporate Plan Well-being 
Objectives.  This includes maximising our contribution to all of the seven Well-being Goals, 
and in a way that is consistent with the five ways of working.   

 
8.2 This function has been embedded into the culture and operation of the authority, this includes 

the requirement for each report to include a section on how the proposals have been 
developed to contribute to the seven well-being goals and are consistent with the five ways of 
working.  Each Scrutiny Committee has received training to understand their role in terms of 
scrutinising reports in line with these requirements. 
 

  
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There are no equalities implications in relation to this report. 
 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There are no financial implications in relation to this report. 

Page 191



 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no personnel implications in relation to this report.  
 
 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 The report reflects the views of the consultees, with the exception of the following comments: 
 
12.2 Cllr J Ridgewell suggested that it might be helpful to initially trial the new arrangement with an 

option to resurrect the FGAP should it become evident that the change isn’t delivering.  The 
officer view is that the case for discontinuing FGAP, as set out in the report, is sound, and that 
we do not believe that there should be a trial period in which to review this decision. 

 
12.3 Cllr G Simmonds expressed the view that the Panel was an important forum for Members to 

raise questions and to receive answers on reports.  He highlighted the recently declared 
climate emergency as a subject which the Panel should consider.  As set out in the report it is 
the view that other mechanisms now exist to undertake this role. 

  
12.4 Cllr C Mann suggested that relevant issues are taken up by a small cross-party group of 

members meeting relevant officers, possibly on an ad-hoc basis to examine where progress 
has been made, or not enough progress achieved and then pursue issues as appropriate.  It 
is felt that additional meetings are not required, but an amendment has been made to the 
report to enable Political Group Leaders to highlight issues to the Cabinet Member for 
consideration. 

 
 
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 Local Government Act 1972. 
 
 
Author:  Paul Cooke, Senior Policy Officer: cookepa@caerphilly.gov.uk   
 
Consultees: Cllr. Sean Morgan, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Economy, 

Infrastructure, Sustainability & Wellbeing of Future Generations Champion 
Cllr. Colin Mann, Leader Plaid Cymru Group 
Cllr. Kevin Etheridge, Leader Independent Group 
Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director for Education and Corporate Services 

   Stephen Harris, Interim Head of Business Support 
   Robert Tranter, Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer 
   Kathryn Peters, Corporate Policy Manager 
   Ros Roberts, Business Improvement Manager 
   Cath Forbes-Thompson, Scrutiny Manager 
   Members of the Future Generations Advisory Panel 
 
 

Page 192


	Agenda
	2 Cyhoeddiadau’r Maer.
	6 Cyngor a gynhaliwyd ar 4ydd Mehefin 2019.
	7 Cyngor Arbennig a gynhaliwyd ar 30ain Gorffennaf 2019.
	9 Hysbysiad o Gynnig - Gwahardd Anifeiliaid fel Gwobrau ar Dir Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili.
	10 Hysbysiad o Gynnig - Ymgyrch #IPledge2Talk
	11 Adroddiad Perfformiad Blynyddol 2018/19.
	12 Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru – Adroddiad Blynyddol a Llythyr Blynyddol 2018/19.
	13 Cynnig ar gyfer Cynllun Datblygu Strategol ar gyfer Prifddinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd.
	14 Cynllun Datblygu Lleol Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili hyd at 2021 - Adroddiad Monitro Blynyddol 2019 (Gan gynnwys y 5ed Adroddiad Blynyddol Ardoll Seilwaith Cymunedol)).
	15 Cynnig i Ddiddymu Panel Cynghori Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol.

